# Rh2 AND ITS AGLYCONE aPPD IN COMBINATION THERAPY WITH DOCETAXEL – PRE-CLINICAL EVALUATION IN A PC-3 HUMAN PROSTATE XENOGRAFT MODEL

by

#### Alain G. Musende

#### **B.Sc., UNIVERSITE DU QUEBEC A MONTREAL, 1994**

#### M.Sc., THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA, 2004

# A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

#### **DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY**

in

# THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

(Pathology and Laboratory Medicine)

#### THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

(Vancouver)

November 2008

© Alain G. Musende, 2008

### ABSTRACT

**PURPOSE:** The purpose of this thesis is to establish the therapeutic potential of ginsenoside Rh2, a 20(S)-protopanaxadiol type and its aglycone aPPD, two gastrointestinal metabolites of *Panax Ginseng* C.A. Meyer, for use in advanced prostate cancer. This thesis assesses (i) the pharmacokinetics, biodistribution and efficacy of Rh2 and aPPD as single agents, and (ii) the combination of Rh2 or aPPD with docetaxel with the goal of optimizing their therapeutic potential.

**METHODS:** The solubility and stability of Rh2 and aPPD in ethanol was determined and an oral dosage formulation was prepared. Rh2 and aPPD levels in blood and tissues following administration to nu/nu nude mice were determined by LC/MS. Their efficacy as single agents and in combination with docetaxel was determined in a PC-3 human prostate cancer xenograft model. Serum levels of AST, ALT, and creatinine were measured for toxicity. Tumor analysis for apoptotic indices and Ki-67 was performed. *In vitro*, PC-3, LNCaP, DU145, and C4-2 prostate cancer cells were treated with a combination of Rh2 or aPPD with docetaxel, according to the constant ratio combination design.

**RESULTS:** The solubility of Rh2 and aPPD in ethanol was 130 and 68.4 mg/ml respectively. In vitro, Rh2+docetaxel and aPPD+docetaxel both showed synergy (CI < 1) against PC-3 and DU145 cells. In vivo, Rh2 and aPPD exhibited a  $C_{max}$  of 19.0 ± 2.0 and 3.9 ± 1.4 µg/ml, respectively, while no toxicity was observed. They engendered a significant delay in PC-3 tumor growth, an increase in apoptotic index, and a decrease in Ki-67 levels. Docetaxel alone inhibited tumor growth by 84% but could not induce tumor regression while Rh2+docetaxel and

ii

aPPD+docetaxel caused established PC-3 tumors to regress from their initial size by 15 and 27% respectively.

**CONCLUSIONS:** We have shown that Rh2 and aPPD are stable compounds that can be formulated for oral gavage. Pharmacokinetic studies demonstrate their ability to be absorbed following oral administration. Rh2 and aPPD can be combined with docetaxel to yield synergistic inhibition of cancer cell growth *in vitro*. Their *in vivo* combinations with docetaxel in a PC-3 xenograft model induce significant tumor regression compared to docetaxel dosed alone.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT	ii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xvi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	xxi
DEDICATION	xxiii
CO-AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT	xxiv
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Thesis overview and objectives	1
1.1.1 Thesis hypothesis	5
1.1.2 Objectives	6
1.2 Cancer: the problem	7
1.2.1 Multi-cellular organisms	7
1.2.2 Definition of cancer	7
1.2.3 Model of genetic changes in cancer development	10
1.2.3.1 Oncogenes	10
1.2.3.2 Tumour suppressor genes	12
1.2.3.3 Repair genes	14
1.2.3.4 Viral carcinogenesis	15
1.2.4 Invasion and metastasis	17
1.2.5 Epigenetic events in cancer	19
1.2.6 Cardinal properties for cancerous growth	21
1.2.6.1 Cancer cells develop self-sufficiency in growth signals	21
1.2.6.2 Cancer cells are insensitive to antigrowth signals	

1.2.6.3 Cancer cells evade apoptosis25
1.2.6.4 Cancer cells develop limitless replicative potential
1.2.6.5 Tumours require sustained angiogenesis27
1.2.6.6 Tissue invasion and metastasis
1.2.7 Cancer therapy
1.3 Prostate cancer
1.3.1 Epidemiology and risk factors
1.3.2 Initiation and progression
1.3.2.1 Cell cycle regulators
1.3.2.2 Apoptosis markers34
1.3.2.3 Androgen and androgen receptor (AR) signaling
1.3.2.4 Tumour-suppressor gene PTEN
1.3.2.5 Prostate cancer progression
1.3.3 Prostate cancer diagnosis and treatment
1.3.3.1 Diagnosis of prostate cancer
1.3.3.2 Treatment of prostate cancer
1.4 Ginseng and ginsenosides41
1.4.1 Rh243
1.4.2 aPPD44
1.5 Development of drug combination45
1.5.1 Therapeutic drug-drug interaction
1.5.2 Pharmacokinetic drug-drug interaction50
1.5.2.1 Cycochrome P450-mediated drug-drug interactions
1.5.2.2 Drug transporters modulation of drug-drug interactions
1.5.3 Benefits of drug combination in cancer treatment
1.6 Bibliography

2. ]	FIRST MANUSCRIPT CHAPTER83	3
	2.1 Introduction	1
	2.2 Material and methods	8
	2.3 Results	5
	2.4 Discussion	l
	2.5 Acknowledgements	3
	2.6 Tables	)
	2.7 Figure legends	l
	2.8 Figures	3
	2.9 Bibliography117	7
3. 5	SECOND MANUSCRIPT CHAPTER120	)
	3.1 Introduction	l
	3.2 Material and methods	3
	3.3 Results	7
	3.4 Discussion	)
	3.5 Acknowledgements	2
	3.6 Tables	3
	3.7 Figure legends	ł
	3.8 Figures	5
0	3.9 Bibliography	)
4. ]	THIRD MANUSCRIPT CHAPTER	2
	4.1 Introduction	3
	4.2 Material and methods	5
	4.3 Results	) -
	4.4 Discussion	3
	4.5 Acknowledgements	3
	4.6 Tables	┢

4.7 Figure legends	165
4.8 Figures	168
4.9 Bibliography	173
5. CONCLUDING CHAPTER	176
5.1 Future directions	185
5.2 Bibliography	187
APPENDIX A First Manuscript Chapter – Title page information	
APPENDIX B Second Manuscript Chapter – Title page information	193
APPENDIX C: Third Manuscript Chapter – Title page information	194
APPENDIX D In vitro Drug Combination Studies – H460 lung cancer cell line	195
APPENDIX E In vivo Docetaxel Dose Titration – H460 lung cancer cell line	196
APPENDIX F In vivo Efficacy of Rh2 – H460 lung cancer cell line	197

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1:	Comparison between benign and malignant growths
Table 1.2:	Cancer terminology according to cell types9
Table 1.3:	Summary of molecular aberration in prostate cancer
Table 2.1:	(A) Average extraction efficiencies of Rh2 in plasma and tissues. Extraction standards were completed using three concentration (0.5, 2.0, and 5.0 $\mu$ g/ml) of Rh2 and each assay was done in triplicate. (B) Pharmacokinetic parameters for Rh2 following oral administration of 120 mg/kg formulated in the ethanol-propylene glycol-water ternary solvent system described in the Methods
Table 2.2:	Secondary measures of toxicity in mice serum
Table 3.1:	<ul> <li>(a) Average extraction efficiencies of aPPD in plasma and tissues. (b)</li> <li>Pharmacokinetic parameters for aPPD following</li> <li>oral administration of 70 mg/kg</li></ul>
Table 4.1:	IC <sub>50</sub> (μM) values following a 72-hour incubation167

#### **LIST OF FIGURES**

- Figure 1.1: "Vogelgram" of molecular genetic alterations during the adenomaadenocarcinoma sequence based on studies by Vogelstein and colleagues of mucosa, adenomas, and carcinomas of patients with large bowel neoplasia. Mutation of the APC gene (Adenomatous Polyposis Coli) on the long arm of chromosome 5 leads to abnormal epithelial proliferation and differentiation in patients with adenomatous polyposis syndrome. An increase in the prevalence of ras gene mutations, especially in codon 12 of the Kirsten ras gene on the short arm of chromosome 12, is evident in intermediate adenomas. Deletion of the DCC gene (Deleted in Colorectal Carcinoma) on the long arm of chromosome 18 occurs more frequently in late adenomas. Deletion and mutation of the p53 gene on the short arm of chromosome 17 is associated with the development of carcinomas in adenomas. All these molecular genetic alterations rarely occur together in an individual tumor, and alterations in other genes also have been identified. In addition, this preferential sequence of the alterations is not followed in many tumours, as evidenced by analysis of paired specimens of adenomas and the carcinomas that arose in them. Alterations in the DNA methylation system are evident in the grossly normal colorectal mucosa of patients with large bowel
- Figure 1.2: Summary of the metastatic process. From a primary tumor, a 'metastasispermissive' microenvironment is formed in which surrounding healthy cells are induced to secrete signaling molecules which promote growth and migration of the cancer cells (denoted by dashed arrows). The loss of local constraints may promote epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and allows tumor cells to access the circulatory or lymphatic system, where they must negotiate both host defenses and physical stresses. Eventually, tumor cells interact with the surface antigens of cells making up the vessel walls at a remote location which stimulates changes in their morphology allowing extravasation. Once inside the tissue parenchyma of the distant organ, the tumor cell will once again take advantage of

- Figure 1.3: Cardinal properties for cancer growth. self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to antigrowth signals, evading apoptosis, limitless replicative potential, sustained angiogenesis, and tissue invasion and metastasis......22
- Figure 2.1: (a) Chemical structure of ginsenoside Rh2, a 20(S)-protopanaxadiol dammarane skeleton aglycone type. (b) Stability of Rh2 in 100% ethanol for 28 days. Conditions are 4°C (empty circles), room temperature (R.T., filled squares), and 60°C (filled triangles), n = 3. (c) Mean plasma concentration-time profile of Rh2 in mice following oral administration of 120 mg/kg, n = 3 per time point.....113
- Figure 2.3: (a)-(d): % administered dose of Rh2 in specified tissues isolated from mice following oral administration of 120 mg/kg. (a) 30 minutes (b) 60 minutes (c) 120 minutes (d) 200 minutes. E-F: % administered dose of Rh2 in the prostate (e) and tumors (f) isolated from mice 10, 20, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, 150, and 200 minutes following oral administration of 120 mg/kg.
  Data was obtained from three animals per time point and results are expressed as mean values ± SEM.
- Figure 2.4: (a) *In vivo* efficacy of Rh2 in PC-3 bearing nude mice. Changes in tumor volume were followed over time for animals treated with the oral gavage vehicle control (ethanol, propylene glycol and water, filled circle), saline (x), Rh2 (120 mg/kg

QD x 5, empty triangle), and docetaxel (20mg/kg Q4D x 4, filled square). Average tumor volumes are expressed as a percentage of the average initial tumor volume of each group at day 14, post PC-3 cells inoculation. Volumes were calculated using V =  $(LxWxH)/(\pi/6)$ . Mean value ± SEM is shown with error bars. A statistically significant difference was found between Rh2 and the control (p=0.0122) and saline (p=0.0081) on day 39. No statistical difference between Rh2 and docetaxel (p=0.1787). n = 8 for Rh2 and docetaxel. n = 6 for the oral gavage control and saline. (b) In vivo toxicity as assessed by decreases in mean body weight. Body weight loss of > 20% is considered severe enough to warrant termination of the animals. No animals showed any signs of toxicity other then weight loss in these studies. Docetaxel showed a significant weight loss compared to saline (p=0.0246). n = 8 for Rh2 and docetaxel. n = 6 for the oral gavage control and saline. (c) Representative tissue microarray spots for PC-3 tumors: immunostained using a TUNEL assay by enzymatically labeling the free 3'-OH terminal generated on DNA fragments of 180 to 200 bp. Using this method, apoptotic cells could be identified in areas of viable tissue, as indicated by the arrows. (d) Apoptotic Index summarized from ApopTag<sup>®</sup> staining of tissue microarrays. (e) summarized Ki-67 staining of tissue microarrays. Mean scores were determined as a percentage of the total number of cells. Four cores of tissue were extracted per tumor and one tumor per animal. n (total number of cores) = 24 for the control and saline and 32 for Rh2 and docetaxel. Mean value  $\pm$  SEM is shown with error bars. \* signifies statistically significant difference 

- Figure 3.1: (A) Chemical structure of aPPD. (B) Stability of aPPD in 100% ethanol for 28 days. Conditions are 4°C (empty circles), room temperature (R.T., filled squares), and 60°C (filled triangles), n = 3. (C) Mean plasma concentration-time profile of aPPD in mice following oral administration of 70 mg/kg......136
- Figure 3.2: % administered dose of aPPD in specified tissues isolated from mice following oral administration of 70 mg/kg. (A)-(D): (A) 30 minutes (B) 60 minutes (C) 120

- Figure 3.3: (A) In vivo efficacy of aPPD in PC-3 bearing nude mice. Changes in tumor volume was followed over time for animals treated with the oral gavage vehicle control (filled circle, ethanol, propylene glycol and water), saline (empty circle), aPPD (70 mg/kg QD x 5; filled triangle), and docetaxel (20 mg/kg Q7D x 4; filled square). Average tumor volumes are expressed as a percentage of the average initial tumor volume of each group at day 14, post PC-3 cells inoculation. Mean value  $\pm$  SEM is shown with error bars. A statistically significant difference was found between aPPD and the control (p=0.0044), saline (p=0.0159), and docetaxel (p=0.0148) on day 39. n = 8 for aPPD and docetaxel. n = 6 for the oral gavage control and saline. (B) In vivo toxicity as assessed by decrease in mean body weight. Body weight loss of > 20% is considered severe enough to warrant termination of the animals. No animals showed any signs of toxicity other then weight loss in these studies. Docetaxel showed a significant weight loss compared to saline (p=0.0001). n = 8 for aPPD and docetaxel. n = 6 for the oral gavage control and saline. Mean value  $\pm$  SEM is shown with error bars. (C) Representative tissue microarray spots for PC-3 tumors: immunostained using a TUNEL assay. Apoptotic cells could be identified in areas of viable tissue, as indicated by the arrows. (D) Apoptotic index summarized from ApopTag<sup>®</sup> staining of tissue microarrays. (E) Summarized Ki-67 staining of tissue

- Figure 4.4: (A-B): In vivo docetaxel dose escalation study in PC-3 bearing nude mice administered intravenously via the lateral tail vein using a Q7D x 4 dose schedule: 10 mg/kg (filled square); 12 mg/kg (empty square); 14 mg/kg (filled circle); 16 mg/kg (empty circle); 18 mg/kg (filled triangle); 20 mg/kg (empty triangle); and saline (filled lozenge). The mice were monitored daily for changes in weight and other signs of acute toxicity. (A) Change in tumor volume was followed over time. Average tumor volumes are expressed as a percentage of the average initial tumor volume of each group at day 14, post PC-3 cells inoculation. Volumes were calculated using V =  $(LxWxH)/(\pi/6)$ . Mean value ± SEM is shown with error bars. On day 39, a statistically significant difference was found between the 10 mg/kg treatment group and the 20 mg/kg (p=0.0006) and saline (p=0.0001) groups. All docetaxel were statistically significantly different from saline. (B) In vivo toxicity as assessed by decrease in mean body weight. Body weight loss of > 20% is considered severe enough to warrant termination of the animals. Only animals administered the 20 mg/kg dose showed an average weight loss of more than 20% of initial weight at the end of the study. n = 10, mean value  $\pm$  SEM is shown with error bars. (C-E): (C) In vivo combination study in PC-3 bearing

nude mice. (A) Change in tumor volume was followed over time for animals treated with the oral control (filled triangle, ethanol, propylene glycol and water), saline (empty triangle), Rh2 (120 mg/kg QD x 5 per week; empty square), aPPD (70 mg/kg QD x 5 per week; filled square), docetaxel (10mg/kg Q4D x 4, x), Rh2+docetaxel (Rh2 – 120 mg/kg QD x 5 per week; docetaxel – 10mg/kg Q4D x 4; empty circle), and aPPD+docetaxel (aPPD – 70 mg/kg QD x 5 per week; docetaxel – 10mg/kg Q4D x 4; filled circle). Average tumor volumes are expressed as a percentage of the average initial tumor volume of each group at day 14, post PC-3 cells inoculation. Volumes were calculated using V = $(LxWxH)/(\pi/6)$ . On day 39, a statistically significant difference was found between Rh2 and the controls (p=0.0071 (oral control) and p=0.0007 (saline)), aPPD and the controls (p=0.0215 (oral control) and p=0.0057(saline)), and docetaxel and the controls (p=0.0001 (oral control) and p=0.0001 (saline)). Docetaxel was also statistically significantly different from Rh2 (p=0.0007) and aPPD (p=0.0003). Rh2+docetaxel and aPPD+docetaxel were both statistically significantly different from Rh2, aPPD, oral control, and saline. A statistically significant difference was also found between Rh2 and aPPD (p=0.0412) and between Rh2+docetaxel and aPPD+docetaxel groups. n = 8 for Rh2, aPPD, docetaxel, Rh2+docetaxel, and aPPD+docetaxel. n = 7 for the oral control and saline. Mean value  $\pm$  SEM is shown with error bars. (D) % initial tumor mass comparison of the three docetaxel groups: docetaxel alone, Rh2+docetaxel, and aPPD+docetaxel. Tumor regression was achieved only by Rh2+docetaxel and aPPD+docetaxel. The dotted line indicates tumor mass at the start of the study. (B) In vivo toxicity as assessed by decrease in mean body weight. Body weight loss of > 20% is considered severe enough to warrant termination of the animals. No animals showed any signs of toxicity other then weight loss in these studies. Docetaxel, Rh2+docetaxel, and aPPD+docetaxel showed weight loss of less than 

**Figure 4.5:** (A) Representative tissue microarray spots for PC-3 tumors: immunostained using a TUNEL assay by enzymatically labeling the free 3'-OH terminal

generated on DNA fragments of 180 to 200 bp. Using this method, apoptotic cells could be identified in areas of viable tissue, as indicated by the arrows. (B) Apoptotic Index summarized from ApopTag<sup>®</sup> staining of tissue microarrays. Four cores of tissue were extracted per tumor and one tumor per animal. n (total number of cores) = 24 for the control and saline and 32 for Rh2 and docetaxel. On day 39, docetaxel was statistically significantly different from Rh2+docetaxel (p=0.0074) but not from aPPD+docetaxel (p=0.1156). Apoptotic indices of all groups were statistically different from the control. Mean value ± SEM is shown with error bars. (C) summarized Ki-67 staining of tissue microarrays. Mean scores were determined as a percentage of the total number of cells. Four cores of tissue were extracted per tumor and one tumor per animal. n (total number of cores) = 24 for the control and saline and 32 for Rh2 and docetaxel.

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

5-FU:	5-fluorouracil
ABC:	ATP-binding cassette
ABCP:	ABC transporter in placenta
AD:	Androgen dependent
AI:	Androgen independent
ALT:	Alanine aminotransferase
ALT:	Alternative lengthening of telomeres
ANOVA:	Analysis of Variance
APC:	Adenomatous Polyposis Coli
AR:	Androgen receptor
AST:	Aspartate aminotransferase
a.u.c.:	Area under the curve obtained from a compound peak eluting from the HPLC
AUC:	Area under the plasma concentration versus time curve
BCRP:	Breast cancer resistance protein
BER:	Base excision repair
CAM:	Complementary and Alternative Medicine
CCAM:	Cell-cell adhesion molecules
CDK:	Cyclin-dependent kinase
CI:	Combination index
Cloral:	Apparent oral clearance

xvi

C <sub>max</sub> :	Peak Concentration
C.V.:	Coefficient of variation
CYP:	Cytochrome P450
DAB:	3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
DCC:	Deleted in Colorectal Carcinoma
DHT:	5a-dihydrotestosterone
DMEM:	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
DRE:	Digital rectal exam
DRI:	Dose Reduction Index
EBV:	Epstein-Barr virus
ECM:	Extracellular matrix
ECVAM:	European Centre for the Validation of Alternative Methods
EGCG:	Epigallaocatechin-3-gallate
EMT:	Epithelial-mesenchymal transition
FDA:	U.S. Food and Drug Administration
FGF 1/2:	Fibroblast growth factor
GI:	Gastro-intestinal
GF:	growth factors
GS:	Growth signals
GST:	Glutathione-S-transferase
HBV:	Hepatitis B virus

xvii

HGPIN:	High-grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia
HIV:	Human immunodeficiency virus
HPLC:	High performance liquid chromatography
HPV:	Human papilloma virus
HTLV:	Human T-cell lymphotropic virus
IC:	Inhibitory concentration
IND:	Investigational New Drug
I.V.:	Intravenous
KSV:	Kaposi sarcoma virus
LC/MS:	High performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry
LD <sub>50</sub> :	Median lethal dose 50%
LHRH:	Luteinizing hormone releasing hormone
LOD:	Limit of Detection
LOQ:	Limit of Quantitation
LSAB:	Labeled Streptavidin Biotin
MDR1:	Multidrug resistance 1 gene
MEP:	The median-effect principle
MGMT:	Methyltransferase
MMR:	Mismatch repair
MRP1:	Multidrug resistance-associated protein 1
MRT:	Mean residence time

MTD:	Maximum Tolerated Dose		
MX:	Mitoxantrone		
NCE:	New chemical entity		
NER:	Nucleotide excision repair		
NF-κB:	Nuclear factor kappa B		
NIH:	National Institutes of Health		
NK:	Natural killer cells		
PCNA:	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen		
PDGF:	Platelet-derived growth factor		
PG:	Postprandial glucose		
P-gp:	P-glycoprotein		
PI:	postprandial insulin		
PIN:	Prostatic intra-epithelial neoplasia		
PIP <sub>3</sub> :	Phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-bisphosphate		
pRb:	Retinoblastoma protein		
PSA:	Prostate specific antigen		
PTEN:	Phosphatase and tensin homolog		
QD:	Once daily		
R.E.:	Relative error		
RPMI:	Roswell Park Memorial Institute		
RSD:	Relative standard deviation		

xix

R.T.:	Room temperature
S.D.:	Standard deviation
S/N:	Signal-to-Noise ratio
S.E.M:	Standard Error of the Mean
S.I.R.:	Single ion recording
t <sub>1/</sub> 2:	Half-life
T <sub>max</sub> :	Time to peak concentration
TGFa:	Tumor growth factor α
TGFβ:	Transforming growth factor $\beta$
TMA:	Tissue Micro-Array
TNF-α:	Tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF-α)
TNM:	Tumor, node, metastasis
TUNEL:	Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT) mediated deoxyuridine triphosphate (dUTP) nick-end labeling staining
U/L:	Units per litre
U.V.:	Ultraviolet
VEGF:	Vascular endothelial growth factor

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to my supervisors: Dr. Marcel Bally and Dr. Emma Tomlinson Guns. My most profound appreciation to Dr. Bally for accepting me as a graduate student under his supervision. I feel very privileged to have benefited from his immense knowledge of pre-clinical investigation and new chemical entity evaluation. Every discussion we engaged in metamorphosed into a learning process of the highest caliber for me. His limitless insights and scientific rigor have provided me with invaluable tools for my future career. My deepest and most enduring gratitude to Dr. Guns for providing me with one of the most supportive and intellectually stimulating environment that I could have possibly imagined. I will forever reminisce about the enthusiasm and excitement coupled with in depth scrutiny that she consistently brings into a scientific investigation. A graduate student is set to excel under her mentorship.

I would also like to thank the members of my research committee: Dr. Cheryl Wellington (Chair), Dr. William Jia, and Dr. Wayne Riggs for their support and feedback into my research project.

I am severely indebted to Hans Adomat, Catherine Wood, and Andy Eberding for the training, friendship, help and their significant contribution to my work. Special thanks also to my inspirational colleagues Jonathan Low and Jennifer Locke. I would like to also show my appreciation to Dawn Waterhouse, Dana Masin, Lincoln Edwards, Catherine Tucker, and Maite Verrault, for their substantial help and support.

Finally, warmest gratitude and thank you to my wife (Chantal Musende), children (Arnelle, Xavier, Malonga, Sina), brother (Appo Musende), mother (Henriette Musende), sisterin-law (Nina Musende), mother-in-law (Marie Kasa), and father-in-law (George Makanda) for their sacrifices and invaluable support throughout my Ph.D. program. Arnelle, Xavier, Malonga, and Sina, you can never imagine how much I appreciate your unconditional love, I feel truly blessed to have you and will always love you more than words can ever describe. My most sincere gratefulness to Joe Toto Mushikanda, your brotherly love, class, sense of value, consideration and support were of the most exceptional and precious kind. You are not just a friend or a cousin but a very dear brother. May you be blessed immeasurably! Ginaga wa Gabede nu Gimweji

#### **CO-AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT**

#### 1. FIRST MANUSCRIPT CHAPTER

The research was designed by Alain Musende and reviewed by Drs. Emma Guns and Marcel Bally. Alain Musende carried out: the solubility and stability studies, oral dosing of the mice, animal blood and tissue collection, scanning of the images of tissue microarray cores, AST and ALT analysis, creatinine analysis, the preparation of all solutions, and all data processing and analyses. Andy Eberding performed the intra-venous injection and along with Catherine Wood, helped with the dosing and tissue collection during pharmacokinetic (PK) studies. PK analysis requires team work for timely sacrifice and blood and tissue collection. Hans Adomat contributed in the optimum and efficient operation of the LC/MS/MS instrument. Ladan Fazli and Antonio Hurtado-Coll are the two pathologists, blinded to the study, who performed tissue scoring and analysis for the apoptotic index and Ki-67 level determination.

#### 2. SECOND MANUSCRIPT CHAPTER

Same as in the first manuscript chapter

#### 3. THIRD MANUSCRIPT CHAPTER

The research was designed by Alain Musende and reviewed by Drs. Emma Guns and Marcel Bally. Alain Musende carried out: all *in vitro* work, animal oral dosing and tumor collection, scanning of the images of tissue microarray cores, the preparation of all solutions, and all data processing and analyses. Andy Eberding performed the intra-venous injection, Ladan Fazli and Antonio Hurtado-Coll are the two pathologists, blinded to the study, who performed tissue scoring and analysis for the apoptotic index and Ki-67 level determination.

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Thesis overview and objectives

Prostate cancer is the fifth most common neoplasm worldwide, and the second most prevalent cancer among men (Parkin *et al*, 2005). In North America, prostate cancer represents 33% of all new cancer cases making it the most common cancer in men with an incidence of one in six American men who are expected to develop prostate cancer sometime during their lifetime (Delongchamps *et al*, 2006; Edwards *et al*, 2002; Jemal *et al*, 2004; Routh & Leibovich, 2005; Schwartz, 2005). In Canada, prostate cancer constitutes the third leading cause of cancer related deaths, with an estimated 24,700 newly diagnosed cases in 2008 (NCI, 2008). Despite continuous research and multi-million dollars spent every year on research, there are really no curative interventions which are effective when used to treat prostate cancer patients that have relapsed and/or have metastatic disease.

In recent years, however, new drugs and drug combinations and particularly those involving taxanes have contributed to improvements in treatment outcomes in prostate cancer (De Wit, 2008; Oh, 2003). Significantly, accrued clinical evidence suggests a correlation between the number of drugs used as part of a combination regimen and the percent of complete responses or cure rate (Frei & Antman, 1997). Combination therapy offers significant benefits when compared to single-agent therapy by providing: (i) maximal cell kill within the range of tolerable toxicity; (ii) diverse interactions between the drugs procuring pleiotropic effects as is optimal for treating a heterogeneous tumour; and (iii) the potential to prevent or slow the subsequent development of cellular drug resistance. It is also anticipated that combinations of non-toxic effective phytochemicals with established chemotherapy agents could offer the potential of enhanced drug efficacy without adding to the toxicity of the conventional drug. This is also of interest in the

context of complementary medicines, agents that are being used by chemotherapy patients with the belief that they may augment treatment responses achieved by conventional therapy (Richardson *et al*, 2000).

We have assessed the in vitro and in vivo therapeutic potential of ginsenoside Rh2, a 20(S)protopanaxadiol type and its aglycone aPPD, alone and in combination with docetaxel. Rh2 and aPPD are *in vivo* metabolic products of ginseng when taken orally. Rh2 has been reported to inhibit the growth of and induce anti-metastatic activity in B16 melanoma and ovarian cancer cells (Jia et al, 2004; Nakata et al, 1998; Wakabayashi et al, 1997). It was also found to have a G1 phasespecific cell cycle arrest with associated suppression of cdk2 and cyclin E-dependent histone kinase activities apparently as a consequence of upregulation of p21 which binds and inactivates cdk2 in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells (Oh et al, 1999). aPPD has been reported to inhibit the growth of THP-1 leukemia cells, inducing DNA fragmentation and apoptosis resulting in build up of sub-G1 cells (Popovich & Kitts, 2002). In human breast carcinoma MCF-7/MX cells which overexpress breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP), Rh2 and aPPD significantly enhanced the cytotoxicity of mitoxantrone; an effect that was attributed to inhibition of mitoxantrone efflux and enhanced mitoxantrone uptake. In addition, aPPD was shown to significantly inhibit BCRP-associated vanadate sensitive ATPase activity (Jin et al, 2006). Recently, Wang et al. investigated possible mechanisms responsible for the antiproliferative, pro-apoptotic, and cell cycle arrest effects of Rh2 and aPPD against LNCaP androgen-sensitive and PC-3 androgen-insensitive prostate cancer cells. They showed that both Rh2 and aPPD increased the expression of the cdk inhibitor p21 and tumor suppressor protein p53 while decreasing the levels of cdks 2, 4, and 6. The expression of the p53 inhibitor MDM2 was also decreased, along with levels of transcription factor E2F1 (Wang et al, 2008c).

Docetaxel is a semi-synthetic taxane drug marketed as Taxotere<sup>®</sup>, which is prepared from a chemical precursor compound isolated from the needles of the European yew tree, *Taxus baccata*. It acts as a potent inhibitor of cell replication by blocking cells in the G2/M interphase of the cell cycle following stabilization of the microtubule skeleton. Docetaxel inhibits microtubule depolymerization 2-fold greater than its analogue, paclitaxel (Lavelle, 1995). It also exhibits 1.3 to 12-fold greater cytotoxicity, compared to paclitaxel, in several murine and human tumour cell lines. It has also been reported to be retained intra-cellularly for a greater duration (Herbst & Khuri, 2003). In recent years, docetaxel has been recognized as one of the most effective drugs used to treat advanced prostate cancer (Petrylak, 2000).

Four established prostate cancer cell lines are commonly used to investigate the mechanisms involved in the progression of prostate cancer: PC-3, LNCaP, C4-2 and DU145. PC-3 and DU145 cell lines were established from human cancer cell metastasis to the bone and brain, respectively, whereas LNCaP was isolated from a human lymph node metastatic lesion (Krueckl *et al*, 2004; Van Bokhoven *et al*, 2003). The C4-2 cell line was derived upon androgen starvation of LNCaP cells. PC-3, C4-2 and DU145 are androgen insensitive cell lines while LNCaP is androgen sensitive. Since C4-2 is LNCaP-derived, both of these cell lines express the functional tumour suppressor protein p53 as well as functional androgen receptor, albeit mutated from wild type, whereas PC-3 and DU145 are p53 deficient (Ko *et al*, 1996). It has been shown that p53 expression or lack thereof influences apoptosis (Wang *et al*, 2008c).

We have previously shown that Rh2 and paclitaxel behave synergistically in cultured LNCaP cells (Xie *et al*, 2006). In the same study we also reported that oral treatment of LNCaP tumors with Rh2 produced a significant decrease in tumor growth which was accompanied by a

significant decrease in serum prostate specific antigen (PSA) when combined with intravenously administered paclitaxel (Xie *et al*, 2006).

Combination of Rh2 or aPPD with docetaxel follows current dogma which implies that optimal drug combination effects are most likely to be achieved when combining drugs which have different mechanisms of action and different toxicity profiles. The research presented here explores the pre-clinical efficacy of Rh2 and aPPD in the androgen insensitive PC-3 human xenograft model for prostate cancer. Initially, in vitro combinations of Rh2 and aPPD with docetaxel, at their IC<sub>50</sub> ratios, were assessed against the four prostate cancer cell lines described above (PC-3, LNCaP, C4-2, DU145). The combination and drug reduction indices (as indicators of synergism, antagonism, or additivity) were determined. Prior to initiating in vivo studies, the solubility and stability of Rh2 and aPPD were determined in ethanol. The ethanol solubilized drugs were formulated for oral gavage with propylene glycol and water at their maximal achievable concentrations. A high performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC/MS) method was then developed and partially validated for quantitation of each compound in plasma and tissues. This assay was used to determine the pharmacokinetics and biodistribution of Rh2 and aPPD following oral administration to PC-3 xenograft bearing nude mice. The doses used for these pharmacokinetic studies were determined to be well tolerated and effectively inhibited the growth of established PC-3 tumors over a 28 day period. Antitumor activity was also assessed by measuring apoptotic index alongside levels of the proliferation marker Ki-67 in excised tumour specimens. Serum creatinine levels, as a measure of renal toxicity, and serum levels of aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and alanine aminotransferase (ALT), as measures of liver toxicity, were also quantitated following treatment with Rh2. A dose escalation study was later carried out for docetaxel (i.v.) in PC-3 xenograft bearing mice in order to determine an appropriate dose for use in combination studies

with Rh2 and aPPD. The efficacy of Rh2 or aPPD in combination with docetaxel was subsequently assessed in the PC-3 mouse xenograft model.

The first part of this thesis provides pertinent and valuable background information to ensure full comprehension of the work conducted. The background information is organized in four main sections. The first section aims to provide a clear understanding of cancer: its definition and cellular origin, the important genes implicated in genetic changes such as oncogenes, tumour suppressor genes and repair genes, the epigenetic aspect of cancer, critical cellular properties for cancer growth, and general concepts related to cancer therapy. The second section expands the understanding of cancer with a focus on prostate cancer: its epidemiology and risk factors, and its management as influenced by the status of the cancer with respect to androgen dependence or independence. In the third section, the discussion centers on ginseng and ginsenosides: the importance of ginseng and related products in complementary and alternative medicine in North America and a review of pharmacological activities of ginseng, Rh2 and aPPD. The final section discusses the development of drug combination: a review of methods for assessing therapeutic drugdrug interactions, the modulation of drug metabolism and transport processes involved in drug-drug interactions and their toxicological implications, and overall benefits of drug combination in cancer treatment.

### **1.1.1** Thesis hypothesis

Components within selected natural products can be used as therapeutic agents in combination with existing standard-of-care anticancer medicines to achieve significant improvements in treatment outcomes. More specifically, ginsenoside Rh2 and its aglycone aPPD

can be used in combination with docetaxel to produce enhanced treatment effects in models of prostate cancer.

# 1.1.2 Objectives

## Specific aim 1:

To characterize the effects of Rh2, aPPD, and docetaxel, alone and in combination, on the proliferation of four well characterized human prostate cancer cell lines (PC-3, LNCaP, C4-2, DU145).

# Specific aim 2:

To determine the solubility and stability of Rh2 and aPPD in ethanol and formulate them for oral gavage.

### Specific aim 3:

To determine the pharmacokinetics and biodistribution of Rh2 and aPPD following oral

administration to PC-3 xenograft bearing nude mice.

#### Specific aim 4:

To assess the toxicity and efficacy of Rh2, aPPD and docetaxel as single agents in the PC-3 mouse xenograft model.

#### Specific aim 5:

To assess the efficacy of Rh2 or aPPD in combination with docetaxel in the PC-3 mouse xenograft model.

# **1.2** Cancer: the problem

#### 1.2.1 Multi-cellular organisms

Cells in a multicellular organism live, grow, proliferate and behave in a manner mostly conducive to the overall homeostasis of the tissue/organ and the organism itself, by extension. To achieve this purpose, cells in this environment, unlike unicellular organisms such as bacteria, behave and communicate according to complex regulatory and signaling processes, in order to coordinate their individual behavior. In addition, strict control mechanisms are in place to prevent homeostasis disruption and ensure its infallible continuation. It has been suggested that considering the extremely large number of cells involved, approximately  $10^{14}$  cells in the human body, minor homeostasis disruption due to mutations would be of common occurrence and some, but not all lead to the development of cancer (Alberts *et al*, 2002).

#### 1.2.2 Definition of cancer

Neoplasm, the abnormal new growth of tissue, is categorized as being benign or malignant. It has been observed that benign neoplasms progress into malignant neoplasms in certain types of cancers, such as those of the colon and thyroid, while they remain benign in prostate and breast growths (King & Robins, 2006). Pathological differences between benign and malignant neoplasms are presented in Table 1.1. Cancer refers to malignant neoplasm and is described according to the cell of origin and the tissues in which they occur. Although most common cancers arise in the epithelium (carcinoma), several other types of cells are also affected (King & Robins, 2006). Cancer terminology according to cell type is presented in Table 1.2.

For the aberration in one single cell to give rise to a tumour, it has to be heritable. Aberrations in a cell can be initiated by heritable genetic changes (mutation, alteration in the cell's DNA sequence), like in the vast majority of cancers, or by heritable epigenetic changes (change in the pattern of gene expression without a change in the DNA sequence). Three types of agents are known mutagens: chemical carcinogens (cause simple local changes in the nucleotide sequence), ionizing radiations such as x-ray (cause chromosome breaks and translocations), and viruses (introduce foreign DNA into the cell) (Alberts *et al*, 2002; Peto, 2001).

Most cancers appear when mutations occur in cells which then proliferate while losing their ability to undergo normal programmed cell death or apoptosis.

Feature	Benign	Malignant
Edges	Encapsulated	Irregular
Metastasis	No	Yes
Invasion	No	Yes
Comparison with normal	Good	Variable, often none
Growth rate	Low	High
Nuclei	Normal	Variable, irregular
Life-threatening	Unusual	Usual

 Table 1.1:
 Comparison between benign and malignant growths (King & Robins, 2006)

Since there is an accumulation of errors and mutations in pre-cancerous cells, and the proliferation of mutated cells requires months or years to reach "cancer" status, many types of cancers are

diagnosed at advanced age (Aapro & Johnson, 2005; Renan, 1993). Mutations at a molecular level are generally of limited impact unless they provide distinct advantages to a single cell over its neighbours, in terms of clonal selection favouring growth, division, and/or proliferation. This process, referred to as carcinogenesis, the process by which cancer is generated, is a multi-step process occurring when mutations and errors accumulate in the regulatory and control pathways within a single cell, ultimately providing the cell involved with additional survival advantages (Renan, 1993).

Cell type	General	Specific Terminology	
	Terminology	Þ	
Epithelium	Carcinoma	Glandular (i.e. prostate)	Adenocarcinoma
		Squamous (i.e. cervix)	Carcinoma
Mesenchyme	Sarcoma	Smooth muscle	Leiomyosarcoma
		Connective tissues	38. 
	11	Bone	Osteosarcoma
		Fat cells	Liposarcoma
Nervous system	N/A	Еуе	Retinoblastoma
White blood cells	Leukemia.	Lymphocytes	Lymphocytic leukemia

 Table 1.2:
 Cancer terminology according to cell types (King & Robins, 2006)

#### 1.2.3 Model of genetic changes in cancer development

Fearon and Vogelstein (1990) proposed a model illustrating precursor genetic alterations required for the progression to carcinoma. This model, referred to as the Vogelgram (Figure 1.1), has been adopted as broadly applicable to epithelial cell derived carcinoma and highlights the role of multiple genetic defects in this process. Vogelstein later identified three groups of genes whose alterations can cause cancer: oncogenes, tumour suppressor genes, and repair genes (Vogelstein *et al*, 2000). These genes and the proteins for which they code describe the molecular functioning of carcinogenesis.

#### 1.2.3.1 Oncogenes

Oncogenes are overactive forms of proto-oncogenes whose product can act in a dominant fashion to help make a cell cancerous. Oncogene activity is increased as a result of genetic changes in either their coding region or regulatory sequences (Murray *et al*, 1981; Pulciani *et al*, 1982). Cells with mutant oncogenes continue to grow (or are unable to to die) even when they are receiving no growth signals (Vogelstein *et al*, 2000). The Ras oncogene which is activated in pancreatic and colon cancers, and Bcl-2 which is activated in prostate and lymphoid cancers, constitute two examples of oncogenes (El-Awady *et al*, 2008; McMurray *et al*, 2008; Milyavsky *et al*, 2005; Wang *et al*, 2008a). For instance, the Ras oncogene bases coding for the sequence of amino acids of its corresponding protein are often mutated in colon cancer. The middle base in the –GGC- codon is mutated to an adenine, resulting in aspartate (GAC) rather than glycine being incorporated into the protein (Yuan *et al*, 2001).



Figure 1.1: "Vogelgram" of molecular genetic alterations during the adenoma-adenocarcinoma sequence based on studies by Vogelstein and colleagues of mucosa, adenomas, and carcinomas of patients with large bowel neoplasia. Mutation of the APC gene (Adenomatous Polyposis Coli) on the long arm of chromosome 5 leads to abnormal epithelial proliferation and differentiation in patients with adenomatous polyposis syndrome. An increase in the prevalence of ras gene mutations, especially in codon 12 of the Kirsten ras gene on the short arm of chromosome 12, is evident in intermediate adenomas. Deletion of the DCC gene (Deleted in Colorectal Carcinoma) on the long arm of chromosome 18 occurs more frequently in late adenomas. Deletion and mutation of the p53 gene on the short arm of chromosome 17 is associated with the development of carcinomas in adenomas. All these molecular genetic alterations rarely occur together in an individual tumor, and alterations in other genes also have been identified. In addition, this preferential sequence of the alterations is not followed in many tumours, as evidenced by analysis of paired specimens of adenomas and the carcinomas that arose in them. Alterations in the DNA methylation system are evident in the grossly normal colorectal mucosa of patients with large bowel neoplasia and may represent key early events (Adopted by (Hamilton, 1992)).

#### 1.2.3.2 Tumour suppressor genes

Tumour suppressor genes are subject to a loss-of-function mutation, unlike oncogenes which are subject to a gain-of-function mutation. p53, Rb, PTEN, p16<sup>INK4a</sup>, and APC constitute examples of tumour suppressor genes (Ma et al, 2005; Mercier et al, 2008; Oian et al, 2008; Vogelstein et al, 2000; Xing et al, 1999). Tumour suppressor genes regulate cell numbers, either by inhibiting progress through the cell cycle and thereby preventing cell division, or by promoting programmed cell death (also called apoptosis). They accomplish these functions by complexing with other effector proteins, such as growth promoters, and blocking their action (Kouzarides, 1995; Tava, 1997). Tumour suppressor gene inactivation is achieved by preventing its binding to effector genes, a process that can be achieved in several ways including phosphorylation and mutation of the suppressor gene. Phosphorylation of Rb at serine/threonine leading to inhibition of its binding to a transcription factor is an example (Chao et al, 1992; Huang et al, 1988). p53, considered the guardian of the genome, is arguably the most frequently altered gene in human cancers. It achieves protection of the genome by coordinating the blockade of cell proliferation, stimulation of DNA repair, and promotion of apoptosis (Lane, 1994; Martinez et al, 1991; Yonish-Rouach et al, 1991). p53 regulates the cell fate in response to genotoxic (DNA alterations induced by irradiation, UV, carcinogens, cytotoxic drugs) or non genotoxic (hypoxia, nucleotide depletion, oncogene activation, microtubule disruption, loss of normal cell contacts) stresses (Gorgoulis et al, 2005; Graeber et al, 1994; Vousden & Lu, 2002).

DNA damage has been shown to lead to rapid induction of p53, which induces either apoptosis or activation of the transcription of p21 (Bae *et al*, 1995). As a cdk inhibitor, p21 blocks cell cycle progression through inhibition of both Cdk/cyclin complexes and DNA replication by binding to proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) (Li *et al*, 1994; Zhang *et al*, 1993). It is
assumed that the resulting cell cycle arrest would allow for damaged DNA to be repaired before it is replicated. Unrepaired DNA damage normally induces apoptosis in mammalian cells, thereby eliminating cells carrying potentially deleterious mutations (Devlin *et al*, 2008; Levine *et al*, 1994). Lack of p53 prevents this damage-induced cell cycle arrest or apoptosis to occur, with two consequences: (i) increased mutation frequencies and a general instability of the cell genome and (ii) reduced apoptosis. Genetic instability is common in cancer cells and contributes to further mutations activating new oncogenes and deactivating new tumour suppressor genes during tumor progression (Sarasin, 2003). Cancer cells fail to undergo apoptosis as a response to DNA damage induced by radiation, DNA damaging chemicals or oxygen deprivation thus contributing to resistance to chemotherapy (Clarke *et al*, 1993; Lowe *et al*, 1993; Weinstein *et al*, 1997).

The tumour-suppressor gene PTEN, the phosphatase and tensin homologue gene frequently deleted from chromosome 10 is a central regulator of brain, breast, and human prostate cancer (Li *et al*, 1997a; Myers *et al*, 1997; Steck *et al*, 1997). The protein encoded by this gene is a lipid phosphatase that dephosphorylates the 3 position of phosphatidylinositides, such as phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-bisphosphate (PIP<sub>3</sub>). PIP<sub>3</sub> dephosphorylation inhibits the activities of PI3-kinase and Akt (Bellacosa *et al*, 1991; Chang *et al*, 1997). Inactivation or loss of the PTEN tumour suppressor protein can contribute to tumor development as a result of increased levels of PIP<sub>3</sub>, activation of Akt, and inhibition of programmed cell death. Li et al. detected homozygous deletions, frameshift, or nonsense mutations in PTEN in 63% of glioblastoma cell lines, 100% of prostate cancer cell lines, and 10% of breast cancer cell lines (Li *et al*, 1997a). PTEN is lost in 23% of high grade PIN (prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia), and 68% of prostate adenocarcinomas (Yoshimoto *et al*, 2006). PTEN deficiency confers protection from cell death and resistance to chemotherapy of prostate cancer cells (Wang *et al*, 2004).

Since most cancers arise in somatic cells, which are dipoid (they carry two copies of each autosomal genes (allele)), it has been shown that a mutation in one allele only, can result in dominant gain-of-function, and is characteristic of oncogenes (Capon *et al*, 1983; Sukumar *et al*, 1983). Although tumour-suppressor genes such as p53 suppressors also require only a single allelic mutation to become altered, other suppressor genes such as Rb must be mutated in both alleles to lose their normal function (Boynton *et al*, 1991; Kohler *et al*, 1993). p53 is a transcription factor that requires two of its molecules to bind and form a homodimer in order to be activated. A single allelic mutation in one of the p53 molecules leads to the formation of an inactive heterodimer (Tarunina & Jenkins, 1993).

# 1.2.3.3 Repair genes

Repair genes have a much more fundamental role with respect to cancer development than oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes: they monitor the rate of mutations of all genes, including the oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes discussed above. When repair genes are themselves mutated, acquisition of mutations by oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes is accelerated, leading to neoplasm or the formation of a tumor. Three groups of DNA repair genes are associated with distinct repair mechanisms: mismatch repair (MMR), base excision repair (BER), and nucleotide excision repair (NER). Inactivation of repair genes such as nucleotide-excision repair genes and mismatch-repair genes often leads to skin and colon tumours, respectively. (i) MMR is responsible for removal of base mismatches caused by spontaneous and induced base deamination, oxidation, methylation and replication errors. MMR targets mostly base mismatches such as G-T, G-G, A-C, and C-C (Fang & Modrich, 1993; Modrich & Lahue, 1996; Umar & Kunkel, 1996). (ii) BER genes remove DNA-damaged bases, which can be recognised by specific enzymes, the DNA glycosylases.

The main lesions subjected to BER are oxidised DNA bases, caused by inflammatory responses, or exposure to exogenous agents such as ionising radiation and long-wave UV light. Another main source of lesions repaired by BER is DNA alkylation induced by endogenous alkylating species and exogenous carcinogens such as nitrosamines and various anticancer drugs (Dianov *et al*, 1992; Matsumoto & Kim, 1995; Scharer & Jiricny, 2001). (iii) NER are responsible for the repair of Bulky DNA adducts such as UV-light-induced photolesions, intrastrand cross-links, large chemical adducts generated from exposure to aflatoxine, benzo(*a*)pyrene and other genotoxic agents (Friedberg, 2001; Hanawalt, 2001).

# 1.2.3.4 Viral carcinogenesis

Viruses are also known to induce alteration of cell function and cause cancer. They can be categorized in two groups: RNA and DNA viruses. RNA viruses use reverse transcription to infect competent cells and are appropriately classified as retroviruses. They convert their RNA into DNA which they incorporate into the host genome. Briefly, shortly after infection, the viral RNA genome is transcribed by a virion-associated enzyme, the reverse transcriptase, into a double-stranded DNA copy which is then integrated into the chromosomal DNA of the cell with the help of the viral integrase enzyme. The integrated copy, termed provirus, is almost never lost from the chromosome, leading to the conclusion that retroviral infection of a cell is permanent (Baltimore, 1970; Stehelin *et al*, 1976; Temin & Mizutani, 1970). Examples of RNA viruses include the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), and the human T-cell lymphotropic virus (HTLV), which causes leukaemia (Gurgo & Gallo, 1987). DNA viruses use their own protein products to directly bind and inactivate host proteins, such as the tumour suppressor proteins p53 and Rb, which can lead to altered cell proliferation. In this case, virus-encoded non-structural proteins, such as SV40 large T-

antigen, stimulate resting cells to enter the S phase and provide the enzymes and environment necessary for viral DNA replication (Pipas, 1992). The human papilloma virus (HPV) which causes cervical cancer generates its E7 oncoprotein which binds and subsequently inactivates the Rb suppressor protein (pRb) (Barbosa et al, 1990). Other DNA viruses that are important in human cancers include: hepatitis B virus (HBV) in liver cancer, the Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) in Burkitt's lymphoma and nasopharyngeal cancers, and the Kaposi sarcoma virus (KSV) in Kaposi's sarcoma (Cianciara, 1975; Papaevangelou et al, 1979; Walen & Arnstein, 1986). Approximately 30 HPVs cause infection of the genital tract. Of this group, HPV 16, 18, 45, and 56 greatly increase the risk of developing cervical cancer and generate proteins E6 and E7 (King & Robins, 2006). Development of cervical cancer requires the presence of the viral E6 and E7 sequences (Ledwaba et al, 2004; Munger et al, 2004). There is normally a relatively long time between infection and the development of cervical cancer. It is assumed that cofactors such as genotoxic carcinogens in tobacco smoke and progestins in oral contraceptives favour progress of the disease. Progestins, in combination with receptor proteins bind and activate HPV promoter sequences (Bosch et al, 1992; Hildesheim et al, 2001; Kjaer et al, 1996). Chronic HBV infection causes cirrhosis of the liver, a chronic inflammation vulnerable to successive action by cofactors such as alcohol and aflatoxins (Donato et al, 2006; Ikeda et al, 1998). Liver cancer progression follows the following steps: inflammation, increased proliferative activity (dysplasia), dysplastic nodules, carcinoma and metastasis (Hytiroglou et al, 2007). The development of liver cancer takes up to 20 years, which implies that cofactors are necessary for the progression. Enhanced cell proliferation and reduced cell death results from the upregulation of the pro-inflammatory cytokine tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) in adjacent endothelial and inflammatory cells which activates the transcription factor nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB) (Barnhart & Peter, 2003).

## 1.2.4 Invasion and metastasis

The tumour is considered malignant once it has acquired the capability of invading surrounding tissues. It is important to keep in mind that since cancer formation is a multi-step process, it is traditionally believed that cells become malignant only through progressive acquisition of new mutations combined with clonal selection, favouring clones with dominant attributes such as faster growth rate (Fidler & Talmadge, 1986; Foulds, 1954; Hart & Easty, 1991). Cancer cells later escape from the primary tumour site, infiltrate lymphatic or blood vessels, and are transported to distant sites where they establish secondary tumours. Progression to this later stage, called metastasis, is illustrated in Figure 1.2 and involves the following steps: migration, intravasation, circulation, extravasation, and growth at the secondary site.

Metastasis remains the primary cause of death among cancer patients (Molloy & van 't Veer, 2008). Attempts at elucidating the concept of metastasis, such as the seminal "seed and soil" hypothesis, were published as early as 1889 by the English surgeon Stephen Paget. He concluded that: (i) certain cells from a primary tumour act as seeds and have specific affinity for the milieu of certain organs ("soil"). (ii) metastases were formed only when the seed and soil were compatible (Paget, 1889). It has demonstrated that sites of metastasis are determined not solely by the characteristics of the neoplastic cells but also by the microenvironment of the host tissue (Hart & Fidler, 1980).

17



Figure 1.2: Summary of the metastatic process. From a primary tumor, a 'metastasis-permissive' microenvironment is formed in which surrounding healthy cells are induced to secrete signaling molecules which promote growth and migration of the cancer cells (denoted by dashed arrows). The loss of local constraints may promote epithelial–mesenchymal transition (EMT) and allows tumor cells to access the circulatory or lymphatic system, where they must negotiate both host defenses and physical stresses. Eventually, tumor cells interact with the surface antigens of cells making up the vessel walls at a remote location which stimulates changes in their morphology allowing extravasation. Once inside the tissue parenchyma of the distant organ, the tumor cell will once again take advantage of paracrine signaling by the surrounding healthy tissue to remodel the area and create a niche suitable for overt growth (Taken from (Molloy & van 't Veer, 2008)).

More recent research suggest that: (i) metastatic capability may rather be an intrinsic feature of tumors which is acquired much earlier in the progression of the disease (Bernards & Weinberg, 2002), and (ii) tumor cells are significantly dependant on normal cells in the immediate microenvironment and the immune system for disease progression (Anderson *et al*, 2006; Chang *et al*, 2007; Koizumi *et al*, 2007; Walser *et al*, 2007)

## 1.2.5 Epigenetic events in cancer

It is widely accepted that the initiation and progression of human cancer is caused by loss of tumor suppressor function. Inactivation of tumor suppressor genes can result from both genetic mechanisms such as mutations and epigenetic mechanisms such as DNA hypermethylation (Chan *et al*, 2008). In the mammalian genome, methylation takes place only at cytosine bases that are located 5' to guanosine in a CpG dinucleotide (Bird, 2002). DNA methylation is a predominant mode of epigenetic alteration in cancer involving gene silencing via CpG island promoter hypermethylation (Antequera *et al*, 1990; Jones *et al*, 1990). Hypermethylation has now been observed to result in abnormal silencing of a number of tumor suppressors in many human malignancies such as cancers of the breast, prostate, colon, lymphoid, liver, and lung (Esteller *et al*, 2000; Herman *et al*, 1997; Lin *et al*, 2001; Wales *et al*, 1995). Promoter hypermethylation is considered to be at least as common as, and possibly more than, the disruption of classic tumour-suppressor genes in human cancer by mutations (Herman *et al*, 1998; Ohtani-Fujita *et al*, 1997; Prowse *et al*, 1997).

Epigenetic abnormalities can also cooperate with genetic alterations to effect aberrant gene function that result in cancer (Chan *et al*, 2008). In fact, there is a growing awareness that epigenetic gene silencing in cancer can predispose to mutational events during tumour progression. The O<sup>6</sup>-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase (*MGMT*) protein is an example of a DNA-repair gene that is silenced in association with promoter methylation in colon, lung, lymphoid and other tumours (Esteller *et al*, 1999; Esteller *et al*, 2001; Esteller *et al*, 2000). O<sup>6</sup>-*MGMT* protein removes carcinogen-induced O<sup>6</sup>-methylguanine adducts from DNA. Carcinogen-induced O<sup>6</sup>-methylguanine adducts induce a G to A (guanine to adenine) transition mutation if left unrepaired (Nakamura *et al*, 2001; Zuo *et al*, 2004). Tumours with *MGMT* alleles seem to be predisposed to mutations in key

19

genes such as tumour suppressor protein p53 (Esteller *et al*, 2001) and K-ras (Esteller *et al*, 2000). This promoter methylation seems to precede genetic changes by occurring in pre-malignant polyps that do not yet harbor gene mutations (Esteller *et al*, 2001; Esteller *et al*, 2000).

It is important to recognize that cytosine methylation can influence tumorigenicity by mechanisms other than gene-silencing. These mechanisms take place because 5-methylcytosine is itself mutagenic: it can undergo spontaneous hydrolytic deamination to cause C to T (cytosine to thymine) transition (Coulondre et al, 1978). During the development of skin cancer, the presence of the methyl group in the CpG dinucleotides in the coding region of the p53 gene strongly increases the rate at which mutations are induced by ultraviolet (UV) light (Pfeifer et al, 2000). According to the biochemical mechanism of this enhancement, the methyl group shifts the UV absorption spectrum for cytosine to a region in the spectrum that is prevalent in sunlight (Jones & Baylin, 2002). Methylated CpG dinucleotides are also the preferred targets of G to T transversion mutations, which are induced in mammalian cells by the tobacco carcinogen benzo(a)pyrene diol epoxide (Yoon *et al*, 2001). Thus, the methylation that occurs in the transcribed region of the p53 gene increases its susceptibility to spontaneous deamination, UV-induced mutation and hydrocarbon carcinogenesis. In order to understand how promoter hypermethylation participates in the loss of gene transcription, it has been observed that in experimental systems, methylation of promoter regions does not lead to silenced transcription until chromatin proteins are recruited to the region, which then mediate gene silencing (Kass et al, 1997). Methylation seems to only initiate the process that results in a loss of transcription. Whatever the sequence of events at a given promoter, it seems that promoter methylation must be integral to the loss of gene function because drugs that induce DNA de-methylation such as 5-AZA-2'-DEOXYCYTIDINE, can partially reactivate

silenced genes in cancer cells to restore their function (Baylin & Herman, 2000; Jones & Laird, 1999).

#### **1.2.6** Cardinal properties for cancerous growth

In order for a benign tumour to become malignant and metastasize, the cells need to acquire a distinct set of characteristics, abherrant from normal cells. Hanahan et al. have developed a set of cell physiology traits that enable malignancy and progression to metastasis (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000): self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to antigrowth signals, evading apoptosis, limitless replicative potential, sustained angiogenesis, and tissue invasion and metastasis (Figure 1.3).

# **1.2.6.1** Cancer cells develop self-sufficiency in growth signals

Normal cells require mitogenic growth signals (GS) before they can move from a quiescent state into an active proliferative state. These signals are transmitted into the cell by transmembrane receptors that bind distinctive classes of signaling molecules: diffusible growth factors, extracellular matrix components, and cell-to-cell adhesion/interaction molecules (Kang *et al*, 2008; Nagpal *et al*, 2008; Prevost *et al*, 2002).



Figure 1.3: Cardinal properties for cancer growth. self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to antigrowth signals, evading apoptosis, limitless replicative potential, sustained angiogenesis, and tissue invasion and metastasis (Adapted from (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000))

No type of normal cell can proliferate in the absence of such stimulatory signals. Many oncogenes act by mimicking normal growth signal in some capacity (Datta *et al*, 2007; Preto *et al*, 2008). Exogenous generation and transduction of most growth factors is heterotypic, implying that the growth factor is produced by one type of cells for the proliferative stimulus of a different type of cells. Cancer cells develop a considerable level of proliferative autonomy, expressed by their

minimal requirement for extracellular growth stimulatory signals. Three common molecular strategies for achieving this autonomy are evidenced involving:

(i) Alteration of extracellular growth signals: many cancer cells acquire the ability to synthesize growth factors (GF) to which they are responsive, creating a positive feedback signaling loop often termed autocrine stimulation (Alexander & Currie, 1984; Ikeda *et al*, 1982). Cancer cells thus obviate dependence on GFs from other cells within the tissue by manufacturing their own GFs. Two illustrative examples of this autonomy are the production of PDGF (platelet-derived growth factor) and TGFa (tumor growth factor  $\alpha$ ) by glioblastomas and sarcomas, respectively (Aasland *et al*, 1990; Pantazis *et al*, 1985).

(ii) Alteration of transcellular transducers of those signals: two types of alterations of cell surface receptors have been identified, receptor overexpression and switch. Receptor overexpression may enable the cell to become hyperresponsive to ambient levels of GF that normally would not trigger proliferation (Libermann *et al*, 1985; Merlino *et al*, 1984). GF (EGF-R/*erbB*) and HER2/*neu* receptors constitute two illustrative examples. The epidermal GF receptor (EGF-R/*erbB*) is upregulated in stomach, brain, and breast tumors, while the HER2/*neu* receptor is overexpressed in stomach and mammary carcinomas (Slamon *et al*, 1987; Yarden & Ullrich, 1988). Additionally, gross overexpression of GF receptors can elicit ligand-independent signaling (Di Fiore *et al*, 1987). Ligand-independent signaling can also be achieved through structural alteration of receptors; for example, truncated versions of the EGF receptor lacking much of its cytoplasmic domain fire constitutively (Fedi *et al*, 1997). Cancer cells are also known to switch the matrix receptors that they express, such as integrins, in favour of pro-growth signal transmitter types (Lukashev & Werb, 1998).

(iii) Alteration of intracellular circuits that translate those signals into action: this constitutes the most complex mechanism of acquired self-sufficiency in growth signals. Alterations in components of the downstream cytoplasmic circuitry that receives and processes the signals emitted by ligand-activated GF receptors and integrins, enable them to release a flux of mitogenic signals into cells, without ongoing stimulation by their normal upstream regulators. The SOS-Ras-Raf-MAPK cascade plays a central role here. For example, in about 25% of human tumors (Medema & Bos, 1993), Ras proteins are present in structurally altered forms, that enable them to stay in the "on" mode, generating mitogenic signals without prior activation by the upstream Sons of Sevenless (SOS) protein (Bonfini *et al*, 1992).

#### **1.2.6.2** Cancer cells are insensitive to antigrowth signals

As described in Section 5.1, within a normal tissue, multiple antiproliferative signals operate to maintain cellular quiescence and tissue homeostasis. These signals include both soluble growth inhibitors and immobilized inhibitors embedded in the extracellular matrix (ECM) as well as the surface of nearby cells. These growth-inhibitory signals, like their positively acting counterparts, are received by transmembrane cell surface receptors coupled to intracellular signaling circuits (Aggarwal *et al*, 1994; Greiner *et al*, 1985). They apply their antiproliferative actions by forcing proliferating cells either temporarily into the quiescent (G<sub>0</sub>) state or permanently into postmitotic stages. For cancer cells to survive and proliferate they must adapt to a stage where the normal anti-proliferative signals are no longer working. Cells monitor their external environment during the G1 phase and, on the basis of sensed signals, decide whether to proliferate (move into S phase), to be quiescent (G<sub>0</sub>), or to enter into a post-mitotic state (Denhardt *et al*, 1986; Hartwell & Weinert, 1989; Murray & Kirschner, 1989; O'Farrell *et al*, 1989). At the molecular level, one of the key cell cycle checkpoint proteins is the retinoblastoma protein (pRb; see section 3.2) and its two relatives, p107 and p130 (Cobrinik *et al*, 1993; Kiess *et al*, 1995). Many and perhaps all antiproliferative signals are funneled through these proteins (Weinberg, 1995). When in a hypophosphorylated state, pRb inhibits cell cycle progression and blocks proliferation by binding E2F transcription factors that control the expression of many genes essential for progression from G1 into S phase (Helin *et al*, 1992; Kiess *et al*, 1995). The activities of pRb are inhibited via phosphorylation by cyclin:CDK complexes, thereby allowing for unimpeded cell proliferation, catalyzed by the transcriptional activity of E2F. Phosphorylation of pRb is inhibited by transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ) (Bates *et al*, 1994; Cobrinik *et al*, 1993; Hatakeyama *et al*, 1994).

## 1.2.6.3 Cancer cells evade apoptosis

As outlined above, in order to progress to malignancy cancer cells need to develop the ability of unobstructed proliferation as well as an ability to avoid programmed cell death through apoptosis. Unlike in necrosis where a dying cell is injured, bursts and spills its content, damaging neighbouring cells; in apoptosis the cell death process is organized and eventually leads to the dying cell being engulfed by macrophages or neighbouring cells (Kerr *et al*, 1972; Saladino & Trump, 1968). Apoptosis is characterized by DNA fragmentation, chromatin condensation, nuclear rupture, cell shrinkage, followed by cell rupture into apoptotic bodies (MacKenzie & Clark, 2008). The molecular mechanism of apoptosis involves two integral components: sensors and effectors. Sensors essentially conduct surveillance of the inner and outer cellular environment, pinpointing situations requiring initiation of apoptosis. Examples of sensors include FAS receptors (binds FAS ligand) and TNF-R1 receptors (binds TNFq) through which death signals are transmitted

(Ashkenazi and Dixit, 1999). Effectors are the executioners of apoptosis, following analysis and detection by sensors. The ultimate effectors of apoptosis include an array of intracellular proteases termed caspases (Thornberry & Lazebnik, 1998). Two "gatekeeper" caspases, 8 and 9, are activated by death receptors such as FAS or by the cytochrome C released from mitochondria, respectively (Imai et al, 1999; Li et al, 1997b; Muzio et al, 1996). These proximal caspases trigger the activation of a dozen or more effector caspases that execute the death program, through selective destruction of subcellular structures and organelles, and of the genome (Fernandes-Alnemri et al, 1994). Two other important components of the cellular apoptotic machinery are the Bcl-2 family of proteins (i.e. Bax) which controls cytochrome C release, and the p53 protein which upregulates Bax following DNA damage (Miyashita et al, 1994; Selvakumaran et al, 1994). The p53 tumour suppressor gene, which also triggers apoptosis under hypoxic conditions, is defective/mutated in more than 50% of human cancers (Harris, 1996). Resistance to apoptosis can be acquired by cancer cells through a variety of strategies. The most commonly occurring loss of a pro-apoptotic regulator involves the p53 tumor suppressor gene. Functional inactivation of its product, the p53 protein removes a key component of the DNA damage sensor that can induce the apoptotic effector cascade (Harris, 1996). Another mechanism for evading apoptosis involves the PI3 kinase-Akt/PKB pathway, an anti-apoptotic pathway most likely up-regulated in cancer. This pathway is activated by Ras (Downward, 1998) and the loss of the PTEN tumour suppressor gene (Cantley & Neel, 1999).

# 1.2.6.4 Cancer cells develop limitless replicative potential

Self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to antigrowth signals, and the ability of evading apoptosis do not suffice in providing cells an ability to replicate endlessly. It is thought

that the ability to acquire limitless replicative abilities beyond a maximum number of cell doublings occurs only after experiencing senescence (lost of the ability to divide) followed by a state of crisis (massive cell death) (Wright *et al*, 1989). The crisis state can be understood at a molecular level by observing the fate of telomeric DNA. Since every cell cycle replication causes telomeric DNA loss at both ends of the chromosomes, chromosomal ends fuse, inducing crisis-like state followed by cell death (Counter *et al*, 1992). It is believed that cancer cells achieve limitless replicative ability through an acquired ability to maintain telemore length. The cancer cell appears to develop two strategies: (i) Addition of hexanucleotide repeats at the end of telomeric DNA via up-regulation of telomerase enzyme (Kruk *et al*, 1996) and (ii) recombination-based inter-chromosomal exchanges of sequence information through activation of a complex mechanism called Alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT) (Bryan and Cech, 1999; Bryan et al., 1995).

#### 1.2.6.5 Tumors require sustained angiogenesis

Most cells of a tissue are located within a 100 µm perimeter of a capillary blood vessel, mainly to allow for the provision of oxygen and nutrient supply. The process of growing new blood vessels, referred to as angiogenesis, is monitored by a strict regulation of the balance between angiogenesis-promoting and angiogenesis-inhibiting factors (Larcher *et al*, 1996; McLeskey *et al*, 1998; Zhang *et al*, 1995). Angiogenesis-promoting factors include the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Phillips *et al*, 1976; Wolf & Harrison, 1973) and the fibroblast growth factor (FGF 1/2) (Gospodarowicz, 1975). These factors bind to transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptors, the VEGF receptor and the FGF receptor (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000). Thrombospondin-1 is an example of angiogenesis-inhibiting factor and is bound to the CD36 trans-membrane receptor (Murphy-Ullrich & Mosher, 1987; Schuepp *et al*, 1991). It is believed that cancer cells initiate angiogenesis at the premalignant stage, through disturbance of the regulatory balance between angiogenesis-promoting and angiogenesis-inhibiting factors (Hanahan & Folkman, 1996). As evidenced in several tumours, this is accomplished by either upregulation of VEGF and/or FGF 1/2 or downregulation of thrombospondin-1. Interestingly, it has been demonstrated that decrease in p53 regulation causes substantial downregulation of thrombospondin-1 (Dameron *et al*, 1994) while VEGF is upregulated following the loss of function of the Ras oncogene (Larcher *et al*, 1996).

#### **1.2.6.6** Tissue invasion and metastasis

Metastasis is known to be responsible for 90% of human cancer death (Sporn, 1996). Normal cells are fastened to their environment as a result of the effect of two groups of proteins: the cell-cell adhesion molecules (CAM) and integrins which act as a link to the extracellular matrix (ECM). Cancer cells undergo invasiveness and metastasis through alterations of these two types of proteins. CAMs include the immunoglobulin and calcium-dependent cadherin families (Albelda & Buck, 1990). The most widely observed alteration in cell-to-environment interactions in cancer involves the epithelial transmembrane protein E-cadherin, a homotypic cell-to-cell interaction molecule ubiquitously expressed on epithelial cells. Coupling between adjacent cells by E-cadherin bridges results in the transmission of antigrowth and other signals via cytoplasmic contacts with βcatenin to intracellular signaling circuits that include the Lef/ Tcf transcription factor (Christofori & Semb, 1999). E-cadherin function is apparently lost in a majority of epithelial cancers, by mechanisms that include mutational inactivation of the E-cadherin or  $\beta$ -catenin genes, postranscriptional repression, or proteolysis of the extracellular cadherin domain (Christofori & Semb, 1999). Changes in integrin expression are also evident in invasive and metastatic cells. Invading and metastasizing cancer cells are exposed to varying tissue microenvironments as they migrate, which can present novel matrix components. Accordingly, successful colonization of these new sites (both local and distant) demands adaptation, which is achieved through shifts in the spectrum of integrin  $\alpha$  or  $\beta$  subunits displayed by the migrating cells (Hapke *et al*, 2001). These novel permutations result in different integrin subtypes (of which there are greater than 22) having distinct substrate preferences (Eble & Haier, 2006). Thus, carcinoma cells facilitate invasion by shifting their expression of integrins from those that favor the ECM present in normal epithelium to other integrins (e.g.,  $\alpha 3\beta 1$  and  $\alpha V\beta 3$ ) that preferentially bind the degraded stromal components produced by extracellular proteases (Lukashev & Werb, 1998; Varner & Cheresh, 1996).

#### **1.2.7** Cancer therapy

General cancer treatment considerations include early detection, cellular heterogeneity, and drug resistance. Early detection of very small or premalignant tumors through screening methods is expected to yield the most favourable outcome of cancer treatment (Srinivas *et al*, 2001; Verma & Srivastava, 2003) while the cellular heterogeneity of a tumour contributes to different responsiveness to treatment (Galmarini & Galmarini, 2003; Honeth *et al*, 2008). In addition, various mechanisms enable cancer cells to acquire resistance to a drug notably, overexpression of P-gp or MRP1 efflux transporters, amplification of the gene of the target protein of a drug, the complex yet efficient ability of cells to repair their DNA following damage from drugs, and drug accessibility to tumor cells far removed from blood vessels (Galmarini & Galmarini, 2003; Minchinton & Tannock, 2006; Pajouhesh & Lenz, 2005).

Cytotoxic drugs used in chemotherapy include synthetic agents and natural products. Synthetic agents include (i) Alkylating agents which disrupt DNA synthesis by forming adducts with DNA bases such as guanine. This group includes drugs such as cisplatin and its analog, carboplatin (Stone et al, 1974; Wheeler, 1962). (ii) Antimetabolite drugs which have various

mechanisms of inhibiting nucleic acids. This group includes methotrexate, 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), and cytarabine (Heidelberger et al, 1957). Natural products can be divided in three groups. (i) Topoisomerase inhibitors which inhibit topoisomerases I and II, enzymes responsible for the uncoiling of DNA prior to replication and includes drugs such as topotecan and etoposide. (ii) Microtubule poisons which induce apoptosis via inhibition of chromosome separation, following disruption of the microtubule spindle during mitosis, notably the vinca alkaloids and the taxanes. Vinca alkaloids prevent the polymerization of tubulin and include: vincristin, vinblastine, and vinorelbine (Jordan et al, 1991; White, 1968; Wilson et al, 1999). Taxanes, on the other hand, stabilize the microtubules by preventing their depolymerization (Bhalla, 2003; Schiff & Horwitz, 1980). The two taxanes in clinical use currently are paclitaxel and docetaxel. Microtubule poisons are effective against many types of cancers including prostate, leukemia, lymphoma, ovarian, breast, and testicular (Gidding et al, 1999; Guastalla & Dieras, 2003; Lonnerholm et al, 2008; Oh, 2003). (iii) Anthracyclin antibiotics damage DNA in four ways: they cause partial unwinding of the double strand, generate free radicals, cause single and double strand breaks, and bind to topoisomerase II. They include drugs such as doxorubicin and epirubicin (Minotti et al, 2004).

# 1.3 Prostate cancer

#### 1.3.1 Epidemiology and risk factors

Prostate cancer is the fifth most common neoplasm worldwide, and the second most prevalent cancer among men. Of all new cancer cases in 2002, 679,000 of them were prostate cancer which resulted in 221,000 deaths (Parkin *et al*, 2005). Prostate cancer is the third leading cause of cancer related deaths in Canada, with an estimated 24,700 newly diagnosed cases in 2008 (NCI, 2008). One in six American males are expected to develop prostate cancer sometime during their lifetime, contributing to the findings that it is the most common cancer in men in North America, accounting for 33% of all new cancer cases (Delongchamps *et al*, 2006; Edwards *et al*, 2002; Jemal *et al*, 2004; Routh & Leibovich, 2005; Schwartz, 2005). The mortality rate in North America for prostate cancer patients is approximately 9% (Jemal *et al*, 2004).

Established risk factors associated with prostate cancer include: age, ethnic background, diet, and genetics. The risk of developing prostate cancer has been shown to increase with age. In addition, a family history of prostate cancer is also associated with increased risk of prostate cancer, as one first degree relative (father, brother, or son) with the disease increases the risk two-fold, and two first degree relatives further increases the relative risk to 8.8 (Klein, 1995). Men of African descent have a relative risk of 1.8 over men of European descent (Morton, 1994), and men from Asia have the lowest risk, suggesting that ethnic background is also a risk factor. The incidence of prostate cancer is quite low in most Asian countries, including Japan (Parkin et al, 2005). However, an increase in incidence is observed in individuals who emigrate from a low-risk country like Japan to a high-risk country like the United States (Parkin et al, 2005). Second generation Asian-Americans have increased risk, indicating that lifestyle and environment are important. Diet has been shown to be an important determinant of risk since a higher fat diet has a relative risk of 1.3 (Key, 1995). In addition, dietary components such as lycopene, green tea, vitamin E, and selenium have all been shown to have chemopreventive effects (Reviewed in Gupta, 2006). Considering that these compounds are antioxidants, it is suggested that they protect cells from DNA damage. This is particularly interesting, considering that expression of glutathione-S-transferase (GST), which prevents oxidative stress-induced DNA damage, is commonly lost early in prostate cancer (Brooks et al, 1998; Lee et al, 1994; Millar et al, 1999). Although genetic predisposition of prostate cancer

31

is not well understood, studies have suggested that it contributes to nearly 50% of prostate cancer cases (Carter *et al*, 1992; Lichtenstein *et al*, 2000).

## 1.3.2 Initiation and progression

Initiation and progression of prostate cancer are characterized by alterations in regulatory pathways such as apoptosis, androgen receptor (AR) signaling, signal transduction, cell cycle regulation, cell adhesion and cohesion, and angiogenesis (Table 1.3). As discussed in Section 1.2, theses changes occur both within the prostate cells and in the surrounding tissue.

# 1.3.2.1 Cell cycle regulators

Three cell cycle regulators are of particular interest in prostate cancer:

(i) Ki-67:

Ki-67 protein is a cell cycle-associated nuclear antigen expressed in all phases of the cell cycle except  $G_0$  and early  $G_1$  phases of cells reentering the cell cycle, hence a sensitive biomarker for cellular proliferation (Brown & Gatter, 2002). The Ki-67 proliferation indices for recurrent tumors are approximately double that of the primary tumor (Oomens *et al*, 1991). Increased proliferation index of Ki-67 correlates with the presence of advanced stage disease or increased tumor grade (Cher *et al*, 1995).

Process	Markers
Apoptosis	p53, bcl-2
Androgen receptor signaling	Androgen receptor, possible alternate signal transduction pathways
Signal transduction	Epidermal growth factor receptor family
Cell cycle regulation	c-Myc, p16INK4A, p27KIP1, pRb, apoptotic index, Ki-67
Cell adhesion and cohesion	E-cadherin, a-catenin, metalloproteinases, chondroitin sulphate
Angiogenesis	VEGF, VEGF receptors, nitric oxide

Table 1.3:Summary of molecular aberration in prostate cancer (Quinn *et al*, 2005)

# (ii) pRb

A close correlation has been established between retinoblastoma gene mutations and the loss of retinoblastoma protein expression (pRb) (Bookstein *et al*, 1990; Geradts *et al*, 1994). Generally, there is progressive loss of pRb expression with increasing prostate cancer grade and stage (Ittmann & Wieczorek, 1996; Phillips *et al*, 1994).

(iii) C-MYC

C-MYC functions primarily as a transcription factor involved in the regulation of apoptosis, cellular differentiation and proliferation (Hayward *et al*, 1981; Hughes *et al*, 2005). It has been reported that C-MYC amplification is present in up to 50% of high-grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (HGPIN) and 73% of primary prostate cancer (Fox *et al*, 1993; Jenkins *et al*, 1997; Qian *et al*,

1997). C-MYC amplification has also been shown to increase with transition through prostatic intra-epithelial neoplasia (PIN) to localized prostate cancer to metastases (Bubendorf *et al*, 1999; Jenkins *et al*, 1997).

## 1.3.2.2 Apoptosis markers

(i) p53

As discussed in Section 1.2, tumor-suppressor p53 is involved in cell cycle regulation, apoptosis, angiogenesis, and metastasis. Some investigators have compared prostate cancer metastases with primary prostate cancers in the same patients and have concluded that foci with p53 mutations are clonally expanded in metastases (Meyers *et al*, 1998; Stapleton *et al*, 1997; Suzuki *et al*, 1998). p53 nuclear accumulation is increased in metastatic, recurrent and/or androgen-insensitive prostate cancer has also been demonstrated, compared with clinically localized disease (Eastham *et al*, 1995; Grossfeld *et al*, 1998; Navone *et al*, 1993).

(ii) Bcl-2

The bcl-2 oncogene inhibits apoptosis (Haldar *et al*, 1989; Tsujimoto & Croce, 1986). Increased expression of Bcl-2 in prostate cancer has been found to confer androgen resistance, particularly in advanced disease, and may facilitate progression to androgen independence (Apakama *et al*, 1996; McDonnell *et al*, 1992; Raffo *et al*, 1995).

# 1.3.2.3 Androgen and androgen receptor (AR) signaling

The growth, development and functioning of the prostate is dependent upon androgen, mostly produced by the leydig cells of the testes but also by the adrenal glands (Chatterjee, 2003; Heinlein & Chang, 2004; Santos *et al*, 2004). Recent evidence also supports the production of androgen de novo in the prostate (Mostaghel & Nelson 2008; Locke et al 2008 in press). The main ligand of AR is 5α-dihydrotestosterone (DHT). DHT binds AR in order to promote cell proliferation, differentiation, and cell death inhibition (Isaacs, 1999). AR is restricted to the cytoplasmic compartment until bound to DHT prompting it to be translocated into the nucleus where it functions as the transcription factor for androgen regulated genes (Sharifi & Farrar, 2006). Since there exists both pre-clinical and clinical evidence supporting retinoblastoma protein, C-MYC, interleukin-4 and 6 and p53 regulation of AR expression (Bernard *et al*, 2003; Grad *et al*, 1999; Lu & Danielsen, 1998), it is conceivable that in selected prostate cancer cells, AR may be amplified, overexpressed through epigenetic regulation and/or contain mutations that allow stimulation by hormones and antiandrogens (Jenster, 1999). It is also suggested that therapy, particularly with non-steroidal anti-androgens, may contribute to selective preferential expression of cells with AR mutations or amplification. Finally, it is believed that, autocrine or paracrine mechanisms may activate pathways to produce downstream AR responses, alone or in collaboration with AR (Jenster, 1999).

### 1.3.2.4 Tumor-suppressor gene PTEN

PTEN is a tumour suppressor phosphatase that is commonly altered in lethal metastatic prostate cancer (Li *et al*, 1997a; Suzuki *et al*, 1998). PTEN loss occurs in 23% of high grade PIN, and 68% of prostate adenocarcinomas, indicating a role for PTEN in prostate cancer development (Yoshimoto *et al*, 2006). In murine prostate carcinogenesis models, prostate-specific deletion of PTEN resulted in metastatic prostate cancer (Majumder *et al*, 2003; Tolcher, 2004). *In vitro* work shows that reconstitution of PTEN suppresses AR transcription and increases sensitivity to cytotoxic drugs (Huang *et al*, 2001; Nan *et al*, 2003).

#### 1.3.2.5 Prostate cancer progression

Prostate cancer progression to metastasis is believed to involve the following stages: prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN), followed by adenocarcinoma, then metastasis to secondary sites including bone, lymph node, liver, and lung, with bone being the most predominant site of metastasis (Bagi, 2005). Prostate cancer is considered to be a multifocal and multiclonal disease since patients may have multiple tumors arising independently through different mechanisms such as loss of PTEN (Jin-Tang Dong, 2006; Li *et al*, 1997a; Steck *et al*, 1997).

# **1.3.3** Prostate cancer diagnosis and treatment

#### 1.3.3.1 Diagnosis of prostate cancer

The digital rectal exam (DRE) and the prostate specific antigen (PSA) tests are used in combination to screen for prostate cancer (Wallace & Powell, 2002). The DRE test involves accessing the prostate via the rectum, in order to determine any structural irregularities indicative of prostate cancer (Wallace & Powell, 2002). The PSA test involves measuring the concentration of PSA, an enzyme secreted by prostatic epithelial cells, in the serum. PSA concentration tends to increase in individuals with prostate cancer due to the enlargement of the prostate (Schwartz *et al*, 2005).

A transrectal biopsy is subsequently carried out when serum PSA levels are greater than 4-10 ng/ml in addition to a positive DRE, suggestive of a cancerous lesion (Wallace & Powell, 2002). Transrectal biopsy would then characterize the potential tumor. Using the Gleason grading system (Gleason & Mellinger, 1974), prostate cancer is given a value of 1-5 based on glandular characteristics, with a lower grade assigned to more differentiated and normal prostate glands, and a higher grade assigned to less differentiated glands. The tumor, node, metastasis (TNM) staging system is also used by physicians to assess prostate cancer progression. This system indicates that the tumor is restricted within the prostate and surrounding tissues (T), the invasion of the lymph nodes (N), and metastatic spread to distant organs (M) (Hoedemaeker *et al*, 2000). The T stage is subdivided into four groups: T1, T2, T3, and T4. T1 and T2 refer to tumors confined within the prostate while T3 and T4 represent stages where the tumor has invaded the surrounding areas (Figure 1.4). Urologists evaluate Gleason score, TNM staging, and PSA value to predict pathological stages, and determine appropriate treatment recommendations (Ayyathurai *et al*, 2006; Partin *et al*, 1997; Partin *et al*, 2001).

### 1.3.3.2 Treatment of prostate cancer

Prostate cancer cells depend on androgens for proliferation, protein synthesis initiation and cell death inhibition (Wallace & Powell, 2002). Prostate cancer cells are initially androgendependent but a select number develop androgen independency, following medical intervention such as androgen ablation. Although mechanisms which allow prostate cancer cells to survive under very low androgen levels have not been fully elucidated, numerous possibilities have been offered: (i) AR hypersensitivity: cancer cells are able to produce more androgen receptors via amplification of the androgen receptor gene, which allow them to survive under low levels of androgen, and are not androgen independent (Pienta & Smith, 2005). (ii) Androgen are synthesized de novo in the prostate during progression to maintain pre-castrate levels (Locke *et al*, 2008; Mostaghel & Nelson, 2008). (iii) The promiscuous receptor: cancer cells contain mutated androgen receptors that are able to bind and be activated by non-androgen molecules present in circulation and imitating androgen (Debes & Tindall, 2004; Feldman & Feldman, 2001; Nelson *et al*, 2003).





(iv) Non-cancer cells such as neuroendocrine cells secrete neuropeptides that support the growth of the cancer cells (Pienta & Smith, 2005). Prostate cancer management often involves two stages of treatment: androgen dependence and androgen independence.

## (i) Androgen dependence (AD) treatment

In early stage prostate cancer (stages T1 and T2) where the tumor is restricted within the prostatic capsule, the disease is hormone dependent and is readily curable. The two preferred treatment strategies are external radiation therapy and/or radical prostatectomy, the surgical removal of all or part of the prostate gland (Kirby et al, 2001). In addition, patients with other co-morbidities may receive "watchful waiting" - observation of the disease without any treatment while the cancer is monitored with subsequent PSA tests and DRE. Androgen ablation therapy (androgen withdrawal) is administered once the cancer has progressed beyond the capsule and/or has metastasized, as prostate cancer cells are androgen dependent (Huggins & Hodges, 1941). Androgen deprivation therapy is a two-step process involving initial administration of luteinizing hormone releasing hormone (LHRH) agonists or orchiectomy, the removal of the testes. This step aims to reduce total circulating and rogen levels via reduction of testosterone production. The second step involves administration of AR antagonists, intended to bind AR and this directly inhibit downstream signaling (Tammela, 2004). Nonsteroidal antiandrogens, such as flutamide, nilutamide, and bicalutamide, bind to the AR ligand binding domain, and inhibit activation of the receptor (Farla et al, 2005; Furr & Tucker, 1996). Steroidal antiandrogens, such as cyproterone acetate, compete with ligand for receptor binding similar to nonsteroidal antiandrogens, but convey a negative feedback causing suppression of the LHRH axis, thereby reducing testosterone levels (as reviewed by Tammela, 2004; Varenhorst et al, 1982). Side effects of androgen ablation treatment include

osteoporosis, fatigue, diminished cognitive function, and loss of libido. Androgen ablation reduces androgen levels significantly but it is believed that it does not eradicate androgen completely.

(ii) Androgen independence (AI) treatment

Despite a 90% primary response rate of androgen ablation therapy, almost all patients advance to a state of androgen independence (AI) with increasing prostate-specific antigen (PSA), and radiologic and/or symptomatic progression (Bhandari *et al*, 2005). In AI prostate cancer, the androgen receptor is reactivated (Zhang *et al*, 2003). Treatment for androgen independent, hormone refractory prostate cancer involves primarily chemotherapy. Docetaxel administered in combination with prednisone constitute the current gold standard chemotherapy for this phase of prostate cancer (Berthold *et al*, 2008; Schurko & Oh, 2008).

## **1.3.3.2.1** Other natural compounds effective against prostate cancer cells

Docetaxel is derived from a natural product precursor compound and several other natural compounds have been found to be effective in pre-clinical evaluation against prostate cancer cells. The list includes ginsenosides and their metabolites (section 1.4), silibinin and silymarin (flavonoid antioxidants isolated from milk thistle that inhibit the growth of LNCaP cells by causing cell cycle arrest and decrease in PSA levels) (Zi *et al*, 2000), tea polyphenol epigallaocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG, decreases AR mRNA level as well as causes the repression of transcriptional activities of AR promoter region in LNCaP cells) (Ren *et al*, 2000), curcumin (downregulates the transactivation and expression of AR and AR-related cofactors) (Nakamura *et al*, 2002), emodin (a natural compound isolated from *Rheum Palmatum* that inhibits the growth of LNCaP and PC3 stably transfected with AR cells) (Cha et al, 2005), decursin (Jiang *et al*, 2006), inositol hexaphosphate (IP6, a nutrient phytochemical in high-fiber cereals, legumes and nuts, that inhibits the growth of

advanced human prostate carcinoma DU145 cells) (Singh *et al*, 2003), genistein (induces the repression of telomerase activity in DU145 and PC3 cells) (Jagadeesh *et al*, 2006), pomegranate oil (shown to nhibit the growth of DU145 cells by arresting the cells in G2/M phase) (Albrecht *et al*, 2004), oridonin (a diterpenoid from Rabdosia rubescens that induced cytostatic and cytotoxic effects, cell cycle arrest, and apoptosis in LNCaP cells) (Chen *et al*, 2005), and resveratrol (down regulated PSA, the AR co-activator ARA 24 and NF-kB p65 in LNCaP cells) (Narayanan *et al*, 2003).

# 1.4 Ginseng and ginsenosides

In 1994, 1 million pounds of ginseng was imported into the US where its sale and related products accounted for approximately 300 million US, 1/5 of all botanical sales (Gillis, 1997). This finding reinforces the notion that ginseng is one of the most commonly used plants used in Complementary and Alternative Medicine (CAM), in North America. Ginseng is believed to have been used in Asia for thousands of years but its earliest written reference is included in a herbal medicine compilation called Shennong Bencao Jing (Shennong's Herbal), dated around 502-557 AD (Yun, 2001). The root of ginseng has been reported to have many pharmacological effects including antioxidative and anticarcinogenicity (Nah *et al*, 1995; Yun *et al*, 2001; Zhang *et al*, 1996). Ginseng products have been evaluated in clinical trials for benefits associated with several indicators and conditions, including health-related quality of life (Ellis & Reddy, 2002), erectile dysfunction (Hong *et al*, 2002), postprandial plasma glucose (PG) and insulin (PI) indices (Sievenpiper *et al*, 2004), ability to reverse fatigue (Elam *et al*, 2006), neurodegenerative disorders (Radad *et al*, 2006), and ergogenic properties (Kim *et al*, 2005).

The four main classes of compounds in the ginseng root are: alkaloids, polypeptides,

polysaccharides, and ginsenosides. Polysaccharides, which constitute 50- 60% of the ginseng root have been found to possess immunostimulatory activities and have thus been formulated and commercialized as Cold-Fx (CV Technologies, 2008). Cold-Fx was approved by Health Canada with the comprehensive treatment claim of "*helps reduce the frequency, severity and duration of cold and flu symptoms by boosting the immune system*" (Health Canada, 2008). Nonetheless, the principal pharmacologic activities of the ginseng root have been predominantly attributed to ginsenosides (Kim *et al*, 1998; Kitts & Hu, 2000; Lee *et al*, 1997; Yun *et al*, 2001).

Ginsenosides are tri-terpenoid glycoside saponins with a chemical structure consisting of a steroid nucleus to which is bound one or more sugar moieties. Shibata et al. isolated ginsenosides and established their nomenclature according to their Rf (the distance travelled by the sample or analyte divided by distance travelled by the solvent front) values on thin layer chromatography. Thirty five kinds of ginsenosides have been identified thus far, based on the difference in their aglycone (non-sugar structure). These include 22 of 20-(S)-protopanaxadiol type (e.g. Rb1, Rb2, Rc, Rd, Rg3, Rg3, and Rh2), 12 of 20-(S)-protopanaxatriol type (e.g. Re, Rf and Rg1), and 1 of oleanolic acid type (e.g. Ro) (Chan *et al*, 2000; Yun *et al*, 2001). Several of these ginsenosides have been shown to be strong promoters of apoptosis in various cancer models: rat glioma (Kim *et al*, 1999), human melanoma (Fei *et al*, 2002), ovarian cancer (Nakata *et al*, 1998), breast cancer (Oh *et al*, 1999), hepatocellular carcinoma (Park *et al*, 1997) as well as neuroblastoma (Kim *et al*, 2000).

When ginseng is taken orally,  $Rb_1$ ,  $Rb_2$ , and Rc are said to be converted into  $Rg_3$  in the stomach's acidic environment. Base et al. have shown that  $Rg_3$  is in turn transformed into  $Rh_2$  under the action of *Fusobactrium* sp. intestinal bacteria. They also demonstrated that a different

42

group of bacteria, including *Bacteroides* sp., *Eubacterium* sp., and *Bifidobacterium* sp. were capable of further converting Rh2 into 20(S) protopanaxadiol (aPPD) (Bae *et al*, 2002).

#### 1.4.1 Rh2

Rh2 is found in trace amounts within extracts from the roots of Panax ginseng C.A. Meyer, and is one of the major in vivo metabolic products of ginseng when taken orally. The chemical structure of Rh2 consists of a steroid nucleus and a glucose sugar moiety. Rh2 has been reported to inhibit the growth of and induce anti-metastatic activity in B16 melanoma and ovarian cancer cells (Jia et al, 2004; Nakata et al, 1998; Wakabayashi et al, 1997). In human breast carcinoma MCF-7/MX cells which overexpress breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP), Rh2 significantly enhanced the cytotoxicity of mitoxantrone; an effect that was attributed to inhibition of mitoxantrone efflux and enhanced mitoxantrone uptake (Jin et al, 2006). Rh2 was also found to have a G1 phasespecific cell cycle arrest with associated suppression of cdk2 and cyclin E-dependent histone kinase activities apparently as a consequence of upregulation of p21 which binds and inactivates cdk2 (Oh et al, 1999). Xie et al. have also shown that Rh2 behaves synergistically with paclitaxel in cultured LNCaP cells, an androgen-sensitive human prostate cancer cell line. In the same study, it was also reported that oral treatment of LNCaP tumors with Rh2 produced a significant decrease in tumor growth which was accompanied with a significant decrease in serum prostate specific antigen (PSA) when combined with intravenously administered paclitaxel (Xie et al, 2006). Nakata et al. demonstrated that a daily oral administration of Rh2 to nude mice bearing HRA human ovarian cancer xenograft caused an inhibitory effect comparable to a weekly administration of 4 mg/kg of cisplatin (Nakata et al, 1998). Like most ginsenosides, Rh2 treated mice showed no signs of toxicity while nearly half of cisplatin-treated mice had to be terminated due to acute body weight

loss. Interestingly, Nakata *et al* attributed the therapeutic effects of Rh2 to enhanced Natural killer cells (NK) activity (Nakata *et al*, 1998). Recently, Wang et al. showed that Rh2 induced cell cycle arrest in the G1 phase and apoptosis in androgen-dependent LNCaP and castrate-resistant PC-3 prostate cancer cells (Wang *et al*, 2008c).

#### 1.4.2 aPPD

aPPD, the aglycone of Rh2, is a gastrointestinally-derived metabolite of *Panax Ginseng* C.A. Meyer as it has been shown that Rh2 could be degraded through deglycosylation to aPPD (Ota *et al*, 1991). It has been suggested that this degradation was observed in the intestine, following oral administration of Rh2 (Xie *et al*, 2005). aPPD has been shown to be a strong promoter of apoptosis (Popovich & Kitts, 2002; Wang *et al*, 2008b), an inhibitor of THP-1 leukemia cell growth, an inducer of DNA fragmentation resulting in build up of sub-G1 cells (Popovich & Kitts, 2002). In human breast carcinoma MCF-7 cells, aPPD significantly enhanced the cytotoxicity of mitoxantrone, inhibited MX efflux, increased mitoxantrone uptake, and inhibited BCRP-associated vanadate sensitive ATPase activity (Jin *et al*, 2006). aPPD has also been established as an inducer of anti-estrogen activity in breast cancer cells (Yu *et al*, 2007) and of pro-apoptosis/autophagy effect in glioma cells (Liu *et al*, 2007). Recently, Wang et al. reported that aPPD also induced cell cycle arrest in the G1 phase and apoptosis in androgen-dependent LNCaP and castrate-resistant PC-3 prostate cancer cells (Wang *et al*, 2008c).

## **1.5** Development of Drug Combinations

The combination of drugs may lead to therapeutic or pharmacokinetic drug-drug interactions.

### **1.5.1** Therapeutic drug-drug interaction

Therapeutic outcomes of a combination can be synergistic, additive, or antagonistic. Significantly, the terms synergy, antagonism, and additivity constitute a consensus terminology that emerged from a discussion of experts in pharmacology, toxicology, and biometry (Greco *et al*, 1992). Synergy/antagonism can be defined *as "a greater/lesser pharmacological effect for a twodrug combination than what would be predicted for "no interaction" from the knowledge of the effects of each drug individually"* (Greco *et al*, 1995). This definition makes a "null" or "no interaction" assumption. Two dominant empirical null reference models have been used to establish the foundation of the drug-drug interaction terminology: the Loewe additivity and the Bliss independence models (Bliss, 1939; Loewe & Muischnek, 1926). In the Lowe additivity model, the concentrations (doses) of the drugs in a combination are compared to the concentrations (doses) of the drugs alone that produce the same effect (e.g. 50% inhibition) and the relationship is described by the equation:

$$1 = \frac{D_1}{ID_{X,1}} + \frac{D_2}{ID_{X,2}}$$
(1)

Where  $D_1$  and  $D_2$  are the concentrations of drugs 1 and 2 that yield x% inhibition in the combination.  $ID_{x,1}$  and  $ID_{x,2}$  are the concentrations of each drug that yield x% inhibition when used alone. The Bliss independence model estimates the effect of the combination of drugs combined

based on their respective effects when used alone. The combination effect estimate is then compared with the observed combination data from the experiment and the relationship is expressed as:

$$\mathbf{fu}_{12} = \mathbf{fu}_1 \mathbf{fu}_2 \tag{2}$$

Where  $fu_1$ ,  $fu_2$ , and  $fu_{12}$  are the fractions of possible response (i.e. 50% inhibition) for drug 1, drug 2, and their combination, respectively.

Most methods for assessing therapeutic drug-drug interactions use either the Lowe additivity or the Bliss independence as a null reference model. Methods that use the Lowe additivity include: the isobologram by hand, interaction index of Berenbaum (Berenbaum, 1977), median-effect method of Chou and Talalay (Chou & Talalay, 1984), mutually exclusive model method of Berenbaum (Berenbaum, 1985), bivariate spline fitting (Suhnel, 1990), parametric response surface approaches of Greco et al. (Greco *et al*, 1990) and Weinstein et al. (Weinstein *et al*, 1990), approach of Gessner (Gessner, 1974), parametric response surface approach of Greco and Lawrence (Greco & Lawrence, 1988), and the use of the multivariate linear logistic model (Brunden *et al*, 1988; Carter *et al*, 1986; Carter *et al*, 1988; Carter *et al*, 1983). The Bliss independence model is used as a null reference model by several approaches also including, the fractional product method of Webb (Webb, 1963), the method of Valeriote and Lin (Valeriote & Lin, 1975), the method of Drewinko *et* al. (Drewinko *et al*, 1976), the method of Steel and Peckham (Steel & Peckham, 1979), and the method of Prichard and Shipman (Prichard & Shipman, 1990).

Although both the Lowe additive and the Bliss independence models are legitimate empirical reference standards for "no interaction", the Bliss independent model has one convincing

argument against its use. Since the Bliss model implies that two agents do not physically or chemically or biologically cooperate, i.e. each agent acts independently of the other, its application is restricted to scenarios where drugs in a combination are known to affect different biochemical sites and not a similar one. This is considered a serious limitation of this model since drug combinations in search of synergy would involve, more often than not, agents with only partially known mechanisms of action. The use of the Bliss model would then be relegated for agents with well-defined mechanisms of action only. This limitation of the Bliss model presents the Lowe additivity as a superior model (Greco et al, 1995). In that perspective, approaches that use the Bliss independence as the "no interaction" model for assessing therapeutic drug-drug interactions are subject to the same disadvantage. Amongst approaches using the Lowe additivity model, the isobologram by hand is the simplest and least expensive. This approach is similar to the interaction index calculation of Berenbaum (Berenbaum, 1977), requiring only equipments such as the pencil, ruler, and graph paper. The drawback of these approaches includes excessively time-consumming to plot. In addition, they lack an obvious summary measure of the intensity of interaction, an objective statistical procedure, and they require that the data range encompasses the  $IC_x$  level. The mutually exclusive model method of Berenbaum (Berenbaum, 1985) is a computer similated version of the interaction index calculation of Berenbaum. Accordingly, although superior, its most significant advantage is a lack of an obvious summary measure of the intensity of interaction. Other approaches using the Lowe additivity model include both non-parametric (does not require an a priori assumption) and parametric (requires an a priori assumption) approaches. Non-parametric approaches such as the Bivariate spline fitting (Suhnel, 1990) and the method of Prichard and Shipman (Prichard & Shipman, 1990), although very flexible, have the disadvantage of being mostly exploratory approaches and require a large number of regularly dispersed points for fitting

with bivariate splines (a special functions defined piecewise by polynomials, in the case of the Bivariate spline fitting method). Parametric approaches include models of Greco et al. (Greco *et al*, 1990) and Weinstein et al. (Weinstein *et al*, 1990). Contrary to other approaches presented thus far, parametric models are rigorous and provide a quantitative measure of the intensity of interaction, a measure of its uncertainty, and an objective statistical procedure. Their main disadvantages include the requirement for advanced statistical and computing expertise and the fact that different parametric models sometimes lead to different conclusions from the same data set. The median-effect method (MEP) of Chou and Talalay (Chou & Talalay, 1984) is arguably the most influential of all drug interaction assessment methods introduced since 1970. MEP was developed from the law of mass action and an enzyme kinetic model (Chou & Talalay, 1984). The MEP equation is represented by

$$\frac{f_a}{f_u} = \frac{D}{\left(D_m\right)^m} \tag{3}$$

Where  $f_a$  is the fraction affected by the drug,  $f_u$  is the unaffected fraction (1-fa), D is the dose of the drug, Dm is the median-effect dose (signifies drug potency) and m is an exponent signifying the shape of the dose-effect curve. This equation determines whether the effect of a drug combination is greater than expected (synergistic) based on the effect of the single agents. The MEP defines also the combination index (CI) function, calculated using

$$CI = \frac{(D)_1}{(D_x)_i} + \frac{(D)_2}{(D_x)_2}$$
(4)

$$CI = \frac{(D)_1}{(D_x)_1} + \frac{(D)_2}{(D_x)_2} + \frac{(D)_1(D)_2}{(D_x)_1(D_x)_2}$$
(5)
Where  $D_1$  and  $D_2$  are the doses of drug 1 and drug 2.  $D_x$  refers to the dose of drug required to produce an effect of x percent. Equation 4 and 5 apply to mutually exclusive and mutually nonexclusive drugs respectively. In a drug combination, CI < 1, CI > 1, and CI = 1 indicate synergy (a more than expected additive effect), antagonism (a less than expected additive effect), and additivity, respectively. The MEP is also used to obtain the Dose Reduction Index (DRI), a measure of the extent to which the dose of each drug, in a synergistic combination, is potentially reduced at a given effect level ( $IC_{50}$ ) compared with the doses for each drug alone.

$$DRI = \frac{D_x}{D_c}$$
(6)

Where  $D_x$  is the single drug dose required to produce an effect of x percent (50%). Dc is the dose of the drug in a combination that generates the same effect.

The most important advantages of the MEP includes the consideration that contrary to the other approaches, its fundamental equations were developed from basic mass action enzyme kinetics, thereby qualifying it as the only approach where estimated parameters have the potential of being biologically meaningful. In addition, the MEP uses an established statistical approach, the linear regression, and requires fewer data points compared to the other methods. The availability of the MEP of Chou and Talalay in affordable software also contributes to its wider use. Two key disadvantages of the MEP approach have been reported: (i) Other investigators have convincingly showed that the CI equation for the mutually nonexclusive model (Equation 5) was slightly inaccurate (Lam *et al*, 1991; Syracuse & Greco, 1986) and led to artifacts in the CI vs fa plot. (ii) There is a lack of practical guidance from Chou and Talalay for fa  $\leq 0$  or fa  $\geq 1$ . The MEP software

does not accommodate these values but decision to modify them is left to the investigator despite the fact that it critically affects the final result.

In conclusion, the MEP method of Chou and Talalay appears to be the only relevant method for biological applications since it was derived from mass action enzyme kinetics. In addition to using an established statistical approach, it is the most convenient and accessible approach considering that it requires very few data points to be robust and its software is both affordable and practical in its use.

#### 1.5.2 Pharmacokinetic drug-drug interaction

Drug-drug interactions may affect the pharmacological behavior of the drugs involved in several ways including: (i) alteration of the serum concentration, (ii) alteration of hepatic metabolism due to induction or inhibition of hepatic enzymes by drugs such as Phenobarbital (inducer) and cimetidine (inhibitor), (iii) inhibition of cytochrome P450 enzymes by drugs such as quinidine and ketoconazole (Health Canada, 1994), and (iv) inhibition of drug transporters. It can be inferred that the most important known drug-drug interactions involve the modulation of drug metabolism and transport processes. Significantly, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) requires that the metabolism of an Investigational New Drug (IND) be defined during drug development and that its interactions with other drugs be explored as part of an adequate assessment of its safety and effectiveness (FDA, 1999).

# 1.5.2.1 Cytochrome P450-mediated drug-drug interactions

The blood concentration of an administered drug is affected by its absorption, distribution, metabolism and/or excretion. Elimination of a drug or its metabolites occurs by metabolism or

excretion. Although numerous drug-metabolizing enzymes are involved in metabolic drug interactions, the cytochrome P450 family of enzymes (CYP) appears to be the most prominent player (Guengerich, 1997; Lin, 2006; Parkinson, 1996). Studies in laboratory animals demonstrate that CYP is present in various tisues with its highest level in the hepatic endoplasmic reticulum and the small intestine mucosa (Hardwick et al, 1983; Leighton & Kemper, 1984; Taniguchi et al, 1980). It is established that three members of the CYP family play a significant role in drug metabolism in the vertebrates, namely CYP1, 2, and 3, all highly expressed in the liver but also present in other tissues (Ding & Kaminsky, 2003; Lin & Lu, 1998). CYP1 which is also significantly present in the lung, small intestine, and placenta are involved in the metabolism of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, heterocyclic compounds, methylxanthines, and aromatic amines (Gonzalez et al, 1992). CYP2 and 3 are also present in high concentration in the small intestinal epithelium. They are involved in the metabolism of various organic chemicals, drugs, and steroids, including the  $\beta$ -hydroxylation of testosterone (Crespi *et al.*, 1989; Fuhr *et al.*, 1992a; Fuhr *et al.*, 1992b; Song et al, 1986; Umeno et al, 1988). CYPs are known to catalyze more than forty different types of reactions, including hydroxylations but also including deaminations, desulfurations, dehalogenations, epoxidations, N-, S-, and O-dealkylations, N-oxidations, peroxidations, and sulfoxidations (Coon et al, 1996; Danielson, 2002; Omura, 1999).

It is estimated that the metabolism of more than 50% of all drugs known to be metabolized by the CYP family is carried out by the CYP3A sub-family (Benet, 1996). CYP3A members include CYP3A4, 5, and 7. Of all CYP3A family members, CYP3A4 is the most prominently expressed in the liver, with an average of 29% of the total P450 concentration (Shimada *et al*, 1994). The activity of CYP3A4 has been shown to be competitively inhibited by ginsenoside

51

Rh1(Liu *et al*, 2006a), and ginseng intestinal bacterial metabolites compound K, aPPD, and aPPT (Liu *et al*, 2006b).

# 1.5.2.2 Drug transporters modulation of drug-drug interactions

P-glycoprotein (P-gp), which is encoded by the multidrug resistance 1 gene (MDR1), and the multidrug resistance-associated protein 1 (MRP1), are two members of the mammalian superfamily of ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters which mediate the movement of various substrates including simple ions, complex lipids and xenobiotics. One of the most common reasons for tumor cells developing a multidrug resistant phenotype is the overexpression of P-gp or MRP1, both capable of moving drugs and other substances through a cellular efflux against a concentration gradient using the energy of ATP hydrolysis (Lepper *et al*, 2005).

The ABC gene products, including ABCB1 (P-glycoprotein) and ABCG2 (also known as breast cancer-resistance protein, BCRP; mitoxantrone-resistance protein, MXR; or ABC transporter in placenta, ABCP) influence oral absorption and disposition of a wide variety of drugs. As a result, the expression levels of these proteins in humans influence an individual's susceptibility to certain drug-induced side effects, interactions, and treatment efficacy (Lepper *et al*, 2005). P-gp is expressed in many cells lining the luminal surface of several tissues known for their excretionary and barrier functions, such as the liver, kidney, small intestine, the blood-brain barrier, and the blood-testes barrier (Thiebaut *et al*, 1987; Thiebaut *et al*, 1989). In chemotherapy, coadministration of cytotoxic anticancer drugs with known P-gp modulators are used to increase the therapeutic effectiveness of these drugs. This co-administration alters the pharmacokinetics of the chemotherapeutic drugs and contributes to overcoming drug resistance. Significantly, in women with ovarian cancer, clinical resistance to paclitaxel, a P-gp substrate, was overcome in approximately 20% of the cases with the addition of PSC 833, a highly effective P-gp modulator (Oza, 2002). Verapamil, the calcium channel blocker, was one of the first compounds observed to be a P-gp inhibitor based on its ability to increase the sensitivity of murine leukemia cells to vinblastine (Tsuruo *et al*, 1981). More recently, Kim et al. showed that ginsenoside Rg3 inhibited P-gp expression and reversed P-gp-mediated multidring resistance in the multidrug-resistant human fibroblast carcinoma cells (Kim *et al*, 2003).

## 1.5.3 Benefits of drug combination in cancer treatment

Clinical evidence demonstrates a correlation between the number of drugs used in a combination regimen and the percent of complete response and cure rate (Frei & Antman, 1997). Combination therapy offers great benefits in comparison to single-agent therapy by providing: (i) Maximal cell kill within the range of tolerable toxicity; (ii) Diverse interactions between the drugs and the heterogeneous tumour; and (iii) The potential to prevent or slow the subsequent development of cellular drug resistance. Combination regimens of chemotherapeutic drugs were developed in the 1960s and early 1970s, following the establishment that single drug administration at clinically tolerable dosages failed to cure cancer. These drug combinations were based on biochemical actions of the individual drugs but still remained mostly ineffective in curing cancer. It is now suggested that drug selection for the most effective drug combinations should comply with the following principles: (i) Individual drugs should be partially effective against the same tumour. (ii) Toxicity of individual drugs should not overlap, (iii) Drugs should be used at their optimal dose and schedule; and (iv) The biochemical, molecular, and pharmacokinetic interactions of individual drugs in the combination should be investigated (Chu & Devita, 2005). In addition to the aforementioned benefits, combination therapy may involve an effective drug efflux transporter

53

inhibitor and its therapeutically effective substrate. The inhibition of efflux transporters may lead to chemosensitization and reversed multidrug resistance (Litman *et al*, 2001; Perez-Tomas, 2006).

#### 1.6 Bibliography

Aapro M, Johnson J (2005) Chemotherapy-induced emesis in elderly cancer patients: the role of 5-HT3-receptor antagonists in the first 24 hours. *Gerontology* **51:** 287-96

Aasland R, Akslen LA, Varhaug JE, Lillehaug JR (1990) Co-expression of the genes encoding transforming growth factor-alpha and its receptor in papillary carcinomas of the thyroid. Int J Cancer 46: 382-7

Aggarwal BB, Pocsik E, Ali-Osman F, Totpal K (1994) Transfection of cells with transforming growth factor-alpha leads to cellular resistance to the antiproliferative effects of tumor necrosis factor. *FEBS Lett* **354**: 12-6

Albelda SM, Buck CA (1990) Integrins and other cell adhesion molecules. FASEB J 4: 2868-80

Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Walter P (2002) *Molecular Biology of The Cell*, Fourth edn. New York, New York: Garland Science

Albrecht M, Jiang W, Kumi-Diaka J, Lansky EP, Gommersall LM, Patel A, Mansel RE, Neeman I, Geldof AA, Campbell MJ (2004) Pomegranate extracts potently suppress proliferation, xenograft growth, and invasion of human prostate cancer cells. *J Med Food* **7**: 274-83

Alexander P, Currie G (1984) Concomitant synthesis of growth factors and their receptors--an aspect of malignant transformation. *Biochem Pharmacol* 33: 941-3

Anderson AR, Weaver AM, Cummings PT, Quaranta V (2006) Tumor morphology and phenotypic evolution driven by selective pressure from the microenvironment. *Cell* **127**: 905-15

Antequera F, Boyes J, Bird A (1990) High levels of de novo methylation and altered chromatin structure at CpG islands in cell lines. *Cell* **62**: 503-14

Apakama I, Robinson MC, Walter NM, Charlton RG, Royds JA, Fuller CE, Neal DE, Hamdy FC (1996) bcl-2 overexpression combined with p53 protein accumulation correlates with hormone-refractory prostate cancer. *Br J Cancer* **74:** 1258-62

Ayyathurai R, Ananthakrishnan K, Rajasundaram R, Knight RJ, Toussi H, Srinivasan V (2006) Predictive ability of partin tables 2001 in a Welsh population. *Urol Int* **76:** 217-22

Bae EA, Han MJ, Choo MK, Park SY, Kim DH (2002) Metabolism of 20(S)- and 20(R)ginsenoside Rg3 by human intestinal bacteria and its relation to in vitro biological activities. *Biol Pharm Bull* **25:** 58-63.

Bae I, Fan S, Bhatia K, Kohn KW, Fornace AJ, Jr., O'Connor PM (1995) Relationships between G1 arrest and stability of the p53 and p21Cip1/Waf1 proteins following gamma-irradiation of human lymphoma cells. *Cancer Res* 55: 2387-93

Bagi CM (2005) Targeting of therapeutic agents to bone to treat metastatic cancer. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 57: 995-1010

Baltimore D (1970) RNA-dependent DNA polymerase in virions of RNA tumour viruses. *Nature* **226:** 1209-11

Barbosa MS, Edmonds C, Fisher C, Schiller JT, Lowy DR, Vousden KH (1990) The region of the HPV E7 oncoprotein homologous to adenovirus E1a and Sv40 large T antigen contains separate domains for Rb binding and casein kinase II phosphorylation. *EMBO J* **9**: 153-60

Barnhart BC, Peter ME (2003) The TNF receptor 1: a split personality complex. Cell 114: 148-50

Bates S, Parry D, Bonetta L, Vousden K, Dickson C, Peters G (1994) Absence of cyclin D/cdk complexes in cells lacking functional retinoblastoma protein. *Oncogene* **9:** 1633-40

Baylin SB, Herman JG (2000) DNA hypermethylation in tumorigenesis: epigenetics joins genetics. *Trends Genet* **16**: 168-74

Bellacosa A, Testa JR, Staal SP, Tsichlis PN (1991) A retroviral oncogene, akt, encoding a serine-threonine kinase containing an SH2-like region. *Science* **254**: 274-7

Benet LZ (1996) Pharmacokinetics. In *The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics*. New York: McGraw-Hill

Berenbaum MC (1977) Synergy, additivism and antagonism in immunosuppression. A critical review. *Clin Exp Immunol* **28:** 1-18

Berenbaum MC (1985) The expected effect of a combination of agents: the general solution. J Theor Biol 114: 413-31

Bernard D, Pourtier-Manzanedo A, Gil J, Beach DH (2003) Myc confers androgen-independent prostate cancer cell growth. *J Clin Invest* **112**: 1724-31

Bernards R, Weinberg RA (2002) A progression puzzle. Nature 418: 823

Berthold DR, Pond GR, Soban F, de Wit R, Eisenberger M, Tannock IF (2008) Docetaxel plus prednisone or mitoxantrone plus prednisone for advanced prostate cancer: updated survival in the TAX 327 study. *J Clin Oncol* **26**: 242-5

Bhalla KN (2003) Microtubule-targeted anticancer agents and apoptosis. Oncogene 22: 9075-86

Bhandari MS, Crook J, Hussain M (2005) Should intermittent androgen deprivation be used in routine clinical practice? *J Clin Oncol* **23**: 8212-8

Bird A (2002) DNA methylation patterns and epigenetic memory. Genes Dev 16: 6-21

Bliss CI (1939) The toxicity of poisons applied jointly. Annals of Applied Biology 26: 585-615

Bonfini L, Karlovich CA, Dasgupta C, Banerjee U (1992) The Son of sevenless gene product: a putative activator of Ras. *Science* **255**: 603-6

Bookstein R, Rio P, Madreperla SA, Hong F, Allred C, Grizzle WE, Lee WH (1990) Promoter deletion and loss of retinoblastoma gene expression in human prostate carcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 87: 7762-6

Bosch FX, Munoz N, de Sanjose S, Izarzugaza I, Gili M, Viladiu P, Tormo MJ, Moreo P, Ascunce N, Gonzalez LC, et al. (1992) Risk factors for cervical cancer in Colombia and Spain. *Int J Cancer* **52**: 750-8

Boynton RF, Huang Y, Blount PL, Reid BJ, Raskind WH, Haggitt RC, Newkirk C, Resau JH, Yin J, McDaniel T, et al. (1991) Frequent loss of heterozygosity at the retinoblastoma locus in human esophageal cancers. *Cancer Res* **51**: 5766-9

Brooks JD, Weinstein M, Lin X, Sun Y, Pin SS, Bova GS, Epstein JI, Isaacs WB, Nelson WG (1998) CG island methylation changes near the GSTP1 gene in prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 7: 531-6

Brown DC, Gatter KC (2002) Ki67 protein: the immaculate deception? Histopathology 40: 2-11

Brunden MN, Vidmar TJ, McKean JW (1988) Drug Interaction and Lethality Analysis. Boca Raton: CRC Press

Bubendorf L, Kononen J, Koivisto P, Schraml P, Moch H, Gasser TC, Willi N, Mihatsch MJ, Sauter G, Kallioniemi OP (1999) Survey of gene amplifications during prostate cancer progression by high-throughout fluorescence in situ hybridization on tissue microarrays. *Cancer Res* **59**: 803-6

Canada H (2008) Natural Health Products Directorate

Cantley LC, Neel BG (1999) New insights into tumor suppression: PTEN suppresses tumor formation by restraining the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/AKT pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **96:** 4240-5

Capon DJ, Chen EY, Levinson AD, Seeburg PH, Goeddel DV (1983) Complete nucleotide sequences of the T24 human bladder carcinoma oncogene and its normal homologue. *Nature* **302**: 33-7

Carter BS, Beaty TH, Steinberg GD, Childs B, Walsh PC (1992) Mendelian inheritance of familial prostate cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 89: 3367-71

Carter WH, Chinchilli VM, Wilson JD, Campbell ED, Kessler FK, Carchman RA (1986) An asymptotic confidence region for the ED100p from the logistic response surface for a combination of gents. *American Statistician* **40**: 124-128

Carter WH, Gennings C, Staniswalis JG, Campbell ED, White KL (1988) A statistical approach to the construction and analysis of isobolograms. *Journal of the American College of Toxicology* 7: 963-973

Carter WH, Wampler GL, Stablein DM (1983) Regression Analysis of Survival Data in Cancer Chemotherapy. New York: Marcel Dekker

Cha TL, Qiu L, Chen CT, Wen Y, Hung MC (2005) Emodin down-regulates androgen receptor and inhibits prostate cancer cell growth. *Cancer Res* 65: 2287-95

Chan TA, Glockner S, Yi JM, Chen W, Van Neste L, Cope L, Herman JG, Velculescu V, Schuebel KE, Ahuja N, Baylin SB (2008) Convergence of mutation and epigenetic alterations identifies common genes in cancer that predict for poor prognosis. *PLoS Med* **5**: e114

Chan TW, But PP, Cheng SW, Kwok IM, Lau FW, Xu HX (2000) Differentiation and authentication of Panax ginseng, Panax quinquefolius, and ginseng products by using HPLC/MS. *Anal Chem* **72**: 1281-7

Chang HW, Aoki M, Fruman D, Auger KR, Bellacosa A, Tsichlis PN, Cantley LC, Roberts TM, Vogt PK (1997) Transformation of chicken cells by the gene encoding the catalytic subunit of PI 3-kinase. *Science* **276**: 1848-50

Chang Y, Zuka M, Perez-Pinera P, Astudillo A, Mortimer J, Berenson JR, Deuel TF (2007) Secretion of pleiotrophin stimulates breast cancer progression through remodeling of the tumor microenvironment. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **104:** 10888-93

Chao R, Khan W, Hannun YA (1992) Retinoblastoma protein dephosphorylation induced by Derythro-sphingosine. *J Biol Chem* **267**: 23459-62

Chatterjee B (2003) The role of the androgen receptor in the development of prostatic hyperplasia and prostate cancer. *Mol Cell Biochem* **253**: 89-101

Chen S, Gao J, Halicka HD, Huang X, Traganos F, Darzynkiewicz Z (2005) The cytostatic and cytotoxic effects of oridonin (Rubescenin), a diterpenoid from Rabdosia rubescens, on tumor cells of different lineage. *Int J Oncol* 26: 579-88

Cher ML, Chew K, Rosenau W, Carroll PR (1995) Cellular proliferation in prostatic adenocarcinoma as assessed by bromodeoxyuridine uptake and Ki-67 and PCNA expression. *Prostate* **26:** 87-93

Chou TC, Talalay P (1984) Quantitative analysis of dose-effect relationships: the combined effects of multiple drugs or enzyme inhibitors. *Adv Enzyme Regul* 22: 27-55

Christofori G, Semb H (1999) The role of the cell-adhesion molecule E-cadherin as a tumoursuppressor gene. *Trends Biochem Sci* 24: 73-6

Chu E, Devita VT (2005) Principles of Medical Oncology. In *Principles & Practice of Oncology*, 7th edn. Philidelphia: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins

Cianciara J (1975) Clinical and immunologic studies on blood donors with chronic asymptomatic infection with hepatitis type B virus (HBV). *Acta Med Pol* **16:** 111-26

Clarke AR, Purdie CA, Harrison DJ, Morris RG, Bird CC, Hooper ML, Wyllie AH (1993) Thymocyte apoptosis induced by p53-dependent and independent pathways. *Nature* **362**: 849-52

Cobrinik D, Whyte P, Peeper DS, Jacks T, Weinberg RA (1993) Cell cycle-specific association of E2F with the p130 E1A-binding protein. *Genes Dev* 7: 2392-404

Coon MJ, Vaz AD, Bestervelt LL (1996) Cytochrome P450 2: peroxidative reactions of diversozymes. *Faseb J* 10: 428-34.

Coulondre C, Miller JH, Farabaugh PJ, Gilbert W (1978) Molecular basis of base substitution hotspots in Escherichia coli. *Nature* 274: 775-80

Counter CM, Avilion AA, LeFeuvre CE, Stewart NG, Greider CW, Harley CB, Bacchetti S (1992) Telomere shortening associated with chromosome instability is arrested in immortal cells which express telomerase activity. *EMBO J* **11**: 1921-9

Crespi CL, Langenbach R, Rudo K, Chen YT, Davies RL (1989) Transfection of a human cytochrome P-450 gene into the human lymphoblastoid cell line, AHH-1, and use of the recombinant cell line in gene mutation assays. *Carcinogenesis* **10**: 295-301

Dameron KM, Volpert OV, Tainsky MA, Bouck N (1994) Control of angiogenesis in fibroblasts by p53 regulation of thrombospondin-1. *Science* **265**: 1582-4

Danielson PB (2002) The cytochrome P450 superfamily: biochemistry, evolution and drug metabolism in humans. *Curr Drug Metab* **3:** 561-97.

database USNCIP (2007) Staging of prostate cancer image

Datta S, Hoenerhoff MJ, Bommi P, Sainger R, Guo WJ, Dimri M, Band H, Band V, Green JE, Dimri GP (2007) Bmi-1 cooperates with H-Ras to transform human mammary epithelial cells via dysregulation of multiple growth-regulatory pathways. *Cancer Res* **67**: 10286-95

De Wit R (2008) Chemotherapy in hormone-refractory prostate cancer. BJU Int 101 Suppl 2: 11-5

Debes JD, Tindall DJ (2004) Mechanisms of androgen-refractory prostate cancer. *N Engl J Med* **351:** 1488-90

Delongchamps NB, Singh A, Haas GP (2006) The role of prevalence in the diagnosis of prostate cancer. *Cancer Control* **13**: 158-68

Denhardt DT, Edwards DR, Parfett CL (1986) Gene expression during the mammalian cell cycle. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 865: 83-125

Devlin HL, Mack PC, Burich RA, Gumerlock PH, Kung HJ, Mudryj M, Devere White RW (2008) Impairment of the DNA Repair and Growth Arrest Pathways by p53R2 Silencing Enhances DNA Damage-Induced Apoptosis in a p53-Dependent Manner in Prostate Cancer Cells. *Mol Cancer Res* **6**: 808-18

Di Fiore PP, Pierce JH, Kraus MH, Segatto O, King CR, Aaronson SA (1987) erbB-2 is a potent oncogene when overexpressed in NIH/3T3 cells. *Science* 237: 178-82

Dianov G, Price A, Lindahl T (1992) Generation of single-nucleotide repair patches following excision of uracil residues from DNA. *Mol Cell Biol* **12:** 1605-12

Ding X, Kaminsky LS (2003) Human extrahepatic cytochromes P450: function in xenobiotic metabolism and tissue-selective chemical toxicity in the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **43**: 149-73

Donato F, Gelatti U, Limina RM, Fattovich G (2006) Southern Europe as an example of interaction between various environmental factors: a systematic review of the epidemiologic evidence. *Oncogene* **25:** 3756-70

Downward J (1998) Mechanisms and consequences of activation of protein kinase B/Akt. Curr Opin Cell Biol 10: 262-7

Drewinko B, Loo TL, Brown B, Gottlieb JA, Freireich EJ (1976) Combination chemotherapy in vitro with adriamycin. Observations of additive, antagonistic, and synergistic effects when used in two-drug combinations on cultured human lymphoma cells. *Cancer Biochem Biophys* 1: 187-95

Eastham JA, Stapleton AM, Gousse AE, Timme TL, Yang G, Slawin KM, Wheeler TM, Scardino PT, Thompson TC (1995) Association of p53 mutations with metastatic prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 1: 1111-8

Eble JA, Haier J (2006) Integrins in cancer treatment. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 6: 89-105

Edwards BK, Howe HL, Ries LA, Thun MJ, Rosenberg HM, Yancik R, Wingo PA, Jemal A, Feigal EG (2002) Annual report to the nation on the status of cancer, 1973-1999, featuring implications of age and aging on U.S. cancer burden. *Cancer* **94**: 2766-92

El-Awady S, Morshed M, El-Shobaky M, Abo-Hashem M, Ghazy H (2008) Potential role of bcl-2 expression and apoptotic body index in colorectal cancer. *Hepatogastroenterology* **55**: 76-81

Elam JL, Carpenter JS, Shu XO, Boyapati S, Friedmann-Gilchrist J (2006) Methodological Issues in the Investigation of Ginseng as an Intervention for Fatigue. *Clin Nurse Spec* **20**: 183-189.

Ellis JM, Reddy P (2002) Effects of Panax ginseng on quality of life. Ann Pharmacother 36: 375-9

Esteller M, Hamilton SR, Burger PC, Baylin SB, Herman JG (1999) Inactivation of the DNA repair gene O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase by promoter hypermethylation is a common event in primary human neoplasia. *Cancer Res* **59:** 793-7

Esteller M, Risques RA, Toyota M, Capella G, Moreno V, Peinado MA, Baylin SB, Herman JG (2001) Promoter hypermethylation of the DNA repair gene O(6)-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase is associated with the presence of G:C to A:T transition mutations in p53 in human colorectal tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res* **61:** 4689-92

Esteller M, Toyota M, Sanchez-Cespedes M, Capella G, Peinado MA, Watkins DN, Issa JP, Sidransky D, Baylin SB, Herman JG (2000) Inactivation of the DNA repair gene O6methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase by promoter hypermethylation is associated with G to A mutations in K-ras in colorectal tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res* **60**: 2368-71

Fang WH, Modrich P (1993) Human strand-specific mismatch repair occurs by a bidirectional mechanism similar to that of the bacterial reaction. *J Biol Chem* **268**: 11838-44

Farla P, Hersmus R, Trapman J, Houtsmuller AB (2005) Antiandrogens prevent stable DNAbinding of the androgen receptor. *J Cell Sci* **118**: 4187-98

FDA (1999) Guidance for Industry-In Vivo Drug Metabolism/Drug Interaction Studies — Study Design, Data Analysis, and Recommendations for Dosing and Labeling Vol. 2008.

Fedi P, Tronick SR, Aaronson SA (1997) Growth Factors. In *Cancer Medicine*. Baltimore, MD: Williams and Wilkins

Fei XF, Wang BX, Tashiro S, Li TJ, Ma JS, Ikejima T (2002) Apoptotic effects of ginsenoside Rh2 on human malignant melanoma A375-S2 cells. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* 23: 315-22

Feldman BJ, Feldman D (2001) The development of androgen-independent prostate cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 1: 34-45

Fernandes-Alnemri T, Litwack G, Alnemri ES (1994) CPP32, a novel human apoptotic protein with homology to Caenorhabditis elegans cell death protein Ced-3 and mammalian interleukin-1 beta-converting enzyme. *J Biol Chem* **269**: 30761-4

Fidler IJ, Talmadge JE (1986) Evidence that intravenously derived murine pulmonary melanoma metastases can originate from the expansion of a single tumor cell. *Cancer Res* **46**: 5167-71

Foulds L (1954) The experimental study of tumor progression: a review. Cancer Res 14: 327-39

Fox SB, Persad RA, Royds J, Kore RN, Silcocks PB, Collins CC (1993) p53 and c-myc expression in stage A1 prostatic adenocarcinoma: useful prognostic determinants? *J Urol* **150**: 490-4

Frei E, Antman KH (1997) Combination Chemotherapy, Dose, and Schedule. In *Cancer Medicine*, Vol. 1, 4th edn. Baltimore, Md: Williams & Wilkins

Friedberg EC (2001) How nucleotide excision repair protects against cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 1: 22-33

Fuhr U, Doehmer J, Battula N, Wolfel C, Kudla C, Keita Y, Staib AH (1992a) Biotransformation of caffeine and theophylline in mammalian cell lines genetically engineered for expression of single cytochrome P450 isoforms. *Biochem Pharmacol* **43**: 225-35

Fuhr U, Woodcock BG, Siewert M (1992b) Verapamil and drug metabolism by the cytochrome P450 isoform CYP1A2. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 42: 463-4

Furr BJ, Tucker H (1996) The preclinical development of bicalutamide: pharmacodynamics and mechanism of action. *Urology* **47:** 13-25; discussion 29-32

Galmarini CM, Galmarini FC (2003) Multidrug resistance in cancer therapy: role of the microenvironment. *Curr Opin Investig Drugs* **4**: 1416-21

Geradts J, Hu SX, Lincoln CE, Benedict WF, Xu HJ (1994) Aberrant RB gene expression in routinely processed, archival tumor tissues determined by three different anti-RB antibodies. *Int J Cancer* **58**: 161-7

Gessner PK (1974) The isobolographic method applied to drug interactions. In *Drug Interactions*, pp 349-362. New York: Raven Press

Gidding CE, Kellie SJ, Kamps WA, de Graaf SS (1999) Vincristine revisited. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 29: 267-87

Gillis CN (1997) Panax ginseng pharmacology: a nitric oxide link? Biochem Pharmacol 54: 1-8

Gleason DF, Mellinger GT (1974) Prediction of prognosis for prostatic adenocarcinoma by combined histological grading and clinical staging. *J Urol* **111:** 58-64

Gonzalez FJ, Crespi CL, Czerwinski M, Gelboin HV (1992) Analysis of human cytochrome P450 catalytic activities and expression. *Tohoku J Exp Med* **168**: 67-72

Gorgoulis VG, Vassiliou LV, Karakaidos P, Zacharatos P, Kotsinas A, Liloglou T, Venere M, Ditullio RA, Jr., Kastrinakis NG, Levy B, Kletsas D, Yoneta A, Herlyn M, Kittas C, Halazonetis TD (2005) Activation of the DNA damage checkpoint and genomic instability in human precancerous lesions. *Nature* **434**: 907-13

Gospodarowicz D (1975) Purification of a fibroblast growth factor from bovine pituitary. *J Biol Chem* **250**: 2515-20

Grad JM, Dai JL, Wu S, Burnstein KL (1999) Multiple androgen response elements and a Myc consensus site in the androgen receptor (AR) coding region are involved in androgen-mediated up-regulation of AR messenger RNA. *Mol Endocrinol* **13**: 1896-911

Graeber TG, Peterson JF, Tsai M, Monica K, Fornace AJ, Jr., Giaccia AJ (1994) Hypoxia induces accumulation of p53 protein, but activation of a G1-phase checkpoint by low-oxygen conditions is independent of p53 status. *Mol Cell Biol* **14**: 6264-77

Greco WR, Bravo G, Parsons JC (1995) The search for synergy: a critical review from a response surface perspective. *Pharmacol Rev* 47: 331-85

(Year) Assessment of the degree of drug interaction where the response variable is discrete. *Proceedings of the Biopharmaceutical Section*. American Statistical Association

Greco WR, Park HS, Rustum YM (1990) Application of a new approach for the quantitation of drug synergism to the combination of cis-diamminedichloroplatinum and 1-beta-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine. *Cancer Res* **50**: 5318-27

Greco WR, Unkelbach HD, Poch G, Suhnel J, Kundi M, Bodeker W (1992) Consensus on concepts and terminology for interaction assessment. *Archives of complex environmental studies* **4**: 65-69

Greiner JW, Tobi M, Fisher PB, Langer JA, Pestka S (1985) Differential responsiveness of cloned mammary carcinoma cell populations to the human recombinant leukocyte interferon enhancement of tumor antigen expression. *Int J Cancer* **36**: 159-66

Grossfeld GD, Olumi AF, Connolly JA, Chew K, Gibney J, Bhargava V, Waldman FM, Carroll PR (1998) Locally recurrent prostate tumors following either radiation therapy or radical prostatectomy have changes in Ki-67 labeling index, p53 and bcl-2 immunoreactivity. *J Urol* **159**: 1437-43

Guastalla JP, 3rd, Dieras V (2003) The taxanes: toxicity and quality of life considerations in advanced ovarian cancer. Br J Cancer 89 Suppl 3: S16-22

Guengerich FP (1997) Role of cytochrome P450 enzymes in drug-drug interactions. *Adv Pharmacol* **43:** 7-35

Gupta S (2006) Prostate cancer chemoprevention: Current status and future prospects. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 

Gurgo C, Gallo RC (1987) Human retroviruses: HTLV-I, II, and III and their association with leukemia and AIDS. Ann N Y Acad Sci **511:** 350-69

Haldar S, Beatty C, Tsujimoto Y, Croce CM (1989) The bcl-2 gene encodes a novel G protein. Nature 342: 195-8

Hamilton SR (1992) Molecular genetics of colorectal carcinoma. Cancer 70: 1216-21

Hanahan D, Folkman J (1996) Patterns and emerging mechanisms of the angiogenic switch during tumorigenesis. *Cell* 86: 353-64

Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2000) The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100: 57-70

Hanawalt PC (2001) Controlling the efficiency of excision repair. Mutat Res 485: 3-13

Hapke S, Kessler H, Arroyo de Prada N, Benge A, Schmitt M, Lengyel E, Reuning U (2001) Integrin alpha(v)beta(3)/vitronectin interaction affects expression of the urokinase system in human ovarian cancer cells. *J Biol Chem* **276**: 26340-8

Hardwick JP, Gonzalez FJ, Kasper CB (1983) Cloning of DNA complementary to cytochrome P-450 induced by pregnenolone-16 alpha-carbonitrile. Characterization of its mRNA, gene, and induction response. *J Biol Chem* **258**: 10182-6

Harris CC (1996) p53 tumor suppressor gene: from the basic research laboratory to the clinic--an abridged historical perspective. *Carcinogenesis* 17: 1187-98

Hart IR, Easty D (1991) Tumor cell progression and differentiation in metastasis. Semin Cancer Biol 2: 87-95

Hart IR, Fidler IJ (1980) Role of organ selectivity in the determination of metastatic patterns of B16 melanoma. *Cancer Res* **40**: 2281-7

Hartwell LH, Weinert TA (1989) Checkpoints: controls that ensure the order of cell cycle events. *Science* **246**: 629-34

Hatakeyama M, Brill JA, Fink GR, Weinberg RA (1994) Collaboration of G1 cyclins in the functional inactivation of the retinoblastoma protein. *Genes Dev* 8: 1759-71

Hayward WS, Neel BG, Astrin SM (1981) Activation of a cellular onc gene by promoter insertion in ALV-induced lymphoid leukosis. *Nature* **290:** 475-80

Heidelberger C, Chaudhuri NK, Danneberg P, Mooren D, Griesbach L, Duschinsky R, Schnitzer RJ, Pleven E, Scheiner J (1957) Fluorinated pyrimidines, a new class of tumour-inhibitory compounds. *Nature* **179**: 663-6

Heinlein CA, Chang C (2004) Androgen receptor in prostate cancer. Endocr Rev 25: 276-308

Helin K, Lees JA, Vidal M, Dyson N, Harlow E, Fattaey A (1992) A cDNA encoding a pRBbinding protein with properties of the transcription factor E2F. *Cell* **70**: 337-50 Herbst RS, Khuri FR (2003) Mode of action of docetaxel - a basis for combination with novel anticancer agents. *Cancer Treat Rev* 29: 407-15

Herman JG, Civin CI, Issa JP, Collector MI, Sharkis SJ, Baylin SB (1997) Distinct patterns of inactivation of p15INK4B and p16INK4A characterize the major types of hematological malignancies. *Cancer Res* **57:** 837-41

Herman JG, Umar A, Polyak K, Graff JR, Ahuja N, Issa JP, Markowitz S, Willson JK, Hamilton SR, Kinzler KW, Kane MF, Kolodner RD, Vogelstein B, Kunkel TA, Baylin SB (1998) Incidence and functional consequences of hMLH1 promoter hypermethylation in colorectal carcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **95:** 6870-5

Hildesheim A, Herrero R, Castle PE, Wacholder S, Bratti MC, Sherman ME, Lorincz AT, Burk RD, Morales J, Rodriguez AC, Helgesen K, Alfaro M, Hutchinson M, Balmaceda I, Greenberg M, Schiffman M (2001) HPV co-factors related to the development of cervical cancer: results from a population-based study in Costa Rica. *Br J Cancer* 84: 1219-26

Hoedemaeker RF, Vis AN, Van Der Kwast TH (2000) Staging prostate cancer. *Microsc Res Tech* **51:** 423-9

Honeth G, Bendahl PO, Ringner M, Saal LH, Gruvberger-Saal SK, Lovgren K, Grabau D, Ferno M, Borg A, Hegardt C (2008) CD44+/CD24- phenotype is enriched in basal-like breast tumors. *Breast Cancer Res* **10**: R53

Hong B, Ji YH, Hong JH, Nam KY, Ahn TY (2002) A double-blind crossover study evaluating the efficacy of korean red ginseng in patients with erectile dysfunction: a preliminary report. *J Urol* **168:** 2070-3

Huang H, Cheville JC, Pan Y, Roche PC, Schmidt LJ, Tindall DJ (2001) PTEN induces chemosensitivity in PTEN-mutated prostate cancer cells by suppression of Bcl-2 expression. *J Biol Chem* **276**: 38830-6

Huang HJ, Yee JK, Shew JY, Chen PL, Bookstein R, Friedmann T, Lee EY, Lee WH (1988) Suppression of the neoplastic phenotype by replacement of the RB gene in human cancer cells. *Science* 242: 1563-6

Huggins C, Hodges CV (1941) Studies on prostatic cancer. I. The effect of castration, estrogen and androgen injection on serum phosphatases in metastatic carcinoma of the prostate. *Cancer Research* 1: 293-297

Hughes C, Murphy A, Martin C, Sheils O, O'Leary J (2005) Molecular pathology of prostate cancer. *J Clin Pathol* **58:** 673-84

Hytiroglou P, Park YN, Krinsky G, Theise ND (2007) Hepatic precancerous lesions and small hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gastroenterol Clin North Am* **36**: 867-87, vii

Ikeda K, Saitoh S, Suzuki Y, Kobayashi M, Tsubota A, Koida I, Arase Y, Fukuda M, Chayama K, Murashima N, Kumada H (1998) Disease progression and hepatocellular carcinogenesis in patients with chronic viral hepatitis: a prospective observation of 2215 patients. *J Hepatol* **28**: 930-8

Ikeda T, Liu QF, Danielpour D, Officer JB, Iio M, Leland FE, Sirbasku DA (1982) Identification of estrogen-inducible growth factors (estromedins) for rat and human mammary tumor cells in culture. *In Vitro* **18**: 961-79

Imai Y, Kimura T, Murakami A, Yajima N, Sakamaki K, Yonehara S (1999) The CED-4homologous protein FLASH is involved in Fas-mediated activation of caspase-8 during apoptosis. *Nature* **398**: 777-85

Isaacs JT (1999) The biology of hormone refractory prostate cancer. Why does it develop? Urol Clin North Am 26: 263-73

Ittmann MM, Wieczorek R (1996) Alterations of the retinoblastoma gene in clinically localized, stage B prostate adenocarcinomas. *Hum Pathol* 27: 28-34

Jagadeesh S, Kyo S, Banerjee PP (2006) Genistein represses telomerase activity via both transcriptional and posttranslational mechanisms in human prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Res* 66: 2107-15

Jemal A, Tiwari RC, Murray T, Ghafoor A, Samuels A, Ward E, Feuer EJ, Thun MJ (2004) Cancer statistics, 2004. *CA Cancer J Clin* 54: 8-29

Jenkins RB, Qian J, Lieber MM, Bostwick DG (1997) Detection of c-myc oncogene amplification and chromosomal anomalies in metastatic prostatic carcinoma by fluorescence in situ hybridization. *Cancer Res* **57:** 524-31

Jenster G (1999) The role of the androgen receptor in the development and progression of prostate cancer. *Semin Oncol* 26: 407-21

Jia WW, Bu X, Philips D, Yan H, Liu G, Chen X, Bush JA, Li G (2004) Rh2, a compound extracted from ginseng, hypersensitizes multidrug-resistant tumor cells to chemotherapy. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 82: 431-7

Jiang C, Lee HJ, Li GX, Guo J, Malewicz B, Zhao Y, Lee EO, Lee JH, Kim MS, Kim SH, Lu J (2006) Potent antiandrogen and androgen receptor activities of an Angelica gigas-containing herbal formulation: identification of decursin as a novel and active compound with implications for prevention and treatment of prostate cancer. *Cancer Res* **66**: 453-63

Jin-Tang Dong (2006) Prevalent mutations in prostate cancer. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry* **97**: 433-447

Jin J, Shahi S, Kang HK, Hendrik WVV, Fan T (2006) Metabolites of ginsenosides as novel BCRP inhibitors. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **345**: 1308-14

Jones PA, Baylin SB (2002) The fundamental role of epigenetic events in cancer. Nat Rev Genet 3: 415-28

Jones PA, Laird PW (1999) Cancer epigenetics comes of age. Nat Genet 21: 163-7

Jones PA, Wolkowicz MJ, Rideout WM, 3rd, Gonzales FA, Marziasz CM, Coetzee GA, Tapscott SJ (1990) De novo methylation of the MyoD1 CpG island during the establishment of immortal cell lines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 87: 6117-21

Jordan MA, Thrower D, Wilson L (1991) Mechanism of inhibition of cell proliferation by Vinca alkaloids. *Cancer Res* **51**: 2212-22

Kang J, Chen W, Xia J, Li Y, Yang B, Chen B, Sun W, Song X, Xiang W, Wang X, Wang F, Bi Z, Wan Y (2008) Extracellular matrix secreted by senescent fibroblasts induced by UVB promotes cell proliferation in HaCaT cells through PI3K/AKT and ERK signaling pathways. *Int J Mol Med* **21**: 777-84

Kass SU, Landsberger N, Wolffe AP (1997) DNA methylation directs a time-dependent repression of transcription initiation. *Curr Biol* 7: 157-65

Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, Currie AR (1972) Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wideranging implications in tissue kinetics. *Br J Cancer* 26: 239-57

Key T (1995) Risk factors for prostate cancer. Cancer Surv 23: 63-77

Kiess M, Gill RM, Hamel PA (1995) Expression and activity of the retinoblastoma protein (pRB)family proteins, p107 and p130, during L6 myoblast differentiation. *Cell Growth Differ* **6**: 1287-98

Kim HE, Oh JH, Lee SK, Oh YJ (1999) Ginsenoside RH-2 induces apoptotic cell death in rat C6 glioma via a reactive oxygen- and caspase-dependent but Bcl-X(L)-independent pathway. *Life Sci* **65:** PL33-40

Kim KH, Lee YS, Jung IS, Park SY, Chung HY, Lee IR, Yun YS (1998) Acidic polysaccharide from Panax ginseng, ginsan, induces Th1 cell and macrophage cytokines and generates LAK cells in synergy with rIL-2. *Planta Med* **64:** 110-5

Kim SH, Park KS, Chang MJ, Sung JH (2005) Effects of Panax ginseng extract on exercise-induced oxidative stress. *J Sports Med Phys Fitness* **45:** 178-82.

Kim SW, Kwon HY, Chi DW, Shim JH, Park JD, Lee YH, Pyo S, Rhee DK (2003) Reversal of Pglycoprotein-mediated multidrug resistance by ginsenoside Rg(3). *Biochem Pharmacol* 65: 75-82

Kim YS, Jin SH, Lee YH, Park JD, Kim SI (2000) Differential expression of protein kinase C subtypes during ginsenoside Rh2-Induced apoptosis in SK-N-BE(2) and C6Bu-1 cells. *Arch Pharm Res* 23: 518-24

King RJB, Robins MW (2006) Cancer Biology, Third edn. Essex, England: Pearson Education Limited

Kirby RS, Christmas TJ, Brawer MK (2001) *Prostate Cancer*, Second edn. London, England: Mosby Publishers

Kitts D, Hu C (2000) Efficacy and safety of ginseng. Public Health Nutr 3: 473-85

Kjaer SK, van den Brule AJ, Bock JE, Poll PA, Engholm G, Sherman ME, Walboomers JM, Meijer CJ (1996) Human papillomavirus--the most significant risk determinant of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. *Int J Cancer* **65**: 601-6

Klein EA (1995) An update on prostate cancer. Cleve Clin J Med 62: 325-38

Ko SC, Gotoh A, Thalmann GN, Zhau HE, Johnston DA, Zhang WW, Kao C, Chung LW (1996) Molecular therapy with recombinant p53 adenovirus in an androgen-independent, metastatic human prostate cancer model. *Hum Gene Ther* **7**: 1683-91

Kohler MF, Marks JR, Wiseman RW, Jacobs IJ, Davidoff AM, Clarke-Pearson DL, Soper JT, Bast RC, Jr., Berchuck A (1993) Spectrum of mutation and frequency of allelic deletion of the p53 gene in ovarian cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **85:** 1513-9

Koizumi K, Hojo S, Akashi T, Yasumoto K, Saiki I (2007) Chemokine receptors in cancer metastasis and cancer cell-derived chemokines in host immune response. *Cancer Sci* **98**: 1652-8

Kouzarides T (1995) Transcriptional control by the retinoblastoma protein. *Semin Cancer Biol* 6: 91-8

Krueckl SL, Sikes RA, Edlund NM, Bell RH, Hurtado-Coll A, Fazli L, Gleave ME, Cox ME (2004) Increased insulin-like growth factor I receptor expression and signaling are components of androgen-independent progression in a lineage-derived prostate cancer progression model. *Cancer Res* 64: 8620-9

Kruk PA, Balajee AS, Rao KS, Bohr VA (1996) Telomere reduction and telomerase inactivation during neuronal cell differentiation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 224: 487-92

Lam YM, Pym J, Campling BG (1991) Statistical models for assessing drug interactions. Proceedings of the American Statistical Association for the Biopharmaceutical Section: 214-219

Lane DP (1994) On the expression of the p53 protein in human cancer. Mol Biol Rep 19: 23-9

Larcher F, Robles AI, Duran H, Murillas R, Quintanilla M, Cano A, Conti CJ, Jorcano JL (1996) Up-regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor/vascular permeability factor in mouse skin carcinogenesis correlates with malignant progression state and activated H-ras expression levels. *Cancer Res* **56**: 5391-6

Lavelle F, Bissery, M.C., Combeau, C., Riou, J.F., Vrignaud, P., and Andre, S. (1995) Preclinical Evaluation of Docetaxel (Taxotere). *Seminars in Oncology* **22**: 3-16

Ledwaba T, Dlamini Z, Naicker S, Bhoola K (2004) Molecular genetics of human cervical cancer: role of papillomavirus and the apoptotic cascade. *Biol Chem* **385**: 671-82

Lee WH, Morton RA, Epstein JI, Brooks JD, Campbell PA, Bova GS, Hsieh WS, Isaacs WB, Nelson WG (1994) Cytidine methylation of regulatory sequences near the pi-class glutathione S-transferase gene accompanies human prostatic carcinogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **91:** 11733-7

Lee YS, Chung IS, Lee IR, Kim KH, Hong WS, Yun YS (1997) Activation of multiple effector pathways of immune system by the antineoplastic immunostimulator acidic polysaccharide ginsan isolated from Panax ginseng. *Anticancer Res* **17**: 323-31

Leighton JK, Kemper B (1984) Differential induction and tissue-specific expression of closely related members of the phenobarbital-inducible rabbit cytochrome P-450 gene family. *J Biol Chem* **259:** 11165-8

Lepper ER, Nooter K, Verweij J, Acharya MR, Figg WD, Sparreboom A (2005) Mechanisms of resistance to anticancer drugs: the role of the polymorphic ABC transporters ABCB1 and ABCG2. *Pharmacogenomics* **6**: 115-38

Levine AJ, Perry ME, Chang A, Silver A, Dittmer D, Wu M, Welsh D (1994) The 1993 Walter Hubert Lecture: the role of the p53 tumour-suppressor gene in tumorigenesis. *Br J Cancer* 69: 409-16

Li J, Yen C, Liaw D, Podsypanina K, Bose S, Wang SI, Puc J, Miliaresis C, Rodgers L, McCombie R, Bigner SH, Giovanella BC, Ittmann M, Tycko B, Hibshoosh H, Wigler MH, Parsons R (1997a) PTEN, a putative protein tyrosine phosphatase gene mutated in human brain, breast, and prostate cancer. *Science* **275**: 1943-7

Li P, Nijhawan D, Budihardjo I, Srinivasula SM, Ahmad M, Alnemri ES, Wang X (1997b) Cytochrome c and dATP-dependent formation of Apaf-1/caspase-9 complex initiates an apoptotic protease cascade. *Cell* **91:** 479-89

Li R, Waga S, Hannon GJ, Beach D, Stillman B (1994) Differential effects by the p21 CDK inhibitor on PCNA-dependent DNA replication and repair. *Nature* **371**: 534-7

Libermann TA, Nusbaum HR, Razon N, Kris R, Lax I, Soreq H, Whittle N, Waterfield MD, Ullrich A, Schlessinger J (1985) Amplification and overexpression of the EGF receptor gene in primary human glioblastomas. *J Cell Sci Suppl* **3**: 161-72

Lichtenstein P, Holm NV, Verkasalo PK, Iliadou A, Kaprio J, Koskenvuo M, Pukkala E, Skytthe A, Hemminki K (2000) Environmental and heritable factors in the causation of cancer--analyses of cohorts of twins from Sweden, Denmark, and Finland. *N Engl J Med* **343**: 78-85

Lin JH (2006) CYP induction-mediated drug interactions: in vitro assessment and clinical implications. *Pharm Res* 23: 1089-116

Lin JH, Lu AY (1998) Inhibition and induction of cytochrome P450 and the clinical implications. *Clin Pharmacokinet* **35:** 361-90

Lin X, Asgari K, Putzi MJ, Gage WR, Yu X, Cornblatt BS, Kumar A, Piantadosi S, DeWeese TL, De Marzo AM, Nelson WG (2001) Reversal of GSTP1 CpG island hypermethylation and reactivation of pi-class glutathione S-transferase (GSTP1) expression in human prostate cancer cells by treatment with procainamide. *Cancer Res* **61**: 8611-6

Litman T, Druley TE, Stein WD, Bates SE (2001) From MDR to MXR: new understanding of multidrug resistance systems, their properties and clinical significance. *Cell Mol Life Sci* **58**: 931-59

Liu GY, Bu X, Yan H, Jia WW (2007) 20S-protopanaxadiol-induced programmed cell death in glioma cells through caspase-dependent and -independent pathways. *J Nat Prod* **70**: 259-64

Liu Y, Ma H, Zhang JW, Deng MC, Yang L (2006a) Influence of ginsenoside Rh1 and F1 on human cytochrome p450 enzymes. *Planta Med* 72: 126-31.

Liu Y, Zhang JW, Li W, Ma H, Sun J, Deng MC, Yang L (2006b) Ginsenoside Metabolites, Rather Than Naturally Occurring Ginsenosides, Lead to Inhibition of Human Cytochrome P450 Enzymes. *Toxicol Sci* **91:** 356-364. Epub 2006 Mar 17.

Locke JA, Wasan KM, Nelson CC, Guns ES, Leon CG (2008) Androgen-mediated cholesterol metabolism in LNCaP and PC-3 cell lines is regulated through two different isoforms of acyl-coenzyme A:Cholesterol Acyltransferase (ACAT). *Prostate* **68**: 20-33

Loewe S, Muischnek H (1926) Effect of combinations: mathematical basisi of problem. Archives Fur Experimental Pathology und Pharmakology 114: 313-326

Lonnerholm G, Frost BM, Abrahamsson J, Behrendtz M, Castor A, Forestier E, Heyman M, Uges DR, de Graaf SS (2008) Vincristine pharmacokinetics is related to clinical outcome in children with standard risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Br J Haematol* 

Lowe SW, Schmitt EM, Smith SW, Osborne BA, Jacks T (1993) p53 is required for radiationinduced apoptosis in mouse thymocytes. *Nature* **362**: 847-9

Lu J, Danielsen M (1998) Differential regulation of androgen and glucocorticoid receptors by retinoblastoma protein. *J Biol Chem* **273:** 31528-33

Lukashev ME, Werb Z (1998) ECM signalling: orchestrating cell behaviour and misbehaviour. *Trends Cell Biol* 8: 437-41

Ma X, Ziel-van der Made AC, Autar B, van der Korput HA, Vermeij M, van Duijn P, Cleutjens KB, de Krijger R, Krimpenfort P, Berns A, van der Kwast TH, Trapman J (2005) Targeted biallelic inactivation of Pten in the mouse prostate leads to prostate cancer accompanied by increased epithelial cell proliferation but not by reduced apoptosis. *Cancer Res* **65**: 5730-9

MacKenzie SH, Clark AC (2008) Targeting cell death in tumors by activating caspases. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 8: 98-109

Majumder PK, Yeh JJ, George DJ, Febbo PG, Kum J, Xue Q, Bikoff R, Ma H, Kantoff PW, Golub TR, Loda M, Sellers WR (2003) Prostate intraepithelial neoplasia induced by prostate restricted Akt activation: the MPAKT model. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **100**: 7841-6

Martinez J, Georgoff I, Levine AJ (1991) Cellular localization and cell cycle regulation by a temperature-sensitive p53 protein. *Genes Dev* 5: 151-9

Matsumoto Y, Kim K (1995) Excision of deoxyribose phosphate residues by DNA polymerase beta during DNA repair. *Science* **269**: 699-702

McDonnell TJ, Troncoso P, Brisbay SM, Logothetis C, Chung LW, Hsieh JT, Tu SM, Campbell ML (1992) Expression of the protooncogene bcl-2 in the prostate and its association with emergence of androgen-independent prostate cancer. *Cancer Res* **52**: 6940-4

McLeskey SW, Tobias CA, Vezza PR, Filie AC, Kern FG, Hanfelt J (1998) Tumor growth of FGF or VEGF transfected MCF-7 breast carcinoma cells correlates with density of specific microvessels independent of the transfected angiogenic factor. *Am J Pathol* **153**: 1993-2006

McMurray HR, Sampson ER, Compitello G, Kinsey C, Newman L, Smith B, Chen SR, Klebanov L, Salzman P, Yakovlev A, Land H (2008) Synergistic response to oncogenic mutations defines gene class critical to cancer phenotype. *Nature* 

Medema RH, Bos JL (1993) The role of p21ras in receptor tyrosine kinase signaling. *Crit Rev* Oncog 4: 615-61

Mercier I, Casimiro MC, Wang C, Rosenberg AL, Quong J, Allen KG, Danilo C, Sotgia F, Bonnucelli G, Jasmin JF, Xu H, Bosco E, Aronow B, Witkiewicz A, Pestell RG, Knudsen ES, Lisanti MP (2008) Human Breast Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts (CAFs) Show Caveolin-1 Downregulation and RB Tumor Suppressor Functional Inactivation: Implications for the Response to Hormonal Therapy. *Cancer Biol Ther* 7

Merlino GT, Xu YH, Ishii S, Clark AJ, Semba K, Toyoshima K, Yamamoto T, Pastan I (1984) Amplification and enhanced expression of the epidermal growth factor receptor gene in A431 human carcinoma cells. *Science* **224**: 417-9 Meyers FJ, Gumerlock PH, Chi SG, Borchers H, Deitch AD, deVere White RW (1998) Very frequent p53 mutations in metastatic prostate carcinoma and in matched primary tumors. *Cancer* 83: 2534-9

Millar DS, Ow KK, Paul CL, Russell PJ, Molloy PL, Clark SJ (1999) Detailed methylation analysis of the glutathione S-transferase pi (GSTP1) gene in prostate cancer. *Oncogene* 18: 1313-24

Milyavsky M, Tabach Y, Shats I, Erez N, Cohen Y, Tang X, Kalis M, Kogan I, Buganim Y, Goldfinger N, Ginsberg D, Harris CC, Domany E, Rotter V (2005) Transcriptional programs following genetic alterations in p53, INK4A, and H-Ras genes along defined stages of malignant transformation. *Cancer Res* **65**: 4530-43

Minchinton AI, Tannock IF (2006) Drug penetration in solid tumours. Nat Rev Cancer 6: 583-92

Minotti G, Menna P, Salvatorelli E, Cairo G, Gianni L (2004) Anthracyclines: molecular advances and pharmacologic developments in antitumor activity and cardiotoxicity. *Pharmacol Rev* **56**: 185-229

Miyashita T, Krajewski S, Krajewska M, Wang HG, Lin HK, Liebermann DA, Hoffman B, Reed JC (1994) Tumor suppressor p53 is a regulator of bcl-2 and bax gene expression in vitro and in vivo. *Oncogene* **9**: 1799-805

Modrich P, Lahue R (1996) Mismatch repair in replication fidelity, genetic recombination, and cancer biology. *Annu Rev Biochem* 65: 101-33

Molloy T, van 't Veer LJ (2008) Recent advances in metastasis research. Curr Opin Genet Dev 18: 35-41

Morton RA, Jr. (1994) Racial differences in adenocarcinoma of the prostate in North American men. Urology 44: 637-45

Mostaghel EA, Nelson PS (2008) Intracrine androgen metabolism in prostate cancer progression: mechanisms of castration resistance and therapeutic implications. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* 22: 243-58

Munger K, Baldwin A, Edwards KM, Hayakawa H, Nguyen CL, Owens M, Grace M, Huh K (2004) Mechanisms of human papillomavirus-induced oncogenesis. *J Virol* **78**: 11451-60

Murphy-Ullrich JE, Mosher DF (1987) Interactions of thrombospondin with endothelial cells: receptor-mediated binding and degradation. *J Cell Biol* **105**: 1603-11

Murray AW, Kirschner MW (1989) Cyclin synthesis drives the early embryonic cell cycle. *Nature* **339:** 275-80

Murray MJ, Shilo BZ, Shih C, Cowing D, Hsu HW, Weinberg RA (1981) Three different human tumor cell lines contain different oncogenes. *Cell* **25**: 355-61

Muzio M, Chinnaiyan AM, Kischkel FC, O'Rourke K, Shevchenko A, Ni J, Scaffidi C, Bretz JD, Zhang M, Gentz R, Mann M, Krammer PH, Peter ME, Dixit VM (1996) FLICE, a novel FADD-homologous ICE/CED-3-like protease, is recruited to the CD95 (Fas/APO-1) death--inducing signaling complex. *Cell* **85:** 817-27

Myers MP, Stolarov JP, Eng C, Li J, Wang SI, Wigler MH, Parsons R, Tonks NK (1997) P-TEN, the tumor suppressor from human chromosome 10q23, is a dual-specificity phosphatase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **94:** 9052-7

Nagpal JK, Nair S, Chakravarty D, Rajhans R, Pothana S, Brann DW, Tekmal RR, Vadlamudi RK (2008) Growth Factor Regulation of Estrogen Receptor Coregulator PELP1 Functions via Protein Kinase A Pathway. *Mol Cancer Res* 6: 851-61

Nah SY, Park HJ, McCleskey EW (1995) A trace component of ginseng that inhibits Ca2+ channels through a pertussis toxin-sensitive G protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 92: 8739-43

Nakamura K, Yasunaga Y, Segawa T, Ko D, Moul JW, Srivastava S, Rhim JS (2002) Curcumin down-regulates AR gene expression and activation in prostate cancer cell lines. *Int J Oncol* **21:** 825-30

Nakamura M, Watanabe T, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H (2001) Promoter methylation of the DNA repair gene MGMT in astrocytomas is frequently associated with G:C --> A:T mutations of the TP53 tumor suppressor gene. *Carcinogenesis* 22: 1715-9

Nakata H, Kikuchi Y, Tode T, Hirata J, Kita T, Ishii K, Kudoh K, Nagata I, Shinomiya N (1998) Inhibitory effects of ginsenoside Rh2 on tumor growth in nude mice bearing human ovarian cancer cells. Jpn J Cancer Res 89: 733-40

Nan B, Snabboon T, Unni E, Yuan XJ, Whang YE, Marcelli M (2003) The PTEN tumor suppressor is a negative modulator of androgen receptor transcriptional activity. *J Mol Endocrinol* **31:** 169-83

Narayanan BA, Narayanan NK, Re GG, Nixon DW (2003) Differential expression of genes induced by resveratrol in LNCaP cells: P53-mediated molecular targets. *Int J Cancer* **104**: 204-12

Navone NM, Troncoso P, Pisters LL, Goodrow TL, Palmer JL, Nichols WW, von Eschenbach AC, Conti CJ (1993) p53 protein accumulation and gene mutation in the progression of human prostate carcinoma. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **85:** 1657-69

NCI NCS (2008) Canadian Cancer Statistics

Nelson WG, De Marzo AM, Isaacs WB (2003) Prostate cancer. N Engl J Med 349: 366-81

O'Farrell PH, Edgar BA, Lakich D, Lehner CF (1989) Directing cell division during development. Science 246: 635-40 Oh M, Choi YH, Choi S, Chung H, Kim K, Kim SI, Kim DK, Kim ND (1999) Anti-proliferating effects of ginsenoside Rh2 on MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. *Int J Oncol* **14**: 869-75

Oh WK (2003) The evolving role of chemotherapy and other systemic therapies for managing localized prostate cancer. *J Urol* **170**: S28-32; discussion S33-4

Ohtani-Fujita N, Dryja TP, Rapaport JM, Fujita T, Matsumura S, Ozasa K, Watanabe Y, Hayashi K, Maeda K, Kinoshita S, Matsumura T, Ohnishi Y, Hotta Y, Takahashi R, Kato MV, Ishizaki K, Sasaki MS, Horsthemke B, Minoda K, Sakai T (1997) Hypermethylation in the retinoblastoma gene is associated with unilateral, sporadic retinoblastoma. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet* **98**: 43-9

Omura T (1999) Forty years of cytochrome P450. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 266: 690-8.

Oomens EH, van Steenbrugge GJ, van der Kwast TH, Schroder FH (1991) Application of the monoclonal antibody Ki-67 on prostate biopsies to assess the fraction of human prostatic carcinoma. *J Urol* **145:** 81-5

Ota T, Maeda M, Odashima S (1991) Mechanism of action of ginsenoside Rh2: uptake and metabolism of ginsenoside Rh2 by cultured B16 melanoma cells. *J Pharm Sci* 80: 1141-6

Oza AM (2002) Clinical development of P glycoprotein modulators in oncology. Novartis Found Symp 243: 103-15; discussion 115-8, 180-5

Paget S (1889) The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast. *Lancet* 1: 571-573

Pajouhesh H, Lenz GR (2005) Medicinal chemical properties of successful central nervous system drugs. *NeuroRx* 2: 541-53

Pantazis P, Pelicci PG, Dalla-Favera R, Antoniades HN (1985) Synthesis and secretion of proteins resembling platelet-derived growth factor by human glioblastoma and fibrosarcoma cells in culture. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **82:** 2404-8

Papaevangelou G, Economidou J, Roumeliotou A, Adrachta D, Parcha S (1979) Epstein-Barr virus infection in polytransfused patients with homozygous beta-thalassaemia. *Vox Sang* **37:** 305-9

Park JA, Lee KY, Oh YJ, Kim KW, Lee SK (1997) Activation of caspase-3 protease via a Bcl-2insensitive pathway during the process of ginsenoside Rh2-induced apoptosis. *Cancer Lett* **121:** 73-81

Parkin DM, Bray F, Ferlay J, Pisani P (2005) Global cancer statistics, 2002. *CA Cancer J Clin* 55: 74-108

Parkinson A (1996) An overview of current cytochrome P450 technology for assessing the safety and efficacy of new materials. *Toxicol Pathol* **24:** 48-57

Partin AW, Kattan MW, Subong EN, Walsh PC, Wojno KJ, Oesterling JE, Scardino PT, Pearson JD (1997) Combination of prostate-specific antigen, clinical stage, and Gleason score to predict pathological stage of localized prostate cancer. A multi-institutional update. *Jama* **277**: 1445-51

Partin AW, Mangold LA, Lamm DM, Walsh PC, Epstein JI, Pearson JD (2001) Contemporary update of prostate cancer staging nomograms (Partin Tables) for the new millennium. *Urology* **58**: 843-8

Perez-Tomas R (2006) Multidrug resistance: retrospect and prospects in anti-cancer drug treatment. *Curr Med Chem* **13**: 1859-76

Peto J (2001) Cancer epidemiology in the last century and the next decade. Nature 411: 390-5

Petrylak DP (2000) Docetaxel (Taxotere) in Hormon-Refractory Prostate Cancer. Seminars in Oncology 27: 24-29

Pfeifer GP, Tang M, Denissenko MF (2000) Mutation hotspots and DNA methylation. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* **249:** 1-19

Phillips P, Steward JK, Kumar S (1976) Tumour angiogenesis factor (TAF) in human and animal tumours. Int J Cancer 17: 549-58

Phillips SM, Barton CM, Lee SJ, Morton DG, Wallace DM, Lemoine NR, Neoptolemos JP (1994) Loss of the retinoblastoma susceptibility gene (RB1) is a frequent and early event in prostatic tumorigenesis. *Br J Cancer* **70**: 1252-7

Pienta KJ, Smith DC (2005) Advances in prostate cancer chemotherapy: a new era begins. *CA Cancer J Clin* **55:** 300-18; quiz 323-5

Pipas JM (1992) Common and unique features of T antigens encoded by the polyomavirus group. J Virol 66: 3979-85

Popovich DG, Kitts DD (2002) Structure-function relationship exists for ginsenosides in reducing cell proliferation and inducing apoptosis in the human leukemia (THP-1) cell line. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **406:** 1-8

Preto A, Figueiredo J, Velho S, Ribeiro AS, Soares P, Oliveira C, Seruca R (2008) BRAF provides proliferation and survival signals in MSI colorectal carcinoma cells displaying BRAF(V600E) but not KRAS mutations. *J Pathol* **214:** 320-7

Prevost N, Woulfe D, Tanaka T, Brass LF (2002) Interactions between Eph kinases and ephrins provide a mechanism to support platelet aggregation once cell-to-cell contact has occurred. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **99:** 9219-24

Prichard MN, Shipman C, Jr. (1990) A three-dimensional model to analyze drug-drug interactions. *Antiviral Res* 14: 181-205

Prowse AH, Webster AR, Richards FM, Richard S, Olschwang S, Resche F, Affara NA, Maher ER (1997) Somatic inactivation of the VHL gene in Von Hippel-Lindau disease tumors. *Am J Hum Genet* 60: 765-71

Pulciani S, Santos E, Lauver AV, Long LK, Robbins KC, Barbacid M (1982) Oncogenes in human tumor cell lines: molecular cloning of a transforming gene from human bladder carcinoma cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **79:** 2845-9

Qian J, Jenkins RB, Bostwick DG (1997) Detection of chromosomal anomalies and c-myc gene amplification in the cribriform pattern of prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia and carcinoma by fluorescence in situ hybridization. *Mod Pathol* **10**: 1113-9

Qian J, Sarnaik AA, Bonney TM, Keirsey J, Combs KA, Steigerwald K, Acharya S, Behbehani GK, Barton MC, Lowy AM, Groden J (2008) The APC Tumor Suppressor Inhibits DNA Replication by Directly Binding to DNA via Its Carboxyl Terminus. *Gastroenterology* 

Quinn DI, Henshall SM, Sutherland RL (2005) Molecular markers of prostate cancer outcome. Eur J Cancer 41: 858-87

Radad K, Gille G, Liu L, Rausch WD (2006) Use of ginseng in medicine with emphasis on neurodegenerative disorders. *J Pharmacol Sci* **100**: 175-86. Epub 2006 Mar 4.

Raffo AJ, Perlman H, Chen MW, Day ML, Streitman JS, Buttyan R (1995) Overexpression of bcl-2 protects prostate cancer cells from apoptosis in vitro and confers resistance to androgen depletion in vivo. *Cancer Res* **55**: 4438-45

Ren F, Zhang S, Mitchell SH, Butler R, Young CY (2000) Tea polyphenols down-regulate the expression of the androgen receptor in LNCaP prostate cancer cells. *Oncogene* **19**: 1924-32

Renan MJ (1993) How many mutations are required for tumorigenesis? Implications from human cancer data. *Mol Carcinog* 7: 139-46

Richardson MA, Sanders T, Palmer JL, Greisinger A, Singletary SE (2000) Complementary and alternative medicine use in a comprehensive cancer center and the implications for oncology. *J Clin Oncol* **18**: 2505-14

Routh JC, Leibovich BC (2005) Adenocarcinoma of the prostate: epidemiological trends, screening, diagnosis, and surgical management of localized disease. *Mayo Clin Proc* 80: 899-907

Saladino AJ, Trump BF (1968) Ion movements in cell injury. Effects of inhibition of respiration and glycolysis on the ultrastructure and function of the epithelial cells of the toad bladder. *Am J Pathol* **52:** 737-76

Santos AF, Huang H, Tindall DJ (2004) The androgen receptor: a potential target for therapy of prostate cancer. *Steroids* **69**: 79-85

Sarasin A (2003) An overview of the mechanisms of mutagenesis and carcinogenesis. *Mutat Res* 544: 99-106

Scharer OD, Jiricny J (2001) Recent progress in the biology, chemistry and structural biology of DNA glycosylases. *Bioessays* 23: 270-81

Schiff PB, Horwitz SB (1980) Taxol stabilizes microtubules in mouse fibroblast cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 77: 1561-5

Schuepp BJ, Pfister H, Clemetson KJ, Silverstein RL, Jungi TW (1991) CD36-mediated signal transduction in human monocytes by anti-CD36 antibodies but not by anti-thrombospondin antibodies recognizing cell membrane-bound thrombospondin. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 175: 263-70

Schurko B, Oh WK (2008) Docetaxel chemotherapy remains the standard of care in castrationresistant prostate cancer. *Nat Clin Pract Oncol* 

Schwartz GG (2005) Vitamin D and the epidemiology of prostate cancer. Semin Dial 18: 276-89

Schwartz K, Deschere B, Xu J (2005) Screening for prostate cancer: who and how often? *J Fam Pract* 54: 586-96

Selvakumaran M, Lin HK, Miyashita T, Wang HG, Krajewski S, Reed JC, Hoffman B, Liebermann D (1994) Immediate early up-regulation of bax expression by p53 but not TGF beta 1: a paradigm for distinct apoptotic pathways. *Oncogene* 9: 1791-8

Sharifi N, Farrar WL (2006) Androgen receptor as a therapeutic target for androgen independent prostate cancer. *Am J Ther* 13: 166-70

Shimada T, Yamazaki H, Mimura M, Inui Y, Guengerich FP (1994) Interindividual variations in human liver cytochrome P-450 enzymes involved in the oxidation of drugs, carcinogens and toxic chemicals: studies with liver microsomes of 30 Japanese and 30 Caucasians. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **270:** 414-23

Sievenpiper JL, Arnason JT, Leiter LA, Vuksan V (2004) Decreasing, null and increasing effects of eight popular types of ginseng on acute postprandial glycemic indices in healthy humans: the role of ginsenosides. *J Am Coll Nutr* 23: 248-58

Singh RP, Agarwal C, Agarwal R (2003) Inositol hexaphosphate inhibits growth, and induces G1 arrest and apoptotic death of prostate carcinoma DU145 cells: modulation of CDKI-CDK-cyclin and pRb-related protein-E2F complexes. *Carcinogenesis* 24: 555-63

Slamon DJ, Clark GM, Wong SG, Levin WJ, Ullrich A, McGuire WL (1987) Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER-2/neu oncogene. *Science* 235: 177-82

Song BJ, Gelboin HV, Park SS, Yang CS, Gonzalez FJ (1986) Complementary DNA and protein sequences of ethanol-inducible rat and human cytochrome P-450s. Transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation of the rat enzyme. *J Biol Chem* **261**: 16689-97

Sporn MB (1996) The war on cancer. Lancet 347: 1377-81

Srinivas PR, Srivastava S, Hanash S, Wright GL, Jr. (2001) Proteomics in early detection of cancer. *Clin Chem* **47**: 1901-11

Stapleton AM, Timme TL, Gousse AE, Li QF, Tobon AA, Kattan MW, Slawin KM, Wheeler TM, Scardino PT, Thompson TC (1997) Primary human prostate cancer cells harboring p53 mutations are clonally expanded in metastases. *Clin Cancer Res* **3**: 1389-97

Steck PA, Pershouse MA, Jasser SA, Yung WK, Lin H, Ligon AH, Langford LA, Baumgard ML, Hattier T, Davis T, Frye C, Hu R, Swedlund B, Teng DH, Tavtigian SV (1997) Identification of a candidate tumour suppressor gene, MMAC1, at chromosome 10q23.3 that is mutated in multiple advanced cancers. *Nat Genet* **15**: 356-62

Steel GG, Peckham MJ (1979) Exploitable mechanisms in combined radiotherapy-chemotherapy: the concept of additivity. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* **5:** 85-91

Stehelin D, Varmus HE, Bishop JM, Vogt PK (1976) DNA related to the transforming gene(s) of avian sarcoma viruses is present in normal avian DNA. *Nature* **260**: 170-3

Stone PJ, Kelman AD, Sinex FM (1974) Specific binding of antitumour drug cis-Pt(NH3)2C12 to DNA rich in guanine and cytosine. *Nature* **251**: 736-7

Suhnel J (1990) Evaluation of synergism or antagonism for the combined action of antiviral agents. *Antiviral Res* **13**: 23-39

Sukumar S, Notario V, Martin-Zanca D, Barbacid M (1983) Induction of mammary carcinomas in rats by nitroso-methylurea involves malignant activation of H-ras-1 locus by single point mutations. *Nature* **306**: 658-61

Suzuki H, Freije D, Nusskern DR, Okami K, Cairns P, Sidransky D, Isaacs WB, Bova GS (1998) Interfocal heterogeneity of PTEN/MMAC1 gene alterations in multiple metastatic prostate cancer tissues. *Cancer Res* **58**: 204-9

(Year) Comparison between the method of Chou and Talalay and a new method for the assessment of the combined effects of drugs: a Monte-Carlo simulation study. *American Statistical Association Proceedings of the Biopharmaceutical Section*. pp 127-132

Tammela T (2004) Endocrine treatment of prostate cancer. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 92: 287-95

Taniguchi T, Fujii-Kuriyama Y, Muramatsu M (1980) Molecular cloning of human interferon cDNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 77: 4003-6

Tarunina M, Jenkins JR (1993) Human p53 binds DNA as a protein homodimer but monomeric variants retain full transcription transactivation activity. *Oncogene* 8: 3165-73

Taya Y (1997) RB kinases and RB-binding proteins: new points of view. *Trends Biochem Sci* 22: 14-7

Technologies C (2008) Cold-fX

Temin HM, Mizutani S (1970) RNA-dependent DNA polymerase in virions of Rous sarcoma virus. *Nature* **226**: 1211-3

Thiebaut F, Tsuruo T, Hamada H, Gottesman MM, Pastan I, Willingham MC (1987) Cellular localization of the multidrug-resistance gene product P-glycoprotein in normal human tissues. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A* 84: 7735-8

Thiebaut F, Tsuruo T, Hamada H, Gottesman MM, Pastan I, Willingham MC (1989) Immunohistochemical localization in normal tissues of different epitopes in the multidrug transport protein P170: evidence for localization in brain capillaries and crossreactivity of one antibody with a muscle protein. *J Histochem Cytochem* **37:** 159-64

Thornberry NA, Lazebnik Y (1998) Caspases: enemies within. Science 281: 1312-6

Tolcher AW (2004) Novel therapeutic molecular targets for prostate cancer: the mTOR signaling pathway and epidermal growth factor receptor. *J Urol* **171:** S41-3; discussion S44

Tsujimoto Y, Croce CM (1986) Analysis of the structure, transcripts, and protein products of bcl-2, the gene involved in human follicular lymphoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 83: 5214-8

Tsuruo T, Iida H, Tsukagoshi S, Sakurai Y (1981) Overcoming of vincristine resistance in P388 leukemia in vivo and in vitro through enhanced cytotoxicity of vincristine and vinblastine by verapamil. *Cancer Res* **41**: 1967-72

Umar A, Kunkel TA (1996) DNA-replication fidelity, mismatch repair and genome instability in cancer cells. *Eur J Biochem* 238: 297-307

Umeno M, McBride OW, Yang CS, Gelboin HV, Gonzalez FJ (1988) Human ethanol-inducible P450IIE1: complete gene sequence, promoter characterization, chromosome mapping, and cDNAdirected expression. *Biochemistry* 27: 9006-13

Valeriote F, Lin H (1975) Synergistic interaction of anticancer agents: a cellular perspective. *Cancer Chemother Rep* **59:** 895-900

Van Bokhoven A, Varella-Garcia M, Korch C, Johannes WU, Smith EE, Miller HL, Nordeen SK, Miller GJ, Lucia MS (2003) Molecular characterization of human prostate carcinoma cell lines. *Prostate* **57**: 205-25

Varenhorst E, Wallentin L, Carlstrom K (1982) The effects of orchidectomy, estrogens, and cyproterone acetate on plasma testosterone, LH, and FSH concentrations in patients with carcinoma of the prostate. *Scand J Urol Nephrol* **16**: 31-6

Varner JA, Cheresh DA (1996) Integrins and cancer. Curr Opin Cell Biol 8: 724-30

Verma M, Srivastava S (2003) New cancer biomarkers deriving from NCI early detection research. *Recent Results Cancer Res* 163: 72-84; discussion 264-6

Vogelstein B, Lane D, Levine AJ (2000) Surfing the p53 network. Nature 408: 307-10

Vousden KH, Lu X (2002) Live or let die: the cell's response to p53. Nat Rev Cancer 2: 594-604

Wakabayashi C, Hasegawa H, Murata J, Saiki I (1997) In vivo antimetastatic action of ginseng protopanaxadiol saponins is based on their intestinal bacterial metabolites after oral administration. *Oncol Res* **9:** 411-7

Walen KH, Arnstein P (1986) Induction of tumorigenesis and chromosomal abnormalities in human amniocytes infected with simian virus 40 and Kirsten sarcoma virus. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol* **22**: 57-65

Wales MM, Biel MA, el Deiry W, Nelkin BD, Issa JP, Cavenee WK, Kuerbitz SJ, Baylin SB (1995) p53 activates expression of HIC-1, a new candidate tumour suppressor gene on 17p13.3. *Nat Med* 1: 570-7

Wallace M, Powell LL (2002) Prostate cancer: nursing assessment, management, and and care. New York: Springer Publishers

Walser TC, Ma X, Kundu N, Dorsey R, Goloubeva O, Fulton AM (2007) Immune-mediated modulation of breast cancer growth and metastasis by the chemokine Mig (CXCL9) in a murine model. *J Immunother* **30**: 490-8

Wang G, Reed E, Li QQ (2004) Apoptosis in prostate cancer: progressive and therapeutic implications (Review). *Int J Mol Med* 14: 23-34

Wang Q, Gao F, May WS, Zhang Y, Flagg T, Deng X (2008a) Bcl2 negatively regulates DNA double-strand-break repair through a nonhomologous end-joining pathway. *Mol Cell* **29:** 488-98

Wang W, Rayburn ER, Hao M, Zhao Y, Hill DL, Zhang R, Wang H (2008b) Experimental therapy of prostate cancer with novel natural product anti-cancer ginsenosides. *Prostate* 

Wang W, Wang H, Rayburn ER, Zhao Y, Hill DL, Zhang R (2008c) 20(S)-25-methoxyldammarane-3beta, 12beta, 20-triol, a novel natural product for prostate cancer therapy: activity in vitro and in vivo and mechanisms of action. *Br J Cancer* **98**: 792-802

Webb JL (1963) Effect of more than one inhibitor. In *Enzymes and Metabolic Inhibitors*. New York: Academic Press

Weinberg RA (1995) The retinoblastoma protein and cell cycle control. Cell 81: 323-30

Weinstein JN, Bunow B, Weislow OS, Schinazi RF, Wahl SM, Wahl LM, Szebeni J (1990) Synergistic drug combinations in AIDS therapy. Dipyridamole/3'-azido-3'-deoxythymidine in particular and principles of analysis in general. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **616**: 367-84

Weinstein JN, Myers TG, O'Connor PM, Friend SH, Fornace AJ, Jr., Kohn KW, Fojo T, Bates SE, Rubinstein LV, Anderson NL, Buolamwini JK, van Osdol WW, Monks AP, Scudiero DA, Sausville EA, Zaharevitz DW, Bunow B, Viswanadhan VN, Johnson GS, Wittes RE, Paull KD (1997) An information-intensive approach to the molecular pharmacology of cancer. *Science* **275**: 343-9

Wheeler GP (1962) Studies related to the mechanisms of action of cytotoxic alkylating agents: a review. *Cancer Res* **22**: 651-88

White JG (1968) Effects of colchicine and vinca alkaloids on human platelets. II. Changes in the dense tubular system and formation of an unusual inclusion in incubated cells. *Am J Pathol* **53**: 447-61

Wilson L, Panda D, Jordan MA (1999) Modulation of microtubule dynamics by drugs: a paradigm for the actions of cellular regulators. *Cell Struct Funct* **24**: 329-35

Wolf JE, Jr., Harrison RG (1973) Demonstration and characterization of an epidermal angiogenic factor. *J Invest Dermatol* **61:** 130-41

Wright WE, Pereira-Smith OM, Shay JW (1989) Reversible cellular senescence: implications for immortalization of normal human diploid fibroblasts. *Mol Cell Biol* **9**: 3088-92

Xie HT, Wang GJ, Chen M, Jiang XL, Li H, Lv H, Huang CR, Wang R, Roberts M (2005) Uptake and metabolism of ginsenoside Rh2 and its aglycon protopanaxadiol by Caco-2 cells. *Biol Pharm Bull* **28**: 383-6

Xie X, Eberding A, Madera C, Fazli L, Jia W, Goldenberg L, Gleave M, Guns ES (2006) Rh2 synergistically enhances paclitaxel or mitoxantrone in prostate cancer models. *J Urol* **175**: 1926-31

Xing EP, Nie Y, Song Y, Yang GY, Cai YC, Wang LD, Yang CS (1999) Mechanisms of inactivation of p14ARF, p15INK4b, and p16INK4a genes in human esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* **5**: 2704-13

Yarden Y, Ullrich A (1988) Growth factor receptor tyrosine kinases. Annu Rev Biochem 57: 443-78

Yonish-Rouach E, Resnitzky D, Lotem J, Sachs L, Kimchi A, Oren M (1991) Wild-type p53 induces apoptosis of myeloid leukaemic cells that is inhibited by interleukin-6. *Nature* **352**: 345-7

Yoon JH, Smith LE, Feng Z, Tang M, Lee CS, Pfeifer GP (2001) Methylated CpG dinucleotides are the preferential targets for G-to-T transversion mutations induced by benzo[a]pyrene diol epoxide in mammalian cells: similarities with the p53 mutation spectrum in smoking-associated lung cancers. *Cancer Res* **61**: 7110-7

Yoshimoto M, Cutz JC, Nuin PA, Joshua AM, Bayani J, Evans AJ, Zielenska M, Squire JA (2006) Interphase FISH analysis of PTEN in histologic sections shows genomic deletions in 68% of primary prostate cancer and 23% of high-grade prostatic intra-epithelial neoplasias. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet* 169: 128-37

Yu Y, Zhou Q, Hang Y, Bu X, Jia W (2007) Antiestrogenic effect of 20S-protopanaxadiol and its synergy with tamoxifen on breast cancer cells. *Cancer* **109**: 2374-82

Yuan P, Sun MH, Zhang JS, Zhu XZ, Shi DR (2001) APC and K-ras gene mutation in aberrant crypt foci of human colon. *World J Gastroenterol* 7: 352-6

Yun TK (2001) Brief introduction of Panax ginseng C.A. Meyer. J Korean Med Sci 16 Suppl: S3-5

Yun TK, Lee YS, Lee YH, Kim SI, Yun HY (2001) Anticarcinogenic effect of Panax ginseng C.A. Meyer and identification of active compounds. *J Korean Med Sci* 16 Suppl: S6-18

Zhang D, Yasuda T, Yu Y, Zheng P, Kawabata T, Ma Y, Okada S (1996) Ginseng extract scavenges hydroxyl radical and protects unsaturated fatty acids from decomposition caused by iron-mediated lipid peroxidation. *Free Radic Biol Med* **20:** 145-50

Zhang H, Xiong Y, Beach D (1993) Proliferating cell nuclear antigen and p21 are components of multiple cell cycle kinase complexes. *Mol Biol Cell* **4**: 897-906

Zhang HT, Craft P, Scott PA, Ziche M, Weich HA, Harris AL, Bicknell R (1995) Enhancement of tumor growth and vascular density by transfection of vascular endothelial cell growth factor into MCF-7 human breast carcinoma cells. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 87: 213-9

Zhang L, Johnson M, Le KH, Sato M, Ilagan R, Iyer M, Gambhir SS, Wu L, Carey M (2003) Interrogating androgen receptor function in recurrent prostate cancer. *Cancer Res* **63**: 4552-60

Zi X, Zhang J, Agarwal R, Pollak M (2000) Silibinin up-regulates insulin-like growth factorbinding protein 3 expression and inhibits proliferation of androgen-independent prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Res* **60**: 5617-20

Zuo C, Ai L, Ratliff P, Suen JY, Hanna E, Brent TP, Fan CY (2004) O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase gene: epigenetic silencing and prognostic value in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* **13**: 967-75

# 2. FIRST MANUSCRIPT CHAPTER

Pre-clinical evaluation of Rh2 in PC-3 human xenograft model for prostate cancer *in vivo*: Formulation, Pharmacokinetics, Biodistribution and Efficacy<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A version of this chapter has been submitted for publication. Co-authors: Andy Eberding Catherine A. Wood, Hans Adomat, Ladan Fazli, Antonio Hurtado-Coll, William Jia, Ph.D, Marcel B. Bally, and Emma S. Tomlinson Guns.

#### 2.1 Introduction

Prostate cancer is the fifth most common neoplasm worldwide, and the second most common cancer among men. Of all new cancer cases in 2002, 679,000 of them were prostate cancer which resulted in 221,000 deaths (Parkin *et al*, 2005). Surprisingly, there are really no chemotherapeutic drugs that are considered highly effective when used to treat prostate cancer patients that have relapsed and/or have metastatic disease. In recent years, however, new drugs and drug combinations and particularly those involving taxanes have contributed to improvements in treatment outcomes in prostate cancer (De Wit, 2008; Oh, 2003). It has been suggested that optimal drug combination effects will be achieved when combining drugs which have different mechanisms of action and different toxicity profiles. In addition, drug combinations that interact in a manner that result in synergy or drug potentiation (i.e. where the combined effects are far greater than that expected on the basis of the effects of the individual agents) are of great interest. This latter class of drug combinations is of particular interest since many highly specific targeted agents may not exhibit sufficient activity when given as a single agent, but when used in combination may provide meaningful therapeutic outcomes. This is also becoming of interest in the context of complementary medicines, agents that are being used by patients with the belief that they may augment treatment responses achieved by conventional therapy.

In a recent comprehensive study, it was concluded that 83% of cancer patients attending the MD Anderson Cancer Center in Texas acknowledged using complementary and alternative medicine (CAM). Their main reasons for using CAM included its assumed reputation for apparent lack of toxicity (Richardson *et al*, 2000). Research is required to delineate this assumption, but one working assumption is that combinations of non-toxic effective

84
phytochemicals with established chemotherapy agents could offer the potential of enhanced drug efficacy without adding to the toxicity of the conventional drug. We have a particular interest in assessing the therapeutic potential of Rh2 (Figure 2.1A); a biologically active phytochemical extracted from the roots of *Panax ginseng* C.A. Meyer. Rh2 is a tri-terpenoid glycoside saponin with a chemical structure consisting of a steroid nucleus and a glucose sugar moiety. Rh2 has a 20(S)-protopanaxadiol dammarane skeleton aglycone type and has been reported to inhibit the growth of and induce anti-metastatic activity in B16 melanoma and ovarian cancer cells (Jia *et al*, 2004; Nakata *et al*, 1998; Wakabayashi *et al*, 1997). In human breast carcinoma MCF-7/MX cells which overexpress

breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP), Rh2 significantly enhanced the cytotoxicity of mitoxantrone; an effect that was attributed to inhibition of mitoxantrone efflux and enhanced mitoxantrone uptake (Jin *et al*, 2006). Rh2 was also found to have a G1 phase-specific cell cycle arrest with associated suppression of cdk2 and cyclin E-dependent histone kinase activities apparently as a consequence of upregulation of p21 which binds and inactivates cdk2 (Oh *et al*, 1999). Although encouraging, further development of Rh2 requires a drug development strategy that is similar to that of any new anticancer agent. In this regard, issues related to drug formulation, analysis, stability as well as therapeutic activity alone and in combination with existing standard of care drugs need to be systematically characterized prior to development of clinical studies assessing therapeutic activity in patients. Recently, Wang et al. investigated possible mechanisms responsible for the antiproliferative, pro-apoptotic, and cell cycle arrest effects of Rh2 against LNCaP androgen-sensitive and PC-3 androgen-insensitive prostate cancer cells. They showed that Rh2 increased the expression of the cdk inhibitor p21 and tumor suppressor protein p53 while decreasing the levels of cdks 2, 4, and 6 (Wang *et al*, 2008). They

also investigated the *in vivo* efficacy of 25-OCH<sub>3</sub>-PPD, a ginsenoside aglycone, in combination with docetaxel, both administered intraperitoneally.

We have previously shown that Rh2 and paclitaxel acted synergistically in cultured LNCaP cells, an androgen-sensitive human prostate cancer cell line (Xie et al, 2006). In the same study, we also reported that oral treatment of LNCaP tumors with Rh2 produced a significant decrease in tumor growth which was accompanied with a significant decrease in serum prostate specific antigen (PSA) when combined with intravenously administered paclitaxel (Xie *et al*, 2006). The present study is the first in a series of investigations exploring the pre-clinical development and efficacy testing of Rh2 in an androgen-insensitive model for prostate cancer. Rh2 is thus being evaluated as a potential agent for use in combination with docetaxel for treatment of locally advanced and metastatic prostate cancer. Docetaxel and Rh2 are administered intravenously and orally, respectively; two relevant pharmacological routes of administration. Initially, the solubility and stability of Rh2 in ethanol was determined. The ethanol solubilized drug was formulated for oral gavage with propylene glycol and water. A high performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectroscopy (LC/MS) method was then developed and validated for the quantitation of Rh2. This assay was used to determine the pharmacokinetic and biodistribution of Rh2 following oral administration to nude mice. The dose used for these preliminary pharmacokinetic studies was determined to be well tolerated and effective when used to treat animals bearing established PC-3 tumors, an androgen-insensitive human prostate cancer model. Serum creatinine levels, as a measure of renal toxicity, were measured using a published HPLC method (Dunn et al, 2004). Liver toxicity was assessed by measuring serum levels of aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and alanine aminotransferase (ALT)

levels (Wang *et al*, 2007). Antitumor activity was associated with a increase in apoptotic cells and a decrease in the proliferation marker Ki-67 (Kameyama *et al*, 2000).

### 2.2 Materials and methods

#### **Test compounds and materials**

Ginsenoside Rh2 (M.W. 640.89 g/mol), as a white powder, was purchased from LKT Laboratories Inc., St. Paul, MN. (USA), and generously supplied by Panagin Pharmaceuticals Inc, Richmond, BC (Canada). Taxotere<sup>®</sup> (docetaxel) was purchased from BC Cancer Agency Pharmacy as a 40 mg/ml solution in polysorbate 80, manufactured by Aventis Pharma Inc. Saint-Laurent, Québec (Canada). Cholic acid (M.W. 408.58 g/mol) and all other chemicals were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd. (Oakville, ON, Canada).

#### LC/MS analysis of Rh2

#### Instrumentation and conditions

The HPLC system consisted of an integrated Waters Alliance 2695 quarternary solvent delivery system with low pressure mixing, plus autosampler and 996 photodiode array detector (Waters Corp., Milford, MA). Rh2 and cholic acid (internal standard) were resolved on an Externa C18 column (3.5  $\mu$ m, 50 mm x 2.1 mm; Waters, Milford, Massachussets) with Mobile Phases A, B, C, and D; ddH<sub>2</sub>O, methanol, acetonitrile, and 0.5% acetic acid respectively. The following gradient profile was used: t = 0-2 min, 40% A, 50% B, 10% D; t = 3-6 min, 10% A, 70% B, 10% C, 10% D, t = 7 min, 70% B, 20% C, 10% D; t = 8 min, 50% B, 40% C, 10% D, t = 8.5-9.0 min, 50% B, 50% C; t = 10-14 min, 100% C; t = 15-22 min, 40% A, 50% B, 10% D. The flow rate was 0.2-0.25 ml min<sup>-1</sup>. A Waters/Micromass ZQ 2000 detector was used for quantitative analysis of Rh2 and cholic acid. The ZQ 2000 detector settings were as follows: Capillary: 3kV, Desolvation temperature: 300°C, Source temperature: 120°C, Cone temperature: 20°C, Extractor, RF lens and Multiplier voltages: 1.0, 0.5 and 650 V respectively, desolvation and Cone gas flows: 350 and 50 l/hr respectively. For Single Ion Recording (SIR) functions, *m/z* 

values of 681.0 and 407.2 were selected for Rh2 and cholic acid respectively, with 0.1 sec dwell and a cone voltage of 50 V. MassLynx version 3.4 (Micromass UK Ltd, Manchester, UK) was used to perform peak integration.

#### Assay validation

Primary standard solutions of Rh2 were prepared in 100% ethanol and spiked with cholic acid (internal standard). Secondary standard solutions were obtained by spiking 120  $\mu$ l of 95% methanol with 10  $\mu$ l of the primary standard solution to yield nominal concentrations over a range of 0.01 – 20.0  $\mu$ g/ml. All standard solutions were stored at 4°C.

#### Linearity and range

Five concentrations of Rh2 standard solutions were analyzed (n=3): 0.5, 2.0, 5.0, 10.0, and 20.0  $\mu$ g/ml. The minimum acceptable correlation coefficient to establish linearity was set at 0.99. The detector response was correlated against analyte concentration by least-squares regression.

#### **Precision and accuracy**

Three concentrations of Rh2 standard solutions were analyzed (n = 6) over 3 days: 0.5, 2.0, and 10.0 µg/ml. The mean, standard deviation (S.D.), coefficient of variation (C.V.), and relative error (R.E.) were determined for the six replicate runs.

#### Limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantitation (LOQ) of Rh2

Stock solutions of Rh2 were prepared in triplicate at 12 concentrations: 0.001, 0.02, 0.05, 0.5, 2.0, 5.0, 10.0, 20.0, 50.0, 100.0, 200.0, and 500.0  $\mu$ g/ml. We defined the LOD as the minimum concentration that could be detected based on a signal-to-noise (S/N) ratio of 3 to 1. The LOQ was the minimum concentration that could be quantified based on S/N ratio of 10 to 1.

## **Solubility**

Standard solutions of Rh2 in ethanol were prepared between 1 and 10  $\mu$ M (1  $\mu$ M, 2.5  $\mu$ M, 5  $\mu$ M, 7.5 $\mu$ M, and 10  $\mu$ M) and analyzed by HPLC. A calibration curve of peak area versus concentration was generated and a linear relationship shown. Three sets of saturated solutions of Rh2 were then prepared at room temperature by incubating an excess of the compound in 2 ml of 100% ethanol in capped test tubes. The mixture was vigorously mixed and stored at room temperature for 30 minutes; this time was determined to be sufficient for insoluble materials to settle from the mixture. The clear supernatant was sequentially diluted and the amount of Rh2 in the diluted solutions quantified by HPLC. Using the calibration curve linear equation and incorporating dilution factors, the amount of compound dissolved in the saturated solutions was determined.

## Stability of samples at 4°C, room temperature, and 60°C

232 mg of Rh2 was dissolved in 1.8 ml of 100% ethanol, a concentration based on the maximum solubility of 130 mg/ml determined using the methods described above. The mixture was mixed vigorously and 200  $\mu$ l pipetted into each of nine eppendorf tubes. One set of three eppendorf tubes was stored at 4°C (n = 3), the second set of tubes (n = 3) at room temperature, and the last set (n = 3) at 60°C. The concentration of Rh2 in these solutions was determined by HPLC on day 1, 2, 3, 7, 14, 21 and 28.

## **Oral gavage formulation**

232 mg of Rh2 was dissolved in 1.8 ml of 100% ethanol and mixed vigorously (based on maximum solubility of 130 mg/ml). In a separate container 700  $\mu$ l of ddH<sub>2</sub>O was mixed (by

vortexing) with 5.5 ml of propylene glycol. The propylene glycol-water mixture was then mixed with the Rh2-containing ethanol solution.

#### Pharmacokinetic and biodistribution studies

PC-3 cells (1.0 x 10<sup>6</sup>) were inoculated subcutaneously into 6-8 week old male nude mice (Harlan Sprague Dawley, Inc.) weighing 25-31 g. After 14 days, the developing tumors were measured and mice randomly assigned in different treatment groups based on their weight. Ten groups of three mice were dosed by oral gavage with Rh2 at 120 mg/kg (103-128 µl) (highest achievable dose, limited due to gavage volume limitations (150  $\mu$ l) imposed by the institutional animal care committee) or the vehicle control at an equivalent volume based on weight. Mice were terminated using CO<sub>2</sub> asphyxiation upon which blood (obtained by cardiac puncture) and major tissues (stomach, small intestine, liver, kidney, spleen, brain, and lung) were promptly collected at 30, 60, 120, and 200 minutes after administration. Typically, 500 to 700 µl of blood was obtained and then placed into a Plasma Separator tube (Microtainer®, Becton Dickinson, NJ, USA), mixed, and placed on ice. The prostate and tumors were then collected at 10, 20, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, 150, and 200 minute time points. Tissues were collected and flash frozen, prior to placing the samples in storage at -80°C. To assess Rh2 extraction efficiency, blank plasma and tissue homogenate samples (obtained from vehicle treated mice) were spiked with Rh2 and cholic acid to achieve three concentrations (0.5, 2.0, and 10.0 µg/ml). The spiked samples were subsequently extracted and analyzed using the HPLC method described above.

#### Plasma – Solid-phase sample preparation

C18 Sep-Pak extraction columns mounted on a vacuum extraction manifold (Waters, Massachusetts, USA) were first equilibrated with 1 ml of 100% methanol and 1 ml of ddH<sub>2</sub>O.

After loading with 200 µl of plasma spiked with 10 µl of cholic acid (internal standard), each column was subsequently washed with 1 ml of ddH<sub>2</sub>O followed by 1 ml of 30% methanol. The column was then eluted twice with 1 ml of 100% methanol into eppendorf tubes, and the eluate was dried in a speed-vac (Labconco Centrivap) at 35°C. The residue was reconstituted with 100 µl of 100% methanol, mixed vigorously, sonicated and transferred into HPLC auto-sampler vials. A non-compartmental method using the nonlinear least squares regression program WinNonlin (Scientific Consulting Inc., Cary, N.C., USA) was used to analyze the plasma concentration data at four time-points: 30, 60, 120, and 200 min. The area under the plasma concentration versus time curve (AUC) was calculated using the trapezoidal rule extrapolated to infinity. Pharmacokinetic parameters were generated including the terminal half-life ( $t_{1/2}$ ) (n = 3), the systemic clearance (Cl), the peak plasma concentration ( $C_{max}$ ), and the time to reach  $C_{max}$  following oral administration ( $T_{max}$ ).

#### Tissues

Tissue samples were ultrasonicated in 4 x w/v of 0.01 M pH 7.8 phosphate buffer. 200  $\mu$ l of the homogenate was spiked with cholic acid (internal standard) and mixed for one minute. Ice cold acetonitrile (800  $\mu$ l) was added to the homogenate and mixed for one minute for protein precipitation. The sample was then centrifuged at 12,000 g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was dried at 35°C, the residue was reconstituted in 200  $\mu$ l of 100% methanol, vortexed and sonicated, and injected onto the HPLC column. Standard calibration curves were analyzed at three concentrations (n = 3): 0.5, 2.0, and 10.0  $\mu$ g/ml.

#### **Efficacy and Toxicity of Rh2**

PC-3 cells (1.0 x 10<sup>6</sup>) were inoculated subcutaneously into 6-8 week old male nude mice (Harlan Sprague Dawley, Inc.) weighing 25-31 g. After 14 days, the developing tumors were measured and mice randomly assigned in different treatment groups based on tumor size. n = 8 for the Rh2 and docetaxel groups while n = 6 for the oral gavage control and saline groups. A caliper was used to measure the three perpendicular axes of each tumor. The formula  $V = (L \times W \times H)\frac{\pi}{6}$ where L is the length, W the width, and H the height, was used to calculate the tumor volume. Mice bearing measurable tumors qualified for the study and the average tumor volume when treatment was initiated was 120 mm<sup>3</sup>. Mice were weighed five days a week and tumors measured twice a week for 25 days. Four different treatment groups were defined: (i) Rh2 solubilized in ethanol:propylene glycol:water (2:7:1 ratio) was administered by oral gavage at a dose of 120 mg/kg (103-128 µl volume range) using a QD x 5 schedule each week for 4 weeks; (ii) vehicle control consisting of ethanol:propylene glycol:water (2:7:1 ratio) given at an equivalent dose of 120 mg/kg (103-128 µl volume range) using a QD x 5 schedule each week for 4 weeks; (iii) docetaxel, used as a positive treatment control, was administered intravenously via the lateral tail vein at a dose of 20 mg/kg (100-124 µl volume range) using a Q7D x 4 dose schedule; and (iv) saline (100-124 µl volume range) given Q7D x 4. The mice were monitored daily for changes in weight and other signs of acute toxicity. Serum creatinine levels were determined using an HPLC system consisting of a Waters 2695 separations module paired with a Waters 996 photodiode array detector (Waters Corp., Milford, MA). Creatinine was resolved on a 3.0 µm bore diameter 2.1 x 50 mm Waters Atlantis<sup>TM</sup> HILIC Silica column with a Mobile Phase consisting of 95 % acetonitrile solution containing 0.025% ammonium formate. Serum ALT and AST were quantified using standard ALT and AST kinetic assay kits (Stanbio

Laboratory, Boerne, Texas) adapted in 96-well plates. For serum creatinine, ALT and AST level determination, Rh2 treated mice were compared to the control and the untreated groups.

## Analysis of apoptosis and proliferation markers

At the end of the efficacy studies, mice were sacrificed and tumors were excised, formalin-fixed, and then paraffin-embedded. A Tissue Micro-Array (TMA) was constructed by extracting four 600-µm diameter cores of tumor tissue from each paraffin block using a Beecher Instruments tissue core extractor and re-embedding these cores into a gridded paraffin block. After construction, 4-µm tissue sections were cut and adhered to Fisher SuperFrost Plus glass slides. Apoptotic cells were then visualized by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT) mediated deoxyuridine triphosphate (dUTP) nick-end labeling (TUNEL) staining which was carried out using the ApopTag<sup>®</sup> Peroxidase Kit. Tissues were pretreated with proteinase K for 15 minutes. Subsequently, TdT enzyme was applied and the tissue incubated in a humid chamber at 37°C for 1 hour. Anti-digoxigenin peroxidase conjugate was later applied for 30 minutes, followed by DAB, and counter-stain with hematoxylin, as well as Staining Blueing Reagent. For Ki-67, a Mouse-To-Mouse immunohistochemical detection kit (Chemicon®) was used to decrease nonspecific staining. Ki-67 (Dako, Carpinteria, California) (1:200) monoclonal antibodies were used in combination with immunoperoxidase procedures (LSAB + peroxidase kit). Antigen retrial was applied by steaming with citrate buffer for 30 minutes. The TMA slides were imaged digitally and evaluated by visual scoring of apoptotic and Ki-67 positive cells. Scores from individual tumor cores with significant necrosis were omitted. Scoring was completed by two pathologists blinded to the study groups.

## Statistical analysis

For each studied variable, mean and standard error of the mean (S.E.M.) were calculated. Statistical significance and differences between the described treatment groups were assessed using the Tukey-Kramer/Student's t-test from within One-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) analysis. For these tests, the level of significance was set at a p value of at least < 0.05. All mean values were reported as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M.

#### 2.3 Results

#### **Assay validation**

The limit of detection (LOD) and the limit of quantitation (LOQ) of Rh2 were measured using the LC/MS method described in the Methods section. Using this assay the estimated LOD was 2.0 ng/ml while the LOQ that can be reliably and reproducibly measured was estimated to be 5.0 ng/ml. Standard curves for Rh2 showed linearity over the selected concentration range (0.01 – 20.0  $\mu$ g/ml). The correlation coefficients were > 0.99 throughout the validation procedure. Inter-day precision and accuracy as expressed by the RSD and the C.V. and R.E. respectively were less than 10%.

# Solubility, stability and formulation in the ethanol-propylene glycol-water ternary solvent system.

In order to formulate Rh2 for oral gavage, a strategy based on the use of the ethanol-propylene glycol-water ternary solvent system was developed. The first step in this process was to assess solubility of Rh2 in 100% ethanol at room temperature. The maximum solubility of Rh2, as determined by LC/MS analysis of the supernatant of saturated solutions, was  $130.0 \pm 2.3$  mg/ml. Ethanol solutions of Rh2 were stored at 4°C, room temperature and 60°C over a time frame of one month to assess Rh2 stability. The results, summarized in Figure 2.1B, suggest that Rh2 is stable at 4°C and room temperature. LC/MS analysis of Rh2 indicated that the drug concentration did not change over the 4 week time period. Rh2 underwent rapid thermal degradation, measured as a loss of intact drug, at 60°C. An approximate decrease of 40% in parent drug concentration was observed within 2 days and the drug was not detectable by day 28 (Figure 2.1B). The rate constant for the observed decrease in concentration at 60°C, k (60°C), is 0.14 and the representative compound half-life,  $t_{1/2}$  (60°C) was estimated to be 12.5 days. A

concentration change of  $\pm 15\%$  is generally considered acceptable in stability assays (USP, 2000) therefore it was concluded that ethanol solubilized drug solutions could be prepared and stored at 4°C for at least a time frame appropriate for the toxicity and efficacy assessments summarized below. Using the ethanol-propylene glycol-water ternary solvent system diagram designed by Sorby *et al.* (Sorby *et al*, 1963), the dielectric constant of the ethanol, propylene glycol and water mixture combined at the 2:7:1 v/v ratio was estimated to be approximately 31. The maximum solubility of Rh2 was achieved at this 2:7:1 v/v ratio.

#### **Pharmacokinetics and Biodistribution**

Extraction efficiencies for Rh2 from mouse plasma and tissues at three different concentrations (0.5, 2.0, and 10.0  $\mu$ g/ml) were determined as described in the Methods and the results summarized in Table 2.1A. The extraction efficiency from plasma was  $65.2 \pm 2.4$  % and this was not influenced by the concentration of Rh2 used in these assays. Extraction efficiencies from tissues varied from 79.6  $\pm$  3.2 % in stomach to essentially 100% in the kidney. Tissue standard calibration curves, summarized in Figure 2.2, exhibited excellent linearity (correlation coefficients of 0.98 or greater).

The plasma levels of Rh2 determined at various time points following oral administration of Rh2 have been summarized in Figure 2.1C. Rh2 levels in the plasma peaked at 19  $\mu$ g/ml and after 200 minutes were below the LOQ. Using these data, the pharmacokinetic parameters for Rh2 were estimated and summarized in Table 2.1B. The half-life (t<sub>1/2</sub>) was 99.6 ± 6.6 min., the clearance (Cl<sub>oral</sub>) was 46.5 ± 2.7 ml/min/kg while T<sub>max</sub> was 30.0 min. The AUC was 1884.3 ± 209.2  $\mu$ g.min/ml while C<sub>max</sub> was 19.0 ± 2.0  $\mu$ g/ml.

Tissue distribution data have been summarized in Figure 2.3. As expected, given the route of administration, Rh2 levels appeared to be highest in the small intestines, with approximately

54% of the drug recovered in the small intestines 30 minutes after the gavage was administered. Approximately 27% of the administered dose is found in the liver at the same time point. Rh2 level was not quantifiable in the brain at any of the selected time points and all tissues exhibited Rh2 levels below the LOD 200 minutes after administration. Approximately 0.08% of the administered dose was found in the prostate after 120 minutes and the Rh2 levels in this tissue remained quantifiable 200 minutes after administration (Figure 2.3E). The percent of administered dose localizing in the PC-3 tumor tissue was at 0.3% 90 minutes following administration (Figure 2.3F). The results clearly suggest that Rh2 is bioavailable after oral gavage in the vehicle formulation.

#### In vivo efficacy and toxicity

The therapeutic activity of Rh2 was determined using mice bearing tumors established following subcutaneous injection of PC-3 human prostate cancer cells. This study included negative control groups (saline and the vehicle control) as well as a positive treatment control (docetaxel administered Q7D x 4 at an established therapeutic dose (maximum tolerated dose (MTD)). The results summarized in Figure 2.4A clearly demonstrate that Rh2 was effective in inhibiting PC-3 tumor growth. At the end of the study (39 days after tumor cell inoculation, 25 days after treatment was initiated), the average tumor volume for saline treated and vehicle control treated animals was approximately 3 times the size of the average tumor volume did not change during this time course. Rh2 treatment group was statistically different from the control (p=0.012) and saline (p=0.008). Lack of tumor progression in animals treated with Rh2 is consistent with the belief that this ginsenoside will exert cytostatic effects rather than cytotoxic effects. In comparison, docetaxel (20 mg/kg Q7D x 4) caused established PC-3 tumors to regress. By day

39, tumors in docetaxel treated animals were still measurable but were 1/4 the size they were when treatment was initiated. On day 39, there was no statistically significant difference in tumor size in mice treated with Rh2 or docetaxel (p=0.179).

It should be noted that docetaxel administration was associated with almost 20% body weight loss (Figure 2.4B, filled squares), and this significant (p=0.025) weight loss compared to saline is consistent with what would be expected for docetaxel administered at its MTD. In comparison, treatment with Rh2 (Figure 2.4B, open triangles) resulted in < 8% loss in mean body weight. This toxicity could be attributed to the repeated animal handling required for daily gavages since the vehicle alone (filled circle) engendered similar, albeit not significant reductions in mean body weight. Interestingly ALT, AST, and ALT/AST levels of Rh2 were significantly lower than the untreated group (p = 0.0001, 0.0149, and 0.0001, respectively) (Table 2.2). There was no statistical difference in creatinine levels between the Rh2 and the control (p = 0.5150) or untreated group (p = 0.3247) (Table 2.2). No statistically significant difference in creatinine level was also found between the control and untreated groups (p = 0.0869). In summary, treatment with Rh2 was achieved at a dose which was well tolerated by the animals.

As other measures of therapeutic activity, PC-3 tumors were isolated from mice at the end of the study and prepared for immunohistochemical assessments of apoptosis and inhibition of Ki-67 labeling. The results, summarized in Figure 2.4D and E, indicate that tumors from mice treated with docetaxel exhibited the highest apoptotic index. The average apoptotic index for the control groups were 9.30 and 7.30% for the oral control and saline respectively. These increased to 14.4% in tumors from animals treated with Rh2 and 22.6% in tumors from animals treated with docetaxel. The apoptotic index observed in mice treated with docetaxel was significantly

greater than the control groups (p=0.022 (oral control) and p=0.015 (saline)) but not significantly different than that observed in tumors from Rh2 treated animals (p = 0.127). The apoptotic index in tumors from animals treated with Rh2 were greater than those observed for controls, but this difference was not significantly different (p=0.079 (oral control and p=0.054 (saline)) (Figure 2.4D). Ki-67 positive cells in tumors from mice treated with Rh2 were lower than that determined for the vehicle control or those tumors derived from docetaxel treated animals. Of the Rh2 tumors, 6.1% were Ki-67 positive whereas the control groups exhibited a significantly higher levels of 23.4 and 21.3% positive staining for the oral control and saline respectively (p=0.003 (oral control) and 0.011 (saline)) and tumors from the docetaxel treated groups exhibited 14.4% (p=0.014 (oral control) and p=0.02 (saline)) positive staining (Figure 2.4E).

#### 2.4 Discussion

We have described a novel oral dosage formulation for ginsenoside Rh2. Pharmacokinetic analysis of Rh2 following oral administration indicates that Rh2 is absorbed when administered by oral gavage. At the highest achievable dose (120 mg/kg) with this formulation, Rh2 proved to be well tolerated in the nude mouse model used and the systemic blood levels achieved following daily gavage were sufficient to prevent progression of established PC-3 tumors. Biodistribution data indicated that intact Rh2 could be isolated from prostate tissue and established PC-3 tumors following oral administration. In aggregate, the results presented here provide strong support for our efforts to develop Rh2 for clinical evaluations and we are particularly interested in the potential of using this agent in combination with docetaxel for treatment of relapsed and hormone insensitive metastatic prostate cancer. The discussion here will therefore consider the potential of Rh2 and its appropriate formulation for use as a welltolerated drug with potential to augment the therapeutic effects of current chemotherapy.

Rh2 (Figure 2.1A) is an extremely hydrophobic molecule and presents some formulation challenges. Although we are interested in the development of systemic formulations for this ginsenoside, the focus here was to define a suitable formulation for oral administration. The solubility of Rh2 in water miscible solvents such as ethanol is enhanced by the presence of the glucose sugar moiety located at position C-3 on the steroid skeleton. Since the glucose moiety contributes four extra hydroxyl groups, more hydrogen bonds can be established with ethanol. Hydrophobic compounds that lack comparable functional groups typically have a greater preference for solvents with low or zero dipole moments and dielectric constants. Ethanol, however, with a dielectric constant of 24.6 is a better solvent for Rh2 compared to water which possesses a dielectric constant of 80.1 (James, 1986). Ethanol was used to dissolve Rh2 at a

concentration of 130 mg/ml and this solubilized material was then mixed with propylene glycol and water to define an oral dosage formulation. As noted in Figure 2.1B, accelerated stability studies with Rh2 in ethanol at three temperatures suggested that Rh2 could be stored at 4°C or room temperature for at least one month without any significant change in concentration. With a boiling point of 78.15°C for ethanol (O'Neil *et al*, 2001), we also chose to evaluate Rh2 stability at 60°C, maintaining the samples in sealed vials to minimize evaporation. Rh2 was unstable when incubated at this higher temperature. Degradation was observed within 48 hours and progressed rapidly with nearly 80% degradation observed within 14 days.

The final formulation selected for use in oral Rh2 administration comprised ethanol, propylene glycol and water mixed at a ratio (v:v) of 2:7:1. Propylene glycol is extensively used both as a solvent for water-insoluble drugs and as a preservative in topical, parenteral, and oral formulations (Nagatomo *et al*, 2001). Propylene glycol has been shown to be relatively innocuous (LD<sub>50</sub>=21 g/kg) in acute oral toxicity studies with rats (Lanigan, 2001; Nagatomo *et al*, 2001). Using the ethanol-propylene glycol-water ternary solvent system diagram designed by Sorby *et al*. (Sorby *et al*, 1963), the dielectric constant of the formulated Rh2 oral gavage mixture was estimated to be 31, ideal for the solubility of Rh2.

In addition to defining a suitable formulation for use in *in vivo* studies, it was essential to have appropriate analytical methods in place to help assess drug stability as well as Rh2 pharmacokinetic and biodistribution behavior following administration. Therefore, a significant portion of the work described here concerns development and partial validation of an analytical assay for Rh2. As summarized earlier, the LOD was estimated to be 2.0 ng/ml while the LOQ value was 5.0 ng/ml. Xie *et al.* obtained an LOQ of 2 ng/ml for Rh2 in rat plasma and estimated that plasma concentrations of Rh2 could be reliably quantitated between 2 and 100 ng/ml (Xie *et* 

*al*, 2005b). The mobile phase used by these investigators was supplemented with ammonium chloride. Our LOD and LOQ values in 100% ethanol were comparable to Xie *et al.* We have since shown that the method developed here can reliably be used for the determination of Rh2 in mouse plasma and tissues, including prostate and tumor tissues. The robustness of our method is evidenced by the linearity of the tissue calibration curves with excellent correlation factors of 0.98 or greater (Figure 2.2).

Using the LC/MS assay described above, pharmacokinetic studies were completed after oral administration of Rh2 in the ethanol, propylene glycol and water formulation. The data summarized in Figures 2.3 clearly demonstrates that Rh2 is bioavailable after oral gavage. These results are consistent with a previous study of ginsenoside K, a compound of similar structure to Rh2 which has one glucose moiety at C-20 instead of C-3. Paek et al. obtained an AUC of 341.0 (µg.min/ml) following a 20 mg/kg dose of ginsenoside K administered to rats. The Rh2 AUC determined in mice (Table 2.1B) was six times that value, however the dose administered in these studies was six times greater than that used by Paek et al. Thirty minutes following administration, < 2% of the administered dose could be found in the stomach, with 54% of the Rh2 administered dose found in the small intestine and 27% of the Rh2 administered dose found in the liver (Figure 2.3A). Considering that Rh2 is being investigated for the treatment of prostate cancer, mouse prostates and tumors were harvested at more frequent intervals, compared to the other tissues. Approximately 0.1% of the administered dose could be isolated from prostate tissue 120 minutes after administration (Figure 2.3E). Similarly, in the subcutaneous PC-3 tumors, approximately 0.3% of the administered dose could be isolated from the tumor 90 minutes after administration (Figure 2.3F). The biodistribution data presented here are consistent with the conclusion that Rh2 administered orally in the ethanol, propylene glycol and water

formulation is readily absorbed and accesses key target tissues in an intact, unmetabolized form. Paek *et al.* determined the transport rate in Caco-2 cell monolayers to be  $3-6 \ge 10^{-6}$  cm/s for ginsenoside K. Since a transport rate of  $2 \ge 10^{-6}$  cm/s corresponds to almost complete absorption of an agent in the human intestine, they concluded that ginsenoside K should be well absorbed by the intestine (Paek *et al*, 2006). The biodistribution data summarized in Figure 2.3 is consistent with the ginsenoside K results. In fact, Hasegawa *et al.* (Hasegawa *et al*, 2000) showed that ginsenoside K also accumulated in the liver following oral administration and they concluded that this accumulation was in part the result of hepatocyte receptors capable of recognizing and binding the associated glucose moiety.

It should be noted that others have shown that Rh2 could be metabolized through deglycosylation to aPPD, its aglycone derivative (Ota *et al*, 1991). Further, Karikura *et al*. showed that ginsenoside hydrolysis and associated cleavage of linked sugar moieties occurs rapidly in 0.1 N HCl, an acidity comparable to that of gastric juice (Karikura *et al*, 1991). It has been suggested that this metabolism was also observed in the intestine, following oral administration of Rh2 (Xie *et al*, 2005a). Importantly, the LC/MS method developed here could also detect aPPD (results not shown) yet there was no evidence of aPPD in the plasma or tissues extracted from Rh2 treated mice. Secondary metabolites of ginsenosides such as Rh2 have also been suspected of being responsible for the observed pharmacological activities. By assessing the primary aglycone metabolite generated by intestinal bacteria, Hasegawa *et al*. suggested that secondary metabolites may form in the liver. These esterified complexes with fatty acids are believed to be responsible for the tumour growth inhibitory effect generally attributed to ginsenosides and their aglycones (Hasegawa *et al*, 2000). We have demonstrated the presence of intact unmetabolized Rh2 in the blood and every harvested tissue examined, including prostate

and tumor tissue. Future investigation might involve detection and quantitation of possible esterified secondary metabolites from the liver of Rh2 treated mice. As discussed earlier, we did not detect the presence of aPPD, the aglycone of Rh2 in the blood or any tissue. Nonetheless, our group has evaluated an aPPD formulation in a manner comparable to that which is reported here as part of a separate study.

Importantly, the formulation developed here was well tolerated when given (120 mg/kg) QD x 5 each week for four weeks. The mice monitored in our study showed no acute signs of toxicity as determined by body weight loss (Figure 2.4B) and this observation is consistent with other studies (Chen et al, 1980) that suggest that ginsenosides in general, and Rh2 in particular, cause negligible toxicity, even at the maximal achievable dose. As shown in Table 2.2, secondary measures of liver toxicity also suggest the drug is well tolerated. Serum ALT and AST activity following Rh2 administration were not increased. ALT and AST values for all three groups were within the expected range for normal mice (ALT  $\leq$  50 U/l and AST  $\leq$  150 U/l) (Saad et al, 1993). Serum creatinine levels were determined as a measure of kidney toxicity and the results suggest that there was no statistical difference in creatinine levels between the Rh2 and the control (p = 0.5150) or untreated group (p = 0.3247) (Table 2.2). The untreated group was also not statistically different from the control group (p = 0.0869). Despite the apparent difference in serum creatinine level between the untreated and control group, values for all three groups were within the expected range for normal mice (0.05 to 0.15 mg/dl) (Dunn et al, 2004), suggesting no significant toxic effects of Rh2 on this organ.

Consistent with previous findings (Nakata *et al*, 1998), Rh2 appears to exhibit therapeutic activity when used to treat established tumors derived following subcutaneous injection of PC-3 cells (Figure 2.4A) and the results suggest that the activity, albeit lower, was comparable to that

achieved when treating mice with docetaxel administered at its MTD. Nakata et al. demonstrated that a daily oral administration of Rh2 to nude mice bearing HRA human ovarian cancer xenograft caused an inhibitory effect comparable to a weekly administration of 4 mg/kg cisplatin (Nakata et al, 1998). Like most ginsenosides, Rh2 treated mice showed no signs of toxicity while nearly half of cisplatin-treated mice had to be terminated due to acute body weight loss. Interestingly, Nakata et al attributed the therapeutic effects of Rh2 to enhanced NK activity however our work in immunocompromised mice suggests additional mechanisms may also be involved (Nakata et al, 1998). To better understand the nature of Rh2 mediated therapeutic effects, PC-3 tumors were isolated at the end of the treatment phase of the study and measures of apoptosis (TUNEL staining) and proliferation (Ki-67) were made. The apoptotic index of the docetaxel group was significantly higher than the control groups (p=0.022 (oral control) and p=0.015 (saline)). While the value determined in tumors from animals treated with the Rh2 group were approximately 50% greater than that seen for control tumors, this difference was not statistically significantly (p=0.079 (oral control and p=0.054 (saline)) (Figure 2.4D). Others have shown that ginsenosides are strong promoters of apoptosis in a rat glioma model (Kim et al, 1999), a human melanoma model (Fei et al, 2002), an ovarian cancer model (Nakata et al, 1998), a breast cancer model (Oh et al, 1999), a hepatocellular carcinoma model (Park et al, 1997) as well as in models of neuroblastoma (Kim et al, 2000). The fact that we did not observe significant increases in the apoptotic index may be related to the time points used in our study. In our study we demonstrated that Rh2 significantly inhibited cell proliferation as measured by Ki-67 labeling (Figure 2.4E) and the extent of suppression was significantly lower than what was observed in tumors isolated from animals treated with docetaxel.

In summary, the formulation that we describe here is well tolerated and effective when used to treat established PC-3 tumors. Pharmacokinetic and biodistribution studies suggest that Rh2 is well absorbed. Future studies will assess the activity of this ginsenoside when used in combination with conventional cytotoxic/cytostatic drugs, in particular docetaxel, *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The efficacy results shown here indicate that continuous dosing of Rh2 will mediate effects that suppress tumor growth (i.e. results in stable disease), but it is understood that tumor growth will recur once treatment has stopped. This cytostatic effect may be important when using Rh2 in a combination setting with a chemotherapeutic known to cause regression of established tumors, as was observed here when PC-3 tumor bearing mice were treated with docetaxel.

## 2.5 Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank Panagin Pharmaceuticals Inc, Richmond, BC (Canada) for generously supplying Rh2. We also would like to recognize the staff of the Jack Bell animal resource centre for providing outstanding care for the animals used in these studies. This research was supported in part by grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (MBB) and Health Canada (EG).

## 2.6 Bibliography

Chen SE, Sawchuk RJ, Staba EJ (1980) American ginseng. III. Pharmacokinetics of ginsenosides in the rabbit. *Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet* **5:** 161-8

De Wit R (2008) Chemotherapy in hormone-refractory prostate cancer. BJU Int 101 Suppl 2: 11-5

Dunn SR, Qi Z, Bottinger EP, Breyer MD, Sharma K (2004) Utility of endogenous creatinine clearance as a measure of renal function in mice. *Kidney Int* **65**: 1959-67

Fei XF, Wang BX, Tashiro S, Li TJ, Ma JS, Ikejima T (2002) Apoptotic effects of ginsenoside Rh2 on human malignant melanoma A375-S2 cells. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* 23: 315-22

Hasegawa H, Lee KS, Nagaoka T, Tezuka Y, Uchiyama M, Kadota S, Saiki I (2000) Pharmacokinetics of ginsenoside deglycosylated by intestinal bacteria and its transformation to biologically active fatty acid esters. *Biol Pharm Bull* **23**: 298-304

James KC (1986) Solubility and related properties. . Vol. Vol. 28. New York: M. Dekker

Jia WW, Bu X, Philips D, Yan H, Liu G, Chen X, Bush JA, Li G (2004) Rh2, a compound extracted from ginseng, hypersensitizes multidrug-resistant tumor cells to chemotherapy. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 82: 431-7

Jin J, Shahi S, Kang HK, Hendrik WVV, Fan T (2006) Metabolites of ginsenosides as novel BCRP inhibitors. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **345**: 1308-14

Kameyama K, Takami H, Umemura S, Osamura YR, Wada N, Sugino K, Mimura T, Ito K (2000) PCNA and Ki-67 as prognostic markers in human parathyroid carcinomas. *Ann Surg Oncol* 7: 301-4

Karikura M, Miyase T, Tanizawa H, Taniyama T, Takino Y (1991) Studies on absorption, distribution, excretion and metabolism of ginseng saponins. VII. Comparison of the decomposition modes of ginsenoside-Rb1 and -Rb2 in the digestive tract of rats. *Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo)* **39**: 2357-61

Kim HE, Oh JH, Lee SK, Oh YJ (1999) Ginsenoside RH-2 induces apoptotic cell death in rat C6 glioma via a reactive oxygen- and caspase-dependent but Bcl-X(L)-independent pathway. *Life Sci* **65:** PL33-40

Kim YS, Jin SH, Lee YH, Park JD, Kim SI (2000) Differential expression of protein kinase C subtypes during ginsenoside Rh2-Induced apoptosis in SK-N-BE(2) and C6Bu-1 cells. *Arch Pharm Res* 23: 518-24

Lanigan RS (2001) Final report on the safety assessment of PPG-11 and PPG-15 stearyl ethers. *Int J Toxicol* 20: 53-9.

Nagatomo I, Akasaki Y, Hashiguchi W, Tominaga M, Uchida M, Takigawa M (2001) A Solvent Used for Antiepileptic Drugs Increases Serum and Brain Zonisamide Concentrations in Seizure-Susceptible EL Mice. *Epilepsy Behav* **2:** 357-362.

Nakata H, Kikuchi Y, Tode T, Hirata J, Kita T, Ishii K, Kudoh K, Nagata I, Shinomiya N (1998) Inhibitory effects of ginsenoside Rh2 on tumor growth in nude mice bearing human ovarian cancer cells. Jpn J Cancer Res 89: 733-40

O'Neil MJ, Smith A, Heckelman PE, Obenchain JR, Gallipeau JAR, D'Arecca MA (eds) (2001) *The Merck Index*. Merck Research Laboratories: Whitehouse Station, NJ

Oh M, Choi YH, Choi S, Chung H, Kim K, Kim SI, Kim DK, Kim ND (1999) Anti-proliferating effects of ginsenoside Rh2 on MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. *Int J Oncol* **14**: 869-75

Oh WK (2003) The evolving role of chemotherapy and other systemic therapies for managing localized prostate cancer. *J Urol* **170**: S28-32; discussion S33-4

Ota T, Maeda M, Odashima S (1991) Mechanism of action of ginsenoside Rh2: uptake and metabolism of ginsenoside Rh2 by cultured B16 melanoma cells. *J Pharm Sci* 80: 1141-6

Paek IB, Moon Y, Kim J, Ji HY, Kim SA, Sohn DH, Kim JB, Lee HS (2006) Pharmacokinetics of a ginseng saponin metabolite compound K in rats. *Biopharm Drug Dispos* 27: 39-45

Park JA, Lee KY, Oh YJ, Kim KW, Lee SK (1997) Activation of caspase-3 protease via a Bcl-2insensitive pathway during the process of ginsenoside Rh2-induced apoptosis. *Cancer Lett* **121:** 73-81

Parkin DM, Bray F, Ferlay J, Pisani P (2005) Global cancer statistics, 2002. CA Cancer J Clin 55: 74-108

Richardson MA, Sanders T, Palmer JL, Greisinger A, Singletary SE (2000) Complementary and alternative medicine use in a comprehensive cancer center and the implications for oncology. *J Clin Oncol* **18**: 2505-14

Saad AJ, Domiati-Saad R, Jerrells TR (1993) Ethanol ingestion increases susceptibility of mice to Listeria monocytogenes. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 17: 75-85

Sorby DL, Bitter RG, Webb JG (1963) Dielectric Constants of Complex Pharmaceutical Solvent Systems. I. Water-Ethanol-Glycerin and Water-Ethanol-Propylene Glycol. *J Pharm Sci* **52**: 1149-53

USP C (2000) USP Pharmacopeia & National Formulary. Vol. USP 24/NF 19. Rockville, MD: Board of Trustees of the USP Pharmacopeial Convention, Inc.

Wakabayashi C, Hasegawa H, Murata J, Saiki I (1997) In vivo antimetastatic action of ginseng protopanaxadiol saponins is based on their intestinal bacterial metabolites after oral administration. *Oncol Res* **9:** 411-7

Wang J, Zhou G, Chen C, Yu H, Wang T, Ma Y, Jia G, Gao Y, Li B, Sun J, Li Y, Jiao F, Zhao Y, Chai Z (2007) Acute toxicity and biodistribution of different sized titanium dioxide particles in mice after oral administration. *Toxicol Lett* **168**: 176-85

Wang W, Wang H, Rayburn ER, Zhao Y, Hill DL, Zhang R (2008) 20(S)-25-methoxyl-dammarane-3beta, 12beta, 20-triol, a novel natural product for prostate cancer therapy: activity in vitro and in vivo and mechanisms of action. *Br J Cancer* **98**: 792-802

Xie HT, Wang GJ, Chen M, Jiang XL, Li H, Lv H, Huang CR, Wang R, Roberts M (2005a) Uptake and metabolism of ginsenoside Rh2 and its aglycon protopanaxadiol by Caco-2 cells. *Biol Pharm Bull* **28:** 383-6

Xie HT, Wang GJ, Sun JG, Tucker I, Zhao XC, Xie YY, Li H, Jiang XL, Wang R, Xu MJ, Wang W (2005b) High performance liquid chromatographic-mass spectrometric determination of ginsenoside Rg3 and its metabolites in rat plasma using solid-phase extraction for pharmacokinetic studies. *J* Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 818: 167-73

Xie X, Eberding A, Madera C, Fazli L, Jia W, Goldenberg L, Gleave M, Guns ES (2006) Rh2 synergistically enhances paclitaxel or mitoxantrone in prostate cancer models. *J Urol* **175**: 1926-31

## 2.7 Tables

Table 2.1. (A) Average extraction efficiencies of Rh2 in plasma and tissues. Extraction standards were completed using three concentrations  $(0.5, 2.0, \text{ and } 5.0 \ \mu\text{g/ml})$  of Rh2 and each assay was determined in triplicate. (B) Pharmacokinetic parameters for Rh2 following oral administration of 120 mg/kg formulated in the ethanol-propylene glycol-water ternary solvent system described in the Methods. Since n = 3 per time point, three values were obtained for each parameter listed in the table. Values are reported as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

A

Plasma	Stomach	Small intestine	Liver	Lung	Spleen	Kidney	Brain	Prostate	Tumour
(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
65.2±2.4	79.6±3.2	99.0±10.7	92.9±2.6	90.3±10.0	96.5±2.7	111.5±7.1	108.0±5.9	<b>86</b> .2±3.1	93.4±3.7

B

Body Weight	t <sub>1/2</sub>	C <sub>max</sub>	Cl <sub>oral</sub>	AUC
(g)	(min)	(µg/ml)	(ml/min/kg)	(µg.min/ml)
25.8 ± 1.3	99.6 ± 6.6	19.0 ± 2.0	46.5 ± 2.7	1884.3 ± 209.2

t<sub>1/2</sub>: Half-life

C<sub>max</sub>: Peak Concentration

Cloral: Apparent oral clearance

AUC: Area under the plasma concentration versus time curve

Group	ALT	AST	ALT/AST	Creatinine	
	(Alanine aminotransferase) (U/L)	(Aspartate aminotransferase) (U/L)		(µg/ml)	
Rh2	19.57 ± 0.2*	48.39 ± 0.4**	0.36 ± 0.003*	1.11 ± 0.14***	
Oral control	$23.09 \pm 0.2$	54.60 ± 0.3	$0.48 \pm 0.005$	$1.21 \pm 0.07$	
Untreated	24.63 ± 0.2	52.06 ± 0.6	$0.47 \pm 0.006$	$0.84 \pm 0.22$	

#### Table 2.2. Secondary measures of toxicity in mice serum (n = 4). Values are reported as mean $\pm$ SEM.

P values – Rh2 compared with the untreated group

*p* = 0.0001 \*

\*\*

\*\*\*

p = 0.0001 p = 0.0149 p = 0.3247Units per litre U/L:

#### 2.8 Figure legends

#### **Figure Legends**

**Figure 2.1.** (a) Chemical structure of ginsenoside Rh2, a 20(S)-protopanaxadiol dammarane skeleton aglycone type. (b) Stability of Rh2 in 100% ethanol for 28 days. Conditions are 4°C (empty circles), room temperature (R.T., filled squares), and 60°C (filled triangles), n = 3. (c) Mean plasma concentration-time profile of Rh2 in mice following oral administration of 120 mg/kg, n = 3 per time point.

**Figure 2.2.** Tissue calibration curves determined using HPLC for Rh2 added to homogenates prepared from (a) Stomach, (b) Small intestine, (c) Liver, (d) Kidney, (e) Spleen, (f) Lung, (g) Brain.  $r^2$  values are  $\ge 0.98$ , n = 3. a.u.c.: area under the curve obtained from the Rh2 peak eluting from the HPLC. Error bars represent standard Error of the means.

**Figure 2.3.** (a)-(d): % administered dose of Rh2 in specified tissues isolated from mice following oral administration of 120 mg/kg. (a) 30 minutes (b) 60 minutes (c) 120 minutes (d) 200 minutes. E-F: % administered dose of Rh2 in the prostate (e) and tumors (f) isolated from mice 10, 20, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, 150, and 200 minutes following oral administration of 120 mg/kg. Data was obtained from three animals per time point and results are expressed as mean values ± SEM.

**Figure 2.4**. (a) *In vivo* efficacy of Rh2 in PC-3 bearing nude mice. Changes in tumor volume were followed over time for animals treated with the oral gavage vehicle control (ethanol, propylene glycol and water, filled circle), saline (x), Rh2 (120 mg/kg QD x 5, empty triangle), and docetaxel (20mg/kg Q7D x 4, filled square). Average tumor volumes are expressed as a percentage of the average initial tumor volume of each group at day 14, post PC-3 cells inoculation. Volumes were calculated using V =  $(LxWxH)/(\pi/6)$ . Mean value ± SEM is shown with error bars. A statistically significant difference was found between Rh2 and the control (*p*=0.0122) and saline (*p*=0.0081) on

day 39. No statistical difference between Rh2 and docetaxel (p=0.1787). n = 8 for Rh2 and docetaxel. n = 6 for the oral gavage control and saline. (b) *In vivo* toxicity as assessed by decreases in mean body weight. Body weight loss of > 20% is considered severe enough to warrant termination of the animals. No animals showed any signs of toxicity other then weight loss in these studies. Docetaxel showed a significant weight loss compared to saline (p=0.0246). n = 8 for Rh2 and docetaxel. n = 6 for the oral gavage control and saline. (c) Representative tissue microarray spots for PC-3 tumors: immunostained using a TUNEL assay by enzymatically labeling the free 3'-OH terminal generated on DNA fragments of 180 to 200 bp. Using this method, apoptotic cells could be identified in areas of viable tissue, as indicated by the arrows. (d) Apoptotic Index summarized from ApopTag<sup>®</sup> staining of tissue microarrays. (e) summarized Ki-67 staining of tissue microarrays. Mean scores were determined as a percentage of the total number of cells. Four cores of tissue were extracted per tumor and one tumor per animal. n (total number of cores) = 24 for the control and saline and 32 for Rh2 and docetaxel. Mean value ± SEM is shown with error bars. \* signifies statistically significant difference from the control.

## 2.9 Figures

## Figure 2.1





Time (Minute)













(c)



(d)



Group

(e)




# 3. SECOND MANUSCRIPT CHAPTER

A novel oral dosage formulation of the ginsenoside aglycone aPPD exhibits therapeutic activity against a hormone insensitive model of prostate cancer<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A version of this chapter has been submitted for publication. Co-authors: Andy Eberding, Catherine Wood, Hans Adomat, Ladan Fazli, Antonio Hurtado-Coll, William Jia, Marcel B. Bally, and Emma Tomlinson Guns.

## 3.1 Introduction

It is known that cancer patients often take complementary and alternative medicines (CAMs) while being treated with the best available treatment options (Richardson *et al*, 2000). Most patients consider use of CAMs because they feel the product will not do harm, based on an assumption of lack of toxicity (Richardson *et al*, 2000), while also providing potential therapeutic benefits. As one example, ginseng (Panax ginseng C.A. Meyer) has been used for medicinal purposes for a long time and proponents for its use claim that ginseng extracts are effective in treating a wide range of disorders including cancer (Duda *et al*, 1999; Nah *et al*, 1995; Yun *et al*, 2001; Zhang *et al*, 1996). Although the use of ginseng extracts for treatment of prostate cancer can be questioned, it is now well established that there are many active compounds within a given ginseng extract that exhibit measurable anticancer effects (Fei *et al*, 2002; Kim *et al*, 1999; Kim *et al*, 2000; Oh *et al*, 1999; Park *et al*, 1997). It is not unreasonable to pursue the development and use of these active components for treatment of cancer and our research team has an interest in developing selective ginsenosides for use in treatment of advanced prostate cancer.

From a nutraceutical perspective, this approach has been criticized in part because it can be argued that the therapeutic benefits arising from ginseng extracts are a result of the neutraceutical "cocktail" that exists in the extract. It is suggested that the combination of active ingredients act synergistically to produce therapeutic effects greater than that which can be achieved with the single active components (Budman *et al*, 2002; Chou & Talalay, 1984; Frei & Antman, 1997; Xie *et al*, 2006). It is obviously difficult to address this without first establishing the activities of individual components and their metabolites. This work is complex and arduous, even if one assumed that all active components could be identified and isolated. Our approach has been to consider the development of isolated ginsenosides in combination with medicines

that are part of existing standards of care (Xie *et al*, 2006). Here again, it is critical to first define the therapeutic effects achieved when the identified ginsenoside is used alone, prior to considering its use in combination with other chemotherapy drugs.

Our laboratory has recently reported on the anti-prostate cancer activity of the ginsenoside Rh2 (manuscript submitted). Rh2 is a tri-terpenoid glycoside saponin found in trace quantities in extracts from the roots of Panax ginseng C.A. Meyer. However, it is one of the major in vivo metabolic products of ginseng when taken orally (Jin et al, 2006; Popovich & Kitts, 2004). Others have demonstrated that Rh2 can be degraded, through a deglycosylation reaction, to aPPD (Figure 3.1A) and it has been suggested that this degradation occurs in the intestine following oral administration of Rh2 (Bae et al, 2004). Although we anticipated that treatment with Rh2 would result in systemic exposure to both Rh2 and aPPD, the LC/MS methods used to assess the plasma concentration of these agents indicated that there was no detectable level of aPPD in the plasma or tissues extracted from Rh2 treated mice (manuscript submitted). Further, since aPPD has been reported to exert its own therapeutic effects (including: (i) inducing cell cycle arrest in G1(Popovich & Kitts, 2002); (ii) inducing apoptosis (Wang et al, 2008b) and/or autophagy (Liu et al, 2007); and (iii) exhibiting anti-estrogen activity (Yu et al, 2007)), it is important to characterize its effect when used as a single agent in vivo. The studies described here evaluate the pharmacokinetic and biodistribution behavior of aPPD formulated for oral administration. In addition, a preliminary assessment of treatment induced toxicities and therapeutic activity was completed. Overall, the research described here is significant and relevant to the development of aPPD as a therapeutic agent for castrate resistant prostate cancer.

## 3.2 Materials and methods

Test compounds and materials: aPPD was purchased from LKT Laboratories Inc., St. Paul, MN. (USA) or generously supplied by Panagin Pharmaceuticals Inc, Richmond, BC (Canada). Taxotere<sup>®</sup> (docetaxel) was manufactured by Aventis Pharma Inc. Saint-Laurent, Québec (Canada). Cholic acid and all other chemicals were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd. (Oakville, ON, Canada).

## LC/MS analysis of aPPD:

The HPLC system consisted of an integrated Waters Alliance 2695 quarternary solvent delivery system with low pressure mixing, plus autosampler and 996 photodiode array detector (Waters Corp., Milford, MA). aPPD and cholic acid (internal standard) were resolved on an Externa C18 column ( $3.5 \mu$ m, 50 mm x 2.1 mm; Waters, Milford, Massachussets) with Mobile Phases ddH<sub>2</sub>O, methanol, acetonitrile, and 0.5% acetic acid. A Waters/Micromass ZQ 2000 detector and MassLynx version 3.4 (Micromass UK Ltd, Manchester, UK) were also used. Standard solutions of aPPD were prepared between 0.01 and 500.0 µg/ml (n=3). The Limit of Detection (LOD), or the minimum concentration that could be detected based on a signal-to-noise (S/N) ratio of 3 to 1, was defined. The Limit of Quantification (LOQ) was also determined. The LOQ was the minimum concentration that could be quantified based on S/N ratio of 10 to 1. The estimated LOD and LOQ were determined to be 5.0 ng/ml and 20.0 ng/ml, respectively.

In order to define the solubility of aPPD in ethanol, three sets of saturated solutions of aPPD were prepared at room temperature by incubating an excess of the compound in 2 ml of 100% ethanol. The mixture was mixed and stored at room temperature. After 30 minutes, the material that was not dissolved precipitated in the tube. The amount of aPPD in the clear supernatant was quantified by HPLC. These data indicated that the maximum solubility of aPPD was  $68.4 \pm 10.0$  mg/ml. Subsequently, stability studies were completed by first preparing a

solution of 120 mg of aPPD dissolved in 1.8 ml of 100% ethanol. This solution was pipetted (200  $\mu$ L) into each of nine eppendorf tubes. One set of three tubes was stored at 4°C, room temperature, and 60°C. The concentration of aPPD in these solutions was determined by HPLC on day 1, 2, 3, 7, 14, 21 and 28. This study indicated that aPPD was stable (<5% loss of parent drug) in ethanol at 4°C and room temperature for time frames of at least 1 month. aPPD underwent rapid thermal degradation, measured as a loss of intact drug, at 60°C (Figure 3.1B). A concentration change of ± 15% is generally considered acceptable(USP, 2000).

For analysis of aPPD in plasma and tissues; aPPD extraction efficiencies were first assessed by spiking blank plasma and tissue homogenate samples with aPPD and cholic acid to achieve three concentrations (0.5, 2.0, and 10.0 µg/ml). For plasma samples, the mixtures were placed on C18 Sep-Pak extraction columns mounted on a vacuum extraction manifold (Waters, Massachusetts, USA). The C18 Sep-Pak columns were first equilibrated with 1 ml of 100% methanol and 1 ml of ddH<sub>2</sub>O. After loading with 200  $\mu$ l of plasma spiked with 10  $\mu$ l of cholic acid, each column was subsequently washed with 1 ml of  $ddH_2O$  followed by 1 ml of 30% methanol. The column was then eluted twice with 1 ml of 100% methanol, the eluate was dried, the residue reconstituted with 100 µl of 100% methanol and transferred into HPLC. Tissue samples were ultrasonicated in 4 x w/v of 0.01 M pH 7.8 phosphate buffer. 200 µl of the homogenate was spiked with cholic acid and vortexed. Ice cold acetonitrile (800 µl) was added, vortexed, and the sample centrifuged at 12,000 g for 15 minutes. The supernatant was dried, the residue reconstituted in 200 µl of 100% methanol and injected into the HPLC column. Plasma or tissue standard calibration curves (results not shown), exhibited excellent linearity (correlation coefficients of 0.97 or greater). The extraction efficiency from plasma was  $59.0 \pm 2.4\%$  and this was not influenced by the concentration of aPPD used in these assays (Table 3.1A). Extraction

efficiencies from tissues vary from  $77.5 \pm 4.7\%$  in stomach to essentially 100% in the brain (Table 3.1A).

## **Oral gavage formulation:**

We recently described a formulation methodology suitable for Rh2 (manuscript submitted) and this method was also used for aPPD. In brief, 120 mg of aPPD was dissolved and mixed in 1.8 ml of 100% ethanol (based on maximum solubility of 68.4 mg/ml). Subsequently 700  $\mu$ l of ddH<sub>2</sub>O and 5.5 ml of propylene glycol were added and mixed. The resulting clear solution was then used for oral administration to mice. The highest daily dose of aPPD achievable using this formulation was 70 mg/kg assuming a maximum gavage volume of no more than 150  $\mu$ L.

## In vivo studies:

For pharmacokinetic and biodistribution studies five groups of three mice were dosed by oral gavage with aPPD (70 mg/kg) or the vehicle control (117-145 μl). Mice were terminated (by CO<sub>2</sub> asphyxiation) at 30, 60, 120, and 200 minutes following administration and blood was collected immediately by cardiac puncture and transferred into lithium heparin-containing microtainers. Major organs (stomach, small intestine, liver, kidney, spleen, brain, and lung) were also collected for analysis of aPPD levels. A non-compartmental method using the WinNonlin program (Scientific Consulting Inc., Cary, N.C., USA) was used to generate pharmacokinetic parameters.

For efficacy studies, PC-3 cells  $(1.0 \times 10^6)$  were inoculated subcutaneously into 6-8 week old male nude mice (Harlan Sprague Dawley, Inc.) weighing 25-31 g. After 14 days, tumors were measured and mice were then randomly assigned in different treatment groups. A caliper was used to measure each tumor and the formula  $V = (L \times W \times H)\frac{\pi}{6}$  where L is the length, W the width, and H the height, was used to calculate the tumor volume. The average tumor volume when treatment was initiated was 120 mm<sup>3</sup>. Four different treatment groups were defined: aPPD (70 mg/kg, p.o. QD x 5 schedule each week for 4 weeks), vehicle control (p.o. QD x 5 schedule each week for 4 weeks), docetaxel (positive control, 20 mg/kg, i.v. Q7D x 4 dose schedule) and saline (i.v. Q7D x 4 dose schedule). Mice were weighed five days a week and tumors measured twice a week. For the aPPD and docetaxel groups the n number of mice per group was defined at 8 while an n = 6 was used for the oral gavage and saline control groups. The mice were monitored daily for signs of acute toxicity.

# Analysis of apoptosis and proliferation markers:

At the end of the efficacy studies mice were sacrificed and tumors excised, formalin-fixed, and then paraffin-embedded. Apoptotic cells were visualized by TUNEL using the ApopTag<sup>®</sup> Peroxidase Kit. Ki-67 (Dako, Carpinteria, California) (1:200) monoclonal antibodies were used in combination with immunoperoxidase procedures (LSAB + peroxidase kit). The TMA slides were imaged digitally and evaluated by visual scoring of apoptotic and Ki-67 positive cells. Scoring was completed by two pathologists blinded to the study groups.

## Statistical analysis:

For each studied variable, mean and standard error of the mean (S.E.M.) were calculated. Statistical significance was assessed using the Tukey-Kramer/Student's t-tests from within Oneway Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) analysis. The level of significance was set at a p value of at least < 0.05. All mean values were reported as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M.

## 3.3 Results

## aPPD Pharmacokinetics and Biodistribution:

Drug levels in the plasma peaked at  $3.9 \pm 1.4 \mu g/ml$ , following oral administration of aPPD formulated in the ethanol/water/ propylene glycol mixture (see Methods). After 200 minutes the drug levels were less than the assay's LOQ (20.0 ng/ml) (Figure 3.1C). The biodistribution studies summarized in Figure 3.2, indicated that aPPD levels were highest in the stomach and small intestine 30 minutes after the gavage was administered, with approximately 44 and 32% of the drug recovered in these tissues, respectively (Figure 3.2A). This would be consistent with the route of administration used. Approximately 5% of the administered dose is found in the liver at the same time point (Figure 3.2A). Interestingly, aPPD level was quantifiable in the brain with 0.01% of the initial dose recovered from 30 to 120 minutes after administration (Figure 3.3E).

## In vivo efficacy and toxicity:

Mice bearing established PC3 tumors exhibited an average tumor volume of approximately 100 to 140 mm<sup>3</sup>, 14 days after tumor cell inoculation. When treated with saline (Q7D x 4) or vehicle control (QD x5 for 4 weeks) these tumors continued to grow until by day 30 the tumor size had increased approximately 3 fold relative to when treatment was started (Figure 3.3A). When treated with docetaxel (20 mg/kg Q7D x 4) the established tumors regressed to ¼ of their size when treatment started. This dose of docetaxel was equivalent to its MTD; docetaxel administration was associated with almost 20% body weight loss (Figure 3.3B, filled squares) and this was significant weight loss (p=0.0001) when compared to saline treated mice. In comparison to this positive control, aPPD given daily for 21 days was less active however the administered dose was effective. The tumor volume increased only by 52% for the aPPD treated animals, which was statistically different from the vehicle (p=0.0044) and saline (p=0.0159)

controls. Treatment with aPPD was associated with < 5% weight loss and was tolerated significantly better then the docetaxel treatment (Figure 3.3B, filled triangles).

As another measure of therapeutic activity, tumors were harvested at day 40 (after cell inoculation, 28 days after treatment was initiated) and assessed immunohistochemically for apoptosis and proliferation (Figure 3.3C-E). The average apoptotic indices were 9.30%, 7.30%, 15.6% and 22.6% for the vehicle control, saline, aPPD, and docetaxel treated groups, respectively. The apoptotic index observed in mice treated with docetaxel was significantly greater than the control groups (p=0.079 (oral control and p=0.054 (saline)) but not significantly different from aPPD treated animals (p = 0.2305). The apoptotic index determined for tumors obtained from aPPD treated mice was not significantly different from tumors obtained from control animals (p=0.0716 (oral control) and p=0.059(saline)) (Figure 3.3D). Ki-67 positive staining (3.2%) in tumor tissues harvested from aPPD treated animals was significantly lower (p=0.0107 (oral control) and p=0.025 (saline)) then that obtained for control tumors (23.4 and 21.3% for the oral control and saline respectively) (Figure 3.3E). Ki-67 positive staining in the aPPD group was also significantly lower (p=0.007) than that observed for tumors from docetaxel treated mice (14.4%) (Figure 3.3E).

## 3.4 Discussion:

Ginsenoside aglycone aPPD is a stable compound that can be formulated for oral administration using methods that are comparable to those for Rh2 (manuscript submitted). Using the ethanol-propylene glycol-water ternary solvent system diagram designed by Sorby *et al.* (Sorby *et al.*, 1963), the dielectric constant of the formulated aPPD oral gavage mixture was estimated to be 31, ideal for the solubility of aPPD. aPPD in ethanol could be stored at 4°C or room temperature for at least one month without any significant change in concentration. Pharmacokinetic studies indicate that aPPD is absorbed when administered in this formulation and the systemic blood levels achieved are sufficient to provide effective treatment of mice bearing established PC-3 tumors. At the highest achievable dose (70 mg/kg based on a maximum gavage volume of 100 to 150  $\mu$ l), aPPD did not exhibit significant toxicity in the nude mouse model. The results suggest that aPPD should be considered for further development in the treatment of castrate-insensitive prostate cancer. This discussion considers how ginseng metabolites such as aPPD and Rh2 could be used in a combination therapy regimen to treat patients with advanced metastatic prostate cancer.

aPPD is approximately half as soluble as Rh2 in 100 % ethanol and is retained in the gastro-intestinal (GI) tract at significant levels for at least 2 hours following administration (Figure 3.2A-C), most probably because of its higher hydrophobicity. Only 5% of the administered dose reached the liver thirty minutes following administration (Figure 3.2A) compared to 28% for Rh2 (manuscript submitted). Since the pH in mouse small intestine varies between 6.5 and 7.1 (Kararli, 1995), it can also be suggested that aPPD is poorly absorbed because in vitro studies with Caco-2 cells demonstrate it is optimally transported at a pH of 8.0 (Xie *et al*, 2005). Interestingly, the results suggest that aPPD can cross the blood-brain barrier, whereas previous studies with Rh2 indicated that no detectable levels of Rh2 could be found in

the brain following oral administration. It is established that lipophilic drugs penetrate the endothelial cells of the blood-brain barrier more easily than hydrophilic drugs (Rapoport *et al*, 1979) and passive diffusion permeation rates are correlated to lipophilicity (Levin, 1980). In addition, it can be speculated that the accumulation of aPPD in the brain is the result of its effectiveness in stimulating BCRP (Breast Cancer Resistance Protein)-ATPase activity, following BCRP inhibition, which would allow it to be transported by BCRP across the blood-brain barrier (Jin *et al*, 2006).

Mice treated QDx5 for four weeks at an aPPD dose of 70 mg/kg showed no acute signs of toxicity as determined by body weight loss (Figure 3.3B) and this observation is consistent with other studies (Chen *et al*, 1980) that suggest that ginsenosides and their aglycones cause negligible toxicity, even at maximal achievable doses. Since mice treated with Rh2 also do not show acute signs of toxicity, it can be suggested that aPPD and Rh2, both members of the 20 (S)-protopanaxadiol ginsenoside category, share a similar toxicity profile. Secondary measures of liver and kidney toxicity following Rh2 administration in nude mice showed no increase in serum ALT and AST activity and serum creatinine levels were not statistically different from the control group (manuscript submitted). It would be anticipated that similar results would be obtained when using aPPD.

Therapeutic activity of aPPD against PC-3 tumors (Figure 3.3A) is less than that which can be achieved with docetaxel, which was used as a positive control. However, aPPD was well tolerated at the dose used while docetaxel was used at its MTD; causing almost 20% body weight loss in treated animals. The apoptotic index of the aPPD group was not statistically different from the control groups and this was unexpected. Others have shown *in vitro* that aPPD and other ginsenosides are strong promoters of apoptosis (Liu *et al*, 2007; Popovich & Kitts, 2002; Wang *et al*, 2008a). The fact that we did not observe significant increases in the apoptotic index

may be related to the time point used in our study or to the fact that the drug levels achieved within the plasma following oral administration were much lower than that which were used in the *in vitro* studies. However, aPPD significantly inhibited cell proliferation as measured by Ki-67 labeling and this may be attributed to aPPD's ability to engender G1-arrest at low concentration (Popovich & Kitts, 2002).

In conclusion, the aPPD formulation described here is well tolerated and effective when used to treat established PC-3 tumors. Pharmacokinetic and biodistribution studies suggest that aPPD is well absorbed. Future studies will assess the activity of this ginsenoside when used in combination with the drug docetaxel. Despite continual research efforts, few chemotherapeutic drugs have been shown to be effective for prostate cancer treatment in patients who have relapsed and/or have metastatic disease. In recent years, however, drug combinations, and particularly those involving taxanes, have substantially contributed to improvements in treatment outcomes (De Wit, 2008; Oh, 2003) in this patient group. Thus it is reasonable to consider whether appropriately selected and characterized ginsenosides will enhance treatment outcomes achieved when using taxanes.

# 3.5 Acknowledgements:

The authors wish to thank Panagin Pharmaceuticals Inc and the Staff of the Jack Bell

animal resource centre.

Abbreviations and Acronyms							
CAM	=	Complementary and Alternative Medicine					
MX	=	Mitoxantrone					
BCRP	=	Breast Cancer Resistance Protein					
S/N	=	Signal-to-Noise ratio					
HPLC	=	High-Performance Liquid Chromatography					
LC/MS	=	Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry					
LOD	=	Limit of Detection					
LOQ	=	Limit of Quantitation					
GI	=	Gastro-Intestinal					
MTD	=	Maximum Tolerated Dose					
AUC	=	Area under the plasma concentration versus time curve					
t <sub>1/2</sub>	=	Half-life					
C <sub>max</sub>	=	Peak Concentration					
Cloral:	=	Apparent oral clearance					
S.E.M	=	Standard Error of the Mean					

## 3.6 Bibliography

Bae EA, Han MJ, Kim EJ, Kim DH (2004) Transformation of ginseng saponins to ginsenoside Rh2 by acids and human intestinal bacteria and biological activities of their transformants. *Arch Pharm Res* 27: 61-7

Budman DR, Calabro A, Kreis W (2002) Synergistic and antagonistic combinations of drugs in human prostate cancer cell lines in vitro. *Anticancer Drugs* **13**: 1011-6

Chen SE, Sawchuk RJ, Staba EJ (1980) American ginseng. III. Pharmacokinetics of ginsenosides in the rabbit. *Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet* **5:** 161-8

Chou TC, Talalay P (1984) Quantitative analysis of dose-effect relationships: the combined effects of multiple drugs or enzyme inhibitors. *Adv Enzyme Regul* **22**: 27-55

De Wit R (2008) Chemotherapy in hormone-refractory prostate cancer. *BJU Int* **101 Suppl 2:** 11-5

Duda RB, Zhong Y, Navas V, Li MZ, Toy BR, Alavarez JG (1999) American ginseng and breast cancer therapeutic agents synergistically inhibit MCF-7 breast cancer cell growth. *J Surg Oncol* **72:** 230-9

Fei XF, Wang BX, Tashiro S, Li TJ, Ma JS, Ikejima T (2002) Apoptotic effects of ginsenoside Rh2 on human malignant melanoma A375-S2 cells. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* 23: 315-22

Frei E, Antman KH (1997) Combination Chemotherapy, Dose, and Schedule. In *Cancer Medicine*, Vol. 1, 4th edn. Baltimore, Md: Williams & Wilkins

Jin J, Shahi S, Kang HK, Hendrik WVV, Fan T (2006) Metabolites of ginsenosides as novel BCRP inhibitors. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **345**: 1308-14

Kararli TT (1995) Comparison of the gastrointestinal anatomy, physiology, and biochemistry of humans and commonly used laboratory animals. *Biopharm Drug Dispos* 16: 351-80.

Kim HE, Oh JH, Lee SK, Oh YJ (1999) Ginsenoside RH-2 induces apoptotic cell death in rat C6 glioma via a reactive oxygen- and caspase-dependent but Bcl-X(L)-independent pathway. *Life Sci* 65: PL33-40

Kim YS, Jin SH, Lee YH, Park JD, Kim SI (2000) Differential expression of protein kinase C subtypes during ginsenoside Rh2-Induced apoptosis in SK-N-BE(2) and C6Bu-1 cells. *Arch Pharm Res* 23: 518-24

Levin VA (1980) Relationship of octanol/water partition coefficient and molecular weight to rat brain capillary permeability. *J Med Chem* 23: 682-4.

Liu GY, Bu X, Yan H, Jia WW (2007) 20S-protopanaxadiol-induced programmed cell death in glioma cells through caspase-dependent and -independent pathways. *J Nat Prod* **70**: 259-64

Nah SY, Park HJ, McCleskey EW (1995) A trace component of ginseng that inhibits Ca2+ channels through a pertussis toxin-sensitive G protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **92:** 8739-43

Oh M, Choi YH, Choi S, Chung H, Kim K, Kim SI, Kim DK, Kim ND (1999) Anti-proliferating effects of ginsenoside Rh2 on MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. *Int J Oncol* **14**: 869-75

Oh WK (2003) The evolving role of chemotherapy and other systemic therapies for managing localized prostate cancer. *J Urol* **170**: S28-32; discussion S33-4

Park JA, Lee KY, Oh YJ, Kim KW, Lee SK (1997) Activation of caspase-3 protease via a Bcl-2insensitive pathway during the process of ginsenoside Rh2-induced apoptosis. *Cancer Lett* **121**: 73-81

Popovich DG, Kitts DD (2002) Structure-function relationship exists for ginsenosides in reducing cell proliferation and inducing apoptosis in the human leukemia (THP-1) cell line. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **406:** 1-8

Popovich DG, Kitts DD (2004) Generation of ginsenosides Rg3 and Rh2 from North American ginseng. *Phytochemistry* **65:** 337-44

Rapoport SI, Ohno K, Pettigrew KD (1979) Drug entry into the brain. Brain Res 172: 354-9.

Richardson MA, Sanders T, Palmer JL, Greisinger A, Singletary SE (2000) Complementary and alternative medicine use in a comprehensive cancer center and the implications for oncology. *J Clin Oncol* **18**: 2505-14

Sorby DL, Bitter RG, Webb JG (1963) Dielectric Constants of Complex Pharmaceutical Solvent Systems. I. Water-Ethanol-Glycerin and Water-Ethanol-Propylene Glycol. *J Pharm Sci* **52**: 1149-53

USP C (2000) *USP Pharmacopeia & National Formulary*. Vol. USP 24/NF 19. Rockville, MD: Board of Trustees of the USP Pharmacopeial Convention, Inc.

Wang W, Rayburn ER, Hao M, Zhao Y, Hill DL, Zhang R, Wang H (2008a) Experimental therapy of prostate cancer with novel natural product anti-cancer ginsenosides. *Prostate* 

Wang W, Wang H, Rayburn ER, Zhao Y, Hill DL, Zhang R (2008b) 20(S)-25-methoxyldammarane-3beta, 12beta, 20-triol, a novel natural product for prostate cancer therapy: activity in vitro and in vivo and mechanisms of action. *Br J Cancer* **98**: 792-802

Xie HT, Wang GJ, Chen M, Jiang XL, Li H, Lv H, Huang CR, Wang R, Roberts M (2005) Uptake and metabolism of ginsenoside Rh2 and its aglycon protopanaxadiol by Caco-2 cells. *Biol Pharm Bull* 28: 383-6

Xie X, Eberding A, Madera C, Fazli L, Jia W, Goldenberg L, Gleave M, Guns ES (2006) Rh2 synergistically enhances paclitaxel or mitoxantrone in prostate cancer models. *J Urol* **175**: 1926-31

Yu Y, Zhou Q, Hang Y, Bu X, Jia W (2007) Antiestrogenic effect of 20S-protopanaxadiol and its synergy with tamoxifen on breast cancer cells. *Cancer* **109**: 2374-82

Yun TK, Lee YS, Lee YH, Kim SI, Yun HY (2001) Anticarcinogenic effect of Panax ginseng C.A. Meyer and identification of active compounds. *J Korean Med Sci* 16 Suppl: S6-18

Zhang D, Yasuda T, Yu Y, Zheng P, Kawabata T, Ma Y, Okada S (1996) Ginseng extract scavenges hydroxyl radical and protects unsaturated fatty acids from decomposition caused by iron-mediated lipid peroxidation. *Free Radic Biol Med* **20**: 145-50

## 3.7 Tables

# Table 3.1.(A) Average extraction efficiencies of aPPD in plasma and tissues. (B)Pharmacokinetic parameters for aPPD following oral administration of 70mg/kg (n = 3). Values are reported as mean ± SEM.

# A

Plasma	Stomach	Small intestine	Liver	Lung	Spleen	Kidney	Brain
(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
59.0±2.4	77.5±4.7	94.9±9.8	91.7±6.9	89.7±12.6	95.4±12.4	104.6±6.1	110.0 ± 2.7

B

Body Weight	t <sub>1/2</sub>	C <sub>max</sub>	Cl <sub>oral</sub>	AUC
(g)	(min)	(µg/ml)	(ml/min/kg)	(µg.min/ml)
26.4 ± 2.9	28.5 ± 16.7	3.9 ± 1.4	195.4 ± 32.4	330.7 ± 51.9

t<sub>1/2</sub>: Half-life

C<sub>max</sub>: Peak Concentration

Cloral: Apparent oral clearance

AUC: Area under the plasma concentration versus time curve

## 3.8 Figure legends

**Figure 3.1.** (A) Chemical structure of aPPD. (B) Stability of aPPD in 100% ethanol for 28 days. Conditions are 4°C (empty circles), room temperature (R.T., filled squares), and 60°C (filled triangles), n = 3. (C) Mean plasma concentration-time profile of aPPD in mice following oral administration of 70 mg/kg, n = 3 per time point. Values are reported as mean ± SEM.

Figure 3.2. % administered dose of aPPD in specified tissues isolated from mice following oral administration of 70 mg/kg. (A)-(D): (A) 30 minutes (B) 60 minutes (C) 120 minutes (D) 200 minutes. (E) % administered dose of aPPD in the brain at 30, 60, 120, and 200 minutes time points. Results are expressed as mean values  $\pm$  SEM. n = 3.

**Figure 3.3.** (A) *In vivo* efficacy of aPPD in PC-3 bearing nude mice. Changes in tumor volume was followed over time for animals treated with the oral gavage vehicle control (filled circle, ethanol, propylene glycol and water), saline (empty circle), aPPD (70 mg/kg QD x 5; filled triangle), and docetaxel (20 mg/kg Q7D x 4; filled square). Average tumor volumes are expressed as a percentage of the average initial tumor volume of each group at day 14, post PC-3 cells inoculation. Mean value  $\pm$  SEM is shown with error bars. A statistically significant difference was found between aPPD and the control (*p*=0.0044), saline (*p*=0.0159), and docetaxel (*p*=0.0148) on day 39. n = 8 for aPPD and docetaxel. n = 6 for the oral gavage control and saline. (B) *In vivo* toxicity as assessed by decrease in mean body weight. Body weight loss of > 20% is considered severe enough to warrant termination of the animals. No animals showed any signs of toxicity other than weight loss in these studies. Docetaxel showed a significant weight loss compared to saline (*p*=0.0001). n = 8 for aPPD and docetaxel. n = 6 for the oral gavage control and saline. Mean value  $\pm$  SEM is shown with error bars. (C) Representative tissue microarray spots for PC-3 tumors: immunostained using a TUNEL assay. Apoptotic cells

could be identified in areas of viable tissue, as indicated by the arrows. (D) Apoptotic index summarized from ApopTag<sup>®</sup> staining of tissue microarrays. (E) summarized Ki-67 staining of tissue microarrays. Mean scores were determined as a percentage of the total number of cells. Four cores of tissue were extracted per tumor and one tumor per animal. n (total number of cores) = 24 for the control and saline and 32 for aPPD and docetaxel. Mean value  $\pm$  SEM is shown with error bars. \* signifies statistically significant difference from the control.

# 3.9 Figures

# Figure 3.1

B





С







Time-Point









E



# 4. THIRD MANUSCRIPT CHAPTER

Rh2 or its aglycone aPPD in Combination Therapy with docetaxel<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A version of this chapter has been submitted for publication. Co-authors: Andy Eberding, Ladan Fazli, Antonio Hurtado-Coll, William Jia, Euan Ramsay, Marcel B. Bally, and Emma Tomlinson Guns.

## 4.1 Introduction

The decline in prostate cancer mortality is partly attributed to the increased use of androgen deprivation treatment during the initial stage of the disease and by use of maximum androgen blockade strategies at advanced stage (Collin et al, 2008). These medical interventions often eradicate androgen-dependent tumor cells but have little or no impact on androgenindependent cells which can then repopulate the tumor (Pienta, 2001). Surprisingly there are few chemotherapeutic drugs that are considered highly effective when used to treat prostate cancer patients that have relapsed and/or have metastatic disease. In recent years, however, new drugs and drug combinations and particularly those involving taxanes have contributed to improvements in treatment outcomes in prostate cancer (de Wit, 2008; Oh, 2003). It has been suggested that optimal drug combination effects will be achieved when combining drugs which have different mechanisms of activity and different toxicity profiles (Chu & Devita, 2005). In addition, drug combinations that interact in a manner that result in synergy or drug potentiation (i.e. where the combined effects are far greater than that expected on the basis of the effects of the individual agents) are desirable (Ramsay et al, 2005). Such drug combinations are of particular interest since many targeted highly specific agents may not exhibit sufficient activity when administered as single agents, but when used in combination with current standards of care may provide meaningful improvements in the apeutic outcomes. This rationale will also be applicable in the context of complementary and alternative medicines (CAMs); agents that are being used by patients with the belief that they may augment treatment responses achieved by conventional therapy.

Patients that use CAMs do so on the assumption that the agents are well tolerated and safe (Richardson *et al*, 2000b), however this assumption needs to be questioned and evaluated

scientifically. Our research team has been testing the hypothesis that combinations of well tolerated and therapeutically active phytochemicals (specifically Rh2 and aPPD) derived from Panax Ginseng C.A. Meyer can be combined with docetaxel to achieve enhanced drug efficacy in models of prostate cancer. Enhanced therapeutic activity should occur without additional toxicity, particularly if the agents used interact in a manner that results in drug-drug synergy. Inherent to the concept of synergy, comparable therapeutic effects of single agents should be achieved at substantially lower doses when the selected drugs are used in combination. This is reflected in a measured parameter called the dose reduction index (DRI). In order to measure drug combination effects and to determine DRIs, it is first necessary to establish the activity of the single agents and then compare these activities to those achieved when the drugs are used in combinations. Although there are many ways to assess combination effects, a commonly used method relies on the median effect principle first described by Chou and Talalay (Chou & Talalay, 1984). Methodology developed around this analysis method uses a fixed drug-drug ratio experimental design and the resultant data can be analyzed with the help of a commercially available software package, Calcusyn.

We have previously developed oral formulations of ginsenoside Rh2 and its aglycone aPPD. These ginseng metabolites were bioavailable following oral administration and, following daily administration at the maximum achievable dose, could delay progression of established PC-3 tumors in mice (manuscripts submitted). Rh2 and aPPD were well tolerated and in this castration-resistant prostate cancer model the activity of Rh2 was comparable to that achieved with single agent docetaxel (used as a positive control). Here we report on studies assessing *in vitro* and *in vivo* combinations of Rh2 or aPPD with docetaxel. Therapeutic activity of the agents alone and in combination were determined *in vitro*; where therapeutic effects were

measured using a single metabolic assay endpoint (MTS assay) in four prostate cancer cell lines: PC-3 (androgen-independent, bone metastasis), LNCaP (androgen-dependent, lymph node metastasis), DU145 (androgen-independent, brain metastasis), and C4-2 (androgen-independent, derived from LNCaP) (Krueckl *et al*, 2004; Van Bokhoven *et al*, 2003). *In vivo* combinations of Rh2 or aPPD with docetaxel were assessed in mice bearing established PC-3 tumors. Combinations of Rh2 or aPPD with docetaxel were effective and well tolerated in mice and the *in vitro/in vivo* results indicated that combinations produced interactions that were additive or synergistic.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Test compounds and materials

Ginsenoside Rh2 (M.W. 640.89 g/mol) and its aglycone aPPD (M.W. 460 g/mol), as a white powder, were purchased from LKT Laboratories Inc., St. Paul, MN. (USA), or generously supplied by Panagin Pharmaceuticals Inc, Richmond, BC (Canada). Taxotere<sup>®</sup> (docetaxel) was purchased from B.C. Cancer Agency Pharmacy as a 40 mg/ml solution in polysorbate 80, manufactured by Aventis Pharma Inc. Saint-Laurent, Québec (Canada). Cholic acid (M.W. 408.58 g/mol) and all other chemicals were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd. (Oakville, ON, Canada).

## In vitro activity as determined using the MTS metabolic activity assay

All cell lines (PC-3, LNCaP, DU145, and C4-2) were obtained from ATCC, Rockville, MD. PC-3 and DU145 were cultured in DMEM medium supplemented with 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS). LNCaP and C4-2 were cultured in RPMI medium supplemented with 10% FBS. Cells were grown in 10 cm dishes and maintained at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 90% relative humidity. Cells were seeded in triplicate at a density of 5,000 cells/well onto 96-well plates and after 24 hours, the media was aspirated and replaced with Rh2, aPPD, docetaxel, Rh2+docetaxel, or aPPD+docetaxel prepared at the appropriate concentrations in serum containing media (100 $\mu$ L). After a 72 hour incubation, MTS solution (CellTiter 96<sup>®</sup> AQ<sub>ueous</sub> One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay, Promega, WI, USA) was added directly to wells, incubated for 1–4 hours and the optical density read at 490 nm absorbance with a 96-well plate reader (Bio-Tek Instruments Power Wave X, Winooski, VT, USA). The IC<sub>50</sub> (the concentration required to achieve a 50% reduction in MTS labeling compared to controls) of the agents against these cell lines was then estimated using the Calcusyn software package (Biosoft, Cambridge, UK). These experiments were

repeated at least three times. When using drug combinations, docetaxel was combined with Rh2 or aPPD according to the constant ratio combination experimental design. To define this fixed ratio docetaxel was combined with Rh2 or aPPD in a ratio equivalent to  $IC_{50}/IC_{50}$  ratios (Table 4.1). For Rh2:docetaxel or aPPD:docetaxel ratios of 1000:1 (LNCaP), 100:1 (PC-3, C4-2), and 25:1 (DU145) were used. Docetaxel was mixed with Rh2 or aPPD at the indicated ratios and at a concentration that was 8-fold greater then the individual  $IC_{50}$ s. This solution was then serially diluted to achieve 8 effective doses.

## Combination Index (CI) and Dose Reduction Index (DRI)

Data from the metabolic assay was then analyzed using the Calcusyn software package to assess drug-drug interactions based on the Median Effect Principle (MEP) developed by Chou and Talalay. This method is derived from the law of mass action and enzyme kinetic models (Chou

& Talalay, 1984). The MEP equation is represented by 
$$\frac{f_a}{f_u} = \frac{D}{(D_m)^m}$$
, where  $f_a$  is the fraction

affected by the drug,  $f_u$  is the unaffected fraction  $(1-f_a)$ , D is the dose of the drug,  $D_m$  is the median-effect dose (signifies drug potency) and m is an exponent signifying the shape of the dose-effect curve. This equation determines whether the effect of a drug combination is greater than expected (synergistic) based on the effect of the single agents. The MEP can also be used to

define the combination index (CI) function, calculated using 
$$CI = \frac{(D)_1}{(D_x)_1} + \frac{(D)_2}{(D_x)_2}$$
 (for mutually

exclusive drugs that have the same or similar modes of action) where D<sub>1</sub> and D<sub>2</sub> are the doses of drug 1 and drug 2. D<sub>x</sub> refers to the dose of drug required to produce an effect of x percent. Thus a CI can be calculated for a given combination and effect level; where a CI < 1 indicates synergy, a CI > 1 indicates antagonistic interactions and a CI = 1 indicates additive effects. The MEP is also used to obtain the Dose Reduction Index (DRI). DRI is a measure of the extent to

which the dose of each drug in a given combination is changed to achieve a given effect level (e.g.  $IC_{50}$ ) relative to the dose of the individual drugs required to achieve the same effect level.

$$DRI = \frac{D_x}{D_c}$$
, where D<sub>x</sub> is the single agent drug dose required to produce an effect of x percent

(e.g. 50% reduction in MTS labeling). D<sub>c</sub> is the dose of the drug in a combination that generates the same effect.

## **Oral gavage formulation**

Rh2 and aPPD were formulated for oral administration as described previously (Manuscripts submitted). In brief, Rh2 (232 mg) or aPPD (120 mg) were dissolved in 1.8 ml of 100% ethanol and mixed vigorously (based on pre-determined maximum solubility of 130 and 68.4 mg/ml for Rh2 and aPPD, respectively). In a separate container 700  $\mu$ l of ddH<sub>2</sub>O was mixed (by vortexting) with 5.5 ml of propylene glycol. The propylene glycol-water mixture was then mixed with the Rh2 or aPPD containing ethanol solution. The ethanol solubilized Rh2 and aPPD were stable for at least 1 month at 4°C and the formulations for oral administration were prepared just prior to administration.

## In vivo studies

PC-3 cells  $(1.0 \times 10^6)$  were inoculated subcutaneously into 6-8 week old male nude mice (Harlan Sprague Dawley, Inc.) weighing 25-31 g. After 14 days, the developing tumors were measured and mice randomly assigned to different treatment groups. A caliper was used to measure the three perpendicular axes of each tumor. The formula  $V = (L \times W \times H)\frac{\pi}{6}$  where L is the length, W the width, and H the height, was used to calculate the tumor volume (Brigham *et al*, 1978). A minimum tumor volume of 100 mm<sup>3</sup> was required for a given mouse to be included in the study. Mice were monitored daily, weighed once a week, and tumor size was determined two times per

week. The mice were monitored daily for changes in weight and other signs of acute toxicity such as lethargy and disorientation.

To define a dose response curve for docetaxel in the PC-3 model, seven different treatment groups were defined and drug was administered intravenously (via the lateral tail vein) using a Q7D x 4 dose schedule: (i) Docetaxel – 10 mg/kg (83-103  $\mu$ l (3.0 mg/ml solution)); (ii) Docetaxel – 12 mg/kg (100-124  $\mu$ l (3.0 mg/ml solution)); (iii) Docetaxel – 14 mg/kg (117-141  $\mu$ l (3.0 mg/ml solution)); (iv) Docetaxel – 16 mg/kg (80-99  $\mu$ l (5.0 mg/ml solution)); (v) Docetaxel – 18 mg/kg (90-112  $\mu$ l (5.0 mg/ml solution)); and (vi) Docetaxel – 20 mg/kg (100-124  $\mu$ l (5.0 mg/ml solution)). The seventh group was treated (iv) with saline as a control. These data were used to define a docetaxel dose that produced a therapeutic effect that was measurable, but significantly below the maximum tolerated (or maximum therapeutic) dose of docetaxel. This dose was used in the combination studies with Rh2 and aPPD.

For *in vivo* efficacy studies assessing combination effects seven treatment groups were defined: (i) Rh2 solubilized in ethanol:propylene glycol:water (2:7:1 v/v ratio) was administered by oral gavage at a dose of 120 mg/kg (103-128  $\mu$ l) using a QD x 5 schedule each week for 4 weeks; (ii) aPPD solubilized in ethanol:propylene glycol:water (2:7:1 v/v ratio) was administered by oral gavage at a dose of 70 mg/kg (117-145  $\mu$ l) using a QD x 5 schedule each week for 4 weeks; (iii) oral control consisting of ethanol:propylene glycol:water (2:7:1 v/v ratio) given at a dose of 120 mg/kg (103-128  $\mu$ l) using a QD x 5 schedule; (iv) Docetaxel dosed alone, as a treatment control, was administered intravenously via the lateral tail vein at a dose of 10 mg/kg (83-103  $\mu$ l) using a Q7D x 4 dose schedule; (v) Rh2+docetaxel (Rh2 – 120 mg/kg QD x 5 per week, docetaxel – 10 mg/kg Q7D x 4); (vi) aPPD+docetaxel (aPPD – 70 mg/kg QD x 5 per week; docetaxel – 10 mg/kg Q7D x 4); and (vii) saline (83-103  $\mu$ l) given Q7D x 4

## Analysis of apoptosis and proliferation markers

At the end of the efficacy studies (39 days after tumor cell inoculation) mice were sacrificed and tumors were excised, formalin-fixed, and then paraffin-embedded. A Tissue Micro-Array (TMA) was constructed by extracting four 600-µm diameter cores of tumor tissue from each paraffin block using a Beecher Instruments tissue core extractor and re-embedding these cores into a gridded paraffin block. After construction, 4-um tissue sections were cut and adhered to Fisher SuperFrost Plus glass slides. Apoptotic cells were then visualized by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT) mediated deoxyuridine triphosphate (dUTP) nick-end labeling (TUNEL) staining which was carried out using the ApopTag<sup>®</sup> Peroxidase Kit. Tissues were pretreated with proteinase K for 15 minutes. Subsequently, TdT enzyme was applied and the tissue incubated in a humid chamber at 37°C for 1 hour. Anti-digoxigenin peroxidase conjugate was later applied for 30 minutes, followed by DAB, and counter-stain with hematoxylin, as well as Staining Blueing Reagent. For Ki-67, a Mouse-To-Mouse immunohistochemical detection kit (Chemicon®) was used to decrease nonspecific staining. Ki-67 (Dako, Carpinteria, California) (1:200) monoclonal antibodies were used in combination with immunoperoxidase procedures (LSAB + peroxidase kit). Antigen retrial was applied by steaming with citrate buffer for 30 minutes. The TMA slides were imaged digitally and evaluated by visual scoring of apoptotic and Ki-67 positive cells. Scores from individual tumor cores with significant necrosis were omitted. Scoring was completed by two pathologists blinded to the study groups.

## Statistical analysis

For each studied variable, mean and standard error of the mean (S.E.M.) were calculated. Statistical significance and differences between the described treatment groups were assessed using the Tukey-Kramer/Student's t-tests from within One-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) analysis. For these tests, the level of significance was set at a p value of < 0.05. All mean values were reported as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M.

Combination of Rh2 and aPPD with docetaxel

## **RESULTS:**

## Cell viability and IC<sub>50</sub>

In order to assess drug-drug interactions *in vitro*, the IC<sub>50</sub> of the single agents were determined first. The IC<sub>50</sub> of Rh2, aPPD and docetaxel against the four prostate cancer cell lines (PC-3, LNCaP, DU145, and C4-2) are summarized in Table 4.1. The IC<sub>50</sub> of Rh2 varies from  $6.6 \pm 0.27$  $\mu$ M against DU145 cells to  $12.8 \pm 1.22 \mu$ M against LNCaP cells. The IC<sub>50</sub> range for aPPD is between  $5.6 \pm 0.40 \mu$ M against DU145 cells and  $12.6 \pm 1.66 \mu$ M against LNCaP cells. Docetaxel IC<sub>50</sub> varying between  $0.017 \pm 0.002 \mu$ M against LNCaP cells and  $0.25 \pm 0.08 \mu$ M against DU145 cells. The androgen-independent cell lines were consistently more sensitive to the phytochemicals Rh2 and aPPD when compared to the androgen-dependent LNCaP cell line. The LNCaP cells, however, were most sensitive to docetaxel.

## Assessment of drug-drug interations

Assessments of *in vitro* drug-drug interactions were completed using the fixed ratio experimental design methodology described in the Methods. The calculated combination indices determined at the IC<sub>50</sub>, IC<sub>75</sub> and IC<sub>90</sub> have been summarized in Figure 4.1. When using the androgen independent cell lines (PC-3, DU145, and C4-2 cells (Figure 4.1A, C, and D), combinations of Rh2 or aPPD with docetaxel exhibited CI values mostly equal or below 1 at the doses needed to produce 50%, 75% and 90% decreases (relative to controls) in MTS labeling. This suggested that the drug interactions resulted in synergy based on the metabolic endpoint measured by the MTS assay. In contrast, when using the androgen-dependent LNCaP cells combinations of Rh2 or aPPD with docetaxel resulted in CI values of greater then 1 at doses required to achieve 75% and 90% decreases (relative to controls) in MTS labeling. These data suggest that

drug-drug interactions are slightly antagonistic when using Rh2 or aPPD with docetaxel *in vitro* against LNCaP cells.

The drug-drug interaction assessments completed with the Calcusyn program also estimate Dose Reduction Indices and these have been summarized in Figures 4.2 and 4.3. When using drug combinations that result in synergistic interactions, significantly lower drug doses (compared to those used when the drugs are added alone) are required to achieve a specific effect level. As indicated by the data summarized in Figures 4.2 A, C and D for the androgenindependent prostate cancer cell lines, in the presence of docetaxel, the amount of the phytochemical Rh2 or aPPD required to achieve a 50 decrease (relative to controls) in MTS labeling is reduced between 4- to 21-fold. For example, for the androgen-independent cell line C4-2 (a cell line derived from LNCaP cells) the IC<sub>50</sub> of aPPD alone is 5.6  $\mu$ M, while in the presence of docetaxel the dose required to achieve the same effect level is 10-fold lower (0.5 μM). In contrast when the interactions are antagonistic, as observed for the LNCaP cells treated with combinations of aPPD and docetaxel (Figures 4.2B), aPPD must be added at concentrations that are 1.5 fold greater than that needed to achieve the same effect when aPPD is used alone. A similar analysis can be done for docetaxel, where one can determine whether less or more docetaxel is required to achieve a specific effect level when the drug is used in combination with Rh2 or aPPD, and these DRI data are summarized in Figure 4.3. Again for the androgenindependent prostate cancer cell lines, substantially lower docetaxel doses are required to achieve a 50 decrease (relative to controls) in MTS labeling (Figures 4.3A, C and D). Focusing again on the C4-2 and LNCaP cell lines, in the presence of aPPD the IC<sub>50</sub> of docetaxel for C4-2 cells is 0.005  $\mu$ M, which is 10-fold lower than the IC<sub>50</sub> of docetaxel when used as a single agent

(0.048  $\mu$ M) and, in contrast, in the presence of aPPD the IC<sub>50</sub> of docetaxel for LNCaP cells is actually slightly higher then in the absence of aPPD (Figure 4.3B).

In vivo anti-PC-3 tumor activity of docetaxel alone and in combination with Rh2 and aPPD The results thus far indicate that Rh2 or aPPD can be combined with docetaxel to produce synergistic interactions *in vitro*, as judged by a single endpoint assay measuring metabolic activity, when used against androgen-independent cell lines. Further, previous studies from our group have shown that Rh2 and aPPD are active as orally administered (QD x 5 each week for 4 weeks) single agents in vivo against tumors which arise following s.c. injection of the androgenindependent PC-3 cells (manuscripts submitted). To determine whether the interactions between docetaxel and Rh2 or aPPD resulted in improved therapeutic effects in vivo, the activity of the drugs alone and in combination were determined in nude mice bearing established (100-150 mm<sup>3</sup>) s.c. PC-3 tumors. It is known that docetaxel is effective when used to treat mice bearing PC-3 tumors, particularly when used at its maximum tolerated dose. When assessing drug combination effects *in vivo* it is important to select doses where maximal activity is not observed in order to determine whether the second agent used in a combination actually contributes additional therapeutic effects. For this reason an extensive dose escalation study was completed with docetaxel (10-20 mg/kg) in mice bearing established PC-3 tumors. These results are summarized in Figures 4.4A and B. The results indicate that docetacel is active at all doses used. On day 39, the average tumor volume for saline treated animals was approximately 7 times the size of the average tumor mass determined when treatment was initiated. Tumors from animals treated with docetaxel were 132, 113, 114, 84, 62, and 37% of the initial volume when treated at doses of 10, 12, 14, 16, 18, and 20 mg/kg, respectively. On day 39, the mean tumor size from

animals treated at a dose of 10 mg/kg was statistically different from the 20 mg/kg (p=0.0006) and saline (p=0.0001) groups. It should be noted that in animals treated at a dose of 20 mg/kg there was significant (>20%) body weight loss; indicating that this is the maximum tolerated dose in these tumor bearing mice. Less than 7% body weight loss was noted in animals treated at the 10 mg/kg dose (Figure 4.4B). Based on these data the 10 mg/kg dose was used to assess combination effects with Rh2 and aPPD.

The therapeutic activities of Rh2 (120 mg/kg QD x 5 every week for 4 weeks), aPPD (70 mg/kg QD x 5 every week for 4 weeks), docetaxel (10 mg/kg Q7D x 4), Rh2+docetaxel, and aPPD+docetaxel were determined in a study that included saline and the ethanol:propylene glycol:water (2:7:1 v/v) vehicle control. These results, summarized in Figures 4.4C-E, demonstrate that docetaxel, Rh2+docetaxel, and aPPD+docetaxel were highly effective in inhibiting PC-3 tumor growth. On day 39, the average tumor volume for saline treated and oral control treated animals was approximately 7 to 8 times the size of the average tumor volume determined when treatment was initiated. For animals treated with Rh2 and aPPD, the tumor volume were 2 to 3-fold greater then the average tumor volume determined when treatment was initiated and the tumors at this time were statistically smaller then those tumors from animals treated with the oral vehicle control (p=0.0071 for Rh2 and p=0.0215 for aPPD). Docetaxel administered at the 10 mg/kg dose inhibited tumor growth significantly and the tumor size on day 39 was just slightly larger then the average tumor volume determined when treatment was initiated. It is notable that when docetaxel was combined with Rh2 or aPPD, the tumors actually regressed. For combinations comprising Rh2+docetaxel the tumors were 15% smaller than the average tumor volume determined when treatment was initiated and for combinations of aPPD+docetaxel the tumors were 27% smaller than the average tumor volume determined when
treatment was initiated (Figure 4.4D). At the end of the study (day 39), there was no statistically significant difference in tumor volume of animals treated with docetaxel alone compared with animals treated with Rh2+docetaxel (p=0.0614). Tumors from animals treated with aPPD+docetaxel were statistically smaller then those tumors from animals treated with docetaxel alone (p=0.0482). The combined effects of docetaxel administered at 10 mg/kg and Rh2 or aPPD were equivalent to those effects measured when using 16 to 18 mg/kg docetaxel (refer to Figure 4.4A). Improved therapeutic effects at the 10 mg/kg dose of docetaxel were associated with small, albeit not significant, increases in weight loss (Figure 4.4E).

PC-3 tumors were isolated from mice at the end of the study described above and were prepared for immunohistochemical assessment of apoptosis and Ki-67. These results are summarized in Figure 4.5. Tumors from mice treated with docetaxel as a single agent exhibited the highest apoptotic index (41.3%) (Figures 4.5 A and B). Apoptotic indices were 32.5 and 29.7% for tumors from mice treated with combinations of aPPD+docetaxel and Rh2+docetaxel, respectively. The average apoptotic index for the control tumors were 9.1 and 6.85% for the oral control and saline respectively. Tumors from animals treated with Rh2 or aPPD alone exhibited apoptotic indices of 23.3% and 27.2%, respectively. Apoptotic indices determined for tumors isolated from mice in all treatment groups were statistically significantly different from the control groups. Animals treated with docetaxel alone exhibited a mean apoptotic index that was significantly greater then that determined in tumors from animals treated with Rh2+docetaxel (p=0.0074) but not from tumors from animals treated with aPPD+docetaxel (p=0.1156). There was not a significant difference when comparing the apoptotic indices in tumors from animals treated with Rh2, aPPD, Rh2+docetaxel, and aPPD+docetaxel. Ki-67 results, summarized in Figure 4.5C indicate that the greatest labeling occurred in tumors from animals treated with the

oral control (30.3%), saline (29.0%) and in tumors from animals treated with docetaxel (15.2%). The lowest labeling was oobserved in tumors from mice treated with aPPD+docetaxel (6.0%) and Rh2+docetaxel (7.0%). Ki-67 staining levels in tumors from mice treated with aPPD+docetaxel, Rh2+docetaxel, Rh2, and aPPD were all significantly different from the control with *p* values  $\geq$  0.0001. When compared to results obtained in tumors from animals treated with docetaxel, the Ki-67 labeling in tumors from mice treated with Rh2 (*p*=0.0092), aPPD (*p*=0.0407), Rh2+docetaxel (*p*=0.0003), and aPPD+docetaxel (*p*=0.0005) were all statistically lower.

#### **DISCUSSION:**

Previous studies assessing the therapeutic effects of novel oral formulations of ginsenoside Rh2 and its aglycone aPPD indicated that at the highest achievable dose (limited due to gavage volume limitations imposed by the institutional animal care committee), the systemic blood levels achieved following daily gavage were sufficient to delay growth of established PC-3 tumors. These studies indicated that the orally dosed ginsenosides were bioavailable and effective. The treatment effect of Rh2 was not significantly different then those obtained when using docetaxel administered at its MTD, albeit it was clear that docetaxel was therapeutically superior. It was also clear that docetaxel was significantly more toxic then either Rh2 or aPPD. Since it has been argued that CAMs can be used to augment the therapeutic activity of conventional drugs without risks of additional or new toxicities (Richardson et al, 2000a), it was reasonable to ask whether isolated ginseng metabolites would enhance or inhibit the therapeutic effects of docetaxel. In terms of CAMs and their use in prostate cancer patients, focusing on components isolated from Panax Ginseng C.A. Meyer was also appropriate considering extracts from this ginseng root have been promoted as being antioxidative and anticarcinogenic (Nah et al, 1995; Yun et al, 2001; Zhang et al, 1996). Hence the studies developed here were designed to determine whether Rh2 or aPPD when combined with docetaxel would improve treatment outcomes in a manner that was not associated with overt increases in toxicity. Such an outcome is most likely achieved when using drugs in a combination that interact synergistically. The results summarized here clearly suggest that in prostate cancer cell lines that have been defined as androgen-independent, docetaxel and Rh2 or aPPD interact in a manner that results in at least additive and more likely synergistic interactions.

In vitro, docetaxel IC<sub>50</sub> values against PC-3, LNCaP, DU145, and C4-2 cells were comparable to other investigators (Budman *et al*, 2002; Fulzele *et al*, 2007; Shigemura *et al*, 2007; Van Bokhöven *et al*, 2003) (Table 4.1). In PC-3 and LNCaP cell lines, Wang et al. (Wang *et al*, 2007) obtained IC<sub>50</sub> values of more than twice our results for Rh2 and aPPD, following a 72 hour incubation. Although underlying causes of differences in IC<sub>50</sub> values are complex, it has been shown that significant differences in passage numbers may lead to significant behavioral differences in many cell types, including LNCaP cells (Esquenet *et al*, 1997; Hughes *et al*, 2007).

As mentioned earlier, both Rh2 and aPPD have been reported to inducing G1 cell-cycle arrest (Oh et al, 1999; Popovich & Kitts, 2002). Docetaxel has been shown to increase the activity of the cdk1/cyclin B1heterodimer by blocking cyclin B1 degradation and prolonging cdk1 activation (Gomez et al, 2006). Treatment of cells with Rh2+docetaxel or aPPD+docetaxel should present the majority of cells with the predominant possibility of G1 cell-cycle arrest, considering the significantly higher ratios of the ginsenosides in these combinations. Cells exposed to docetaxel would experience inhibition of microtubule dynamic instability via binding to B-tubulin, cell cycle G2/M phase transition and mitotic arrest, culminating in apoptosis (Bhalla, 2003). Cells undergoing G1 cell-cycle arrest might not progress to G2/M phase where docetaxel induced mitotic arrest would occur and vice versa. This scenario is most conducive to synergistic and additive activities as observed with Rh2+docetaxel and aPPD+docetaxel combinations (Figure 4.1A, C, and D (IC<sub>50</sub> and IC<sub>75</sub>). Combinations of Rh2+docetaxel and aPPD+docetaxel when used to treat LNCaP cells appeared to produced antagonistic effects and its difficult to explain this, especially since the combinations appeared to be synergistic when used to treat C4-2 cells (an androgen-independent cell line derived from LNCaP cells). It is

particularly interesting that antagonism was only observed in cell lines expressing the functional p53. LNCaP cells express the functional tumor suppressor protein p53 while PC-3 is p53 deficient (Wang et al, 2008). C4-2 expresses the functional p53 protein albeit at a lower level then that seen in the parent LNCaP cells (Ko et al, 1996). The wild-type alleles of p53 are commonly lost or mutated during advanced tumor development (Scott et al, 2003). One could therefore speculate that in LNCaP cells, stress induced by ginsenoside treatment such as increase in DNA fragmentation associated with aPPD treatment (Popovich & Kitts, 2002), would trigger the p53-p21-cdk2 inhibition pathway, causing G1 cell cycle arrest, a mechanism that would be comparable to that observed when using ginsenosides alone. As would be expected, drugs exhibiting comparable mechanisms of activity induce combination effects that are no better than additive and more often than not antagonistic. Importantly, in clinical investigations with breast cancer patients, inhibition of cdk1 has been associated with a decrease in taxane-induced apoptosis, suggesting a pro-apoptotic mediation role for cdk1 (Castedo et al, 2002). Simultaneous activation and inhibition of cdk1 in prostate cancer cells in vitro seems to cause antagonism, as demonstrated by Gomez et al. following treatment of DU145 cells with docetaxel and flavopiridol, a known cdk1 inhibitor (Gomez et al, 2006). Since both Rh2 and aPPD are known to suppress cdk2 activities (Ota et al, 1997; Wang et al, 2008), it would be of great interest to investigate whether certain levels of cdk2 downregulation could lead to antagonistic outcomes, when combined with docetaxel. It is also known that docetaxel acts differently depending on whether the prostate cancer cell line is androgen-dependent or independent, and whether the cell lines express the androgen receptor (Gomez et al, 2006). The results here indicated that LNCaP cells are 3- to 15-fold more sensitive to docetaxel (Table 4.1). Only C4-2 and LNCaP express the androgen receptor (Krueckl et al. 2004) and these are the cell lines that

are most sensitive to docetaxel while PC-3 and DU145 express little or no androgen receptor (Van Bokhoven *et al*, 2003). It would be useful to investigate the effect of androgen receptor expression and the role of p53 expression following treatment with docetaxel alone and in combination with selected ginsenosides.

Previous studies from this lab have shown that Rh2 and paclitaxel could be combined to produce synergistic effects in LNCaP cells but the fixed ratio used in these studies was 1:1 rather then 1000:1 used here with docetaxel (Xie *et al*, 2006). Although docetaxel exhibits 1.3 to 12-fold greater cytotoxicity in several cell lines compared with paclitaxel the differences would not be accounted for the 1000 fold difference in drug:drug ratios used in these different studies. Recent studies have suggested that drug:drug interactions can be highly sensitive to the drug:drug ratio used (Mayer & Janoff, 2007) and this variable as well as many other variables known to influence combination effects were not explored here.

Drug combinations involving cytotoxic drugs in clinical settings are motivated primarily by the prospect of achieving significant efficacy with reduced associated toxicity. Drug combinations yield cost benefits also as the doses of drugs required to elicit a specific therapeutic benefit as part of a combination are typically lower than when dosed alone. Although it is difficult to predict *in vivo* combination outcomes on the basis of *in vitro* results, the *in vitro* DRI offers some indication of potentially beneficial therapeutic outcomes resulting from strategically combining drugs. DRI results (Figures 4.2 and 4.3) reflect the characteristics of the combinations and our studies suggest that the combinations tested in the androgen-independent cell lines show synergism and this synergism was reflected by the DRI which indicated that substantially less drug is required when using the combination to achieve a therapeutic effect comparable to that achieved with the agents used alone. These results are consistent with the *in* 

*vivo* data shown in Figure 4.4, where it can be suggested that combinations of the ginsenosides and docetaxel at 10 mg/kg were as effective as docetaxel used as a single agent at dose which were 60 to 80% higher. These improvements in *in vivo* activity were not associated with increases in gross toxicity. The results summarized here are in agreement with Wang et al. who showed that docetaxel administered at a dose of 15 mg/kg in nude mice did not induce tumor regression; however complete tumor growth inhibition was possible when using combinations of docetaxel and 25-OH-aPPD (Wang *et al*, 2008).

In an attempt to gain a better understanding of the combination effects that led to improved therapeutic effects as judged by changes in tumor growth rates and associated tumor regress, tumors isolated from animals at the end of the study were assessed for apoptosis and tumor cell proliferation. The apoptotic index, determined from immunohistochemical analysis was higher in tumors from animals treated with docetaxel when compared to tumors from animals in the control, the Rh2+docetaxel and the aPPD+docetaxel treated animals. The reason for why combinations of Rh2 or aPPD with docetaxel appear to interfere with the single agent taxane activity that induces apoptosis is puzzling. Further, Wang et al. have shown that ginsenosides are strong promoters of apoptosis in LNCaP androgen-sensitive and PC-3 androgen-insensitive prostate cancer cells in vitro (Wang et al, 2008). These data are consistent with those shown in Figure 4.5B, where Rh2 and aPPD treatment alone can cause a significant increase in the measured apoptotic index relative to those obtained in tumors from control animals. Although docetaxel, as a single agent administered at 10 mg/kg, engendered the largest increase (relative to controls) in the measured apoptotic index, this dose failed to induce tumor regression (Figure 4.4D). Combinations of Rh2+docetaxel and aPPD+docetaxel, on the other hand, exhibited lower apoptotic indices but induced significant tumor regression. It is notable

that combinations of Rh2+docetaxel and aPPD+docetaxel significantly inhibited cell proliferation as measured by Ki-67 labeling and the extent of suppression was significantly lower than what was observed in tumors isolated from animals treated with docetaxel alone (Figure 4.5C). Thus the combined activity of these agents may be mediated through mechanisms that cause a decrease in cell proliferation rates as apposed to increases in apoptosis.

In summary, the results presented here provide support for our efforts to develop Rh2 and aPPD for clinical evaluation in combination with docetaxel for treatment of relapsed and hormone insensitive metastatic prostate cancer. Future studies evaluating the combination of ginsenosides with docetaxel are planned in order to further elucidate the nature of the interaction between Rh2 or aPPD with docetaxel that result in synergy.

### Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank Panagin Pharmaceuticals Inc, Richmond, BC (Canada) for generously supplying Rh2. We also would like to recognize the Staff of the Jack Bell animal resource centre for providing outstanding care for the animals used in these studies.

### REFERENCES

Bhalla KN (2003) Microtubule-targeted anticancer agents and apoptosis. Oncogene 22: 9075-86

Brigham BA, Bunn PA, Jr., Minna JD, Cohen MH, Ihde DC, Shackney SE (1978) Growth rates of small cell bronchogenic carcinomas. *Cancer* **42**: 2880-6

Budman DR, Calabro A, Kreis W (2002) Synergistic and antagonistic combinations of drugs in human prostate cancer cell lines in vitro. *Anticancer Drugs* 13: 1011-6

Castedo M, Perfettini JL, Roumier T, Kroemer G (2002) Cyclin-dependent kinase-1: linking apoptosis to cell cycle and mitotic catastrophe. *Cell Death Differ* **9:** 1287-93

Chou TC, Talalay P (1984) Quantitative analysis of dose-effect relationships: the combined effects of multiple drugs or enzyme inhibitors. *Adv Enzyme Regul* **22**: 27-55

Chu E, Devita VT (2005) Principles of Medical Oncology. In *Principles & Practice of Oncology*, 7th edn. Philidelphia: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins

Collin SM, Martin RM, Metcalfe C, Gunnell D, Albertsen PC, Neal D, Hamdy F, Stephens P, Lane JA, Moore R, Donovan J (2008) Prostate-cancer mortality in the USA and UK in 1975-2004: an ecological study. *Lancet Oncol* 

de Wit R (2008) Chemotherapy in hormone-refractory prostate cancer. BJU Int 101 Suppl 2: 11-5

Esquenet M, Swinnen JV, Heyns W, Verhoeven G (1997) LNCaP prostatic adenocarcinoma cells derived from low and high passage numbers display divergent responses not only to androgens but also to retinoids. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* **62**: 391-9

Fulzele SV, Chatterjee A, Shaik MS, Jackson T, Ichite N, Singh M (2007) 15-Deoxy-Delta12,14-prostaglandin J2 enhances docetaxel anti-tumor activity against A549 and H460 nonsmall-cell lung cancer cell lines and xenograft tumors. *Anticancer Drugs* **18:** 65-78

Gomez LA, de Las Pozas A, Perez-Stable C (2006) Sequential combination of flavopiridol and docetaxel reduces the levels of X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis and AKT proteins and stimulates apoptosis in human LNCaP prostate cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Ther* **5**: 1216-26

Hughes P, Marshall D, Reid Y, Parkes H, Gelber C (2007) The costs of using unauthenticated, over-passaged cell lines: how much more data do we need? *Biotechniques* **43**: 575, 577-8, 581-2 passim

Ko SC, Gotoh A, Thalmann GN, Zhau HE, Johnston DA, Zhang WW, Kao C, Chung LW (1996) Molecular therapy with recombinant p53 adenovirus in an androgen-independent, metastatic human prostate cancer model. *Hum Gene Ther* **7:** 1683-91 Krueckl SL, Sikes RA, Edlund NM, Bell RH, Hurtado-Coll A, Fazli L, Gleave ME, Cox ME (2004) Increased insulin-like growth factor I receptor expression and signaling are components of androgen-independent progression in a lineage-derived prostate cancer progression model. *Cancer Res* **64**: 8620-9

Mayer LD, Janoff AS (2007) Optimizing combination chemotherapy by controlling drug ratios. *Mol Interv* 7: 216-23

Nah SY, Park HJ, McCleskey EW (1995) A trace component of ginseng that inhibits Ca2+ channels through a pertussis toxin-sensitive G protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 92: 8739-43

Oh M, Choi YH, Choi S, Chung H, Kim K, Kim SI, Kim DK, Kim ND (1999) Anti-proliferating effects of ginsenoside Rh2 on MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. *Int J Oncol* **14:** 869-75

Oh WK (2003) The evolving role of chemotherapy and other systemic therapies for managing localized prostate cancer. *J Urol* **170:** S28-32; discussion S33-4

Ota T, Maeda M, Odashima S, Ninomiya-Tsuji J, Tatsuka M (1997) G1 phase-specific suppression of the Cdk2 activity by ginsenoside Rh2 in cultured murine cells. *Life Sci* 60: PL39-44

Pienta KJ (2001) Preclinical mechanisms of action of docetaxel and docetaxel combinations in prostate cancer. *Semin Oncol* 28: 3-7

Popovich DG, Kitts DD (2002) Structure-function relationship exists for ginsenosides in reducing cell proliferation and inducing apoptosis in the human leukemia (THP-1) cell line. Arch Biochem Biophys 406: 1-8

Ramsay EC, Dos Santos N, Dragowska WH, Laskin JJ, Bally MB (2005) The formulation of lipid-based nanotechnologies for the delivery of fixed dose anticancer drug combinations. *Curr Drug Deliv* **2**: 341-51

Richardson MA, Sanders T, Palmer JL, Greisinger A, Singletary SE (2000a) Complementary and alternative medicine use in a comprehensive cancer center and the implications for oncology. *J Clin Oncol* **18**: 2505-14

Richardson MA, Sanders T, Palmer JL, Greisinger A, Singletary SE (2000b) Complementary/alternative medicine use in a comprehensive cancer center and the implications for oncology. *J Clin Oncol* **18:** 2505-14

Scott SL, Earle JD, Gumerlock PH (2003) Functional p53 increases prostate cancer cell survival after exposure to fractionated doses of ionizing radiation. *Cancer Res* **63**: 7190-6

Shigemura K, Arbiser JL, Sun SY, Zayzafoon M, Johnstone PA, Fujisawa M, Gotoh A, Weksler B, Zhau HE, Chung LW (2007) Honokiol, a natural plant product, inhibits the bone metastatic growth of human prostate cancer cells. *Cancer* 109: 1279-89

Van Bokhoven A, Varella-Garcia M, Korch C, Johannes WU, Smith EE, Miller HL, Nordeen SK, Miller GJ, Lucia MS (2003) Molecular characterization of human prostate carcinoma cell lines. *Prostate* **57:** 205-25

Wang W, Rayburn ER, Hao M, Zhao Y, Hill DL, Zhang R, Wang H (2008) Experimental therapy of prostate cancer with novel natural product anti-cancer ginsenosides. *Prostate* 

Wang W, Zhao Y, Rayburn ER, Hill DL, Wang H, Zhang R (2007) In vitro anti-cancer activity and structure-activity relationships of natural products isolated from fruits of Panax ginseng. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* **59**: 589-601

Xie X, Eberding A, Madera C, Fazli L, Jia W, Goldenberg L, Gleave M, Guns ES (2006) Rh2 synergistically enhances paclitaxel or mitoxantrone in prostate cancer models. *J Urol* **175:** 1926-31

Yun TK, Lee YS, Lee YH, Kim SI, Yun HY (2001) Anticarcinogenic effect of Panax ginseng C.A. Meyer and identification of active compounds. *J Korean Med Sci* 16 Suppl: S6-18

Zhang D, Yasuda T, Yu Y, Zheng P, Kawabata T, Ma Y, Okada S (1996) Ginseng extract scavenges hydroxyl radical and protects unsaturated fatty acids from decomposition caused by iron-mediated lipid peroxidation. *Free Radic Biol Med* **20**: 145-50

Compound	PC-3	LNCaP	DU145	C4-2
Rh2	12.6 ± 0.21	12.8 ± 1.22	6.6 ± 0.27	7.15 ± 0.41
aPPD	11.9 ± 0.18	12.6 ± 1.66	$5.6 \pm 0.40$	5.6 ± 0.52
Docetaxel	0.15 ± 0.03	$0.017 \pm 0.002$	$0.25 \pm 0.08$	$0.048 \pm 0.007$

Table 4.1. IC<sub>50</sub> ( $\mu$ M) values following a 72-hour incubation (n = 3). Values are reported as mean ± SEM.

#### **Figure Legends**

**Figure 4.1.** *In vitro* drug combination studies analyzed using the combination index (CI) method in four prostate cancer cell lines: PC-3 (A), LNCaP (B), DU145 (C), and C4-2 (D). Rh2+Docetaxel and aPPD+Docetaxel were combined according to the constant ratio experimental design. Dotted line at CI = 1 indicates an additive effect. CI < 1 and CI > 1 indicate synergism and antagonism respectively. Mean value  $\pm$  SEM is shown with error bars. n = 3.

**Figure 4.2.** Drug Reduction Index (DRI) expressed as % reduction in IC<sub>50</sub> for Rh2 and aPPD in combination with docetaxel, compared to their individual IC<sub>50</sub>s. *In vitro* drug combination studies in four prostate cancer cell lines: PC-3 (A), LNCaP (B), DU145 (C), and C4-2 (D) according to the constant ratio experimental design. Mean value  $\pm$  SEM is shown with error bars. n = 3.

**Figure 4.3.** Drug Reduction Index (DRI) expressed as % reduction in IC<sub>50</sub> for docetaxel in combination with Rh2 or aPPD, compared to its individual IC<sub>50</sub>s. *In vitro* drug combination studies in four prostate cancer cell lines: PC-3 (A), LNCaP (B), DU145 (C), and C4-2 (D) according to a constant ratio design. Mean value  $\pm$  SEM is shown with error bars. n = 3.

**Figure 4.4.** (A-B): *In vivo* docetaxel dose response curve in PC-3 bearing nude mice administered intravenously via the lateral tail vein using a Q7D x 4 dose schedule: 10 mg/kg (filled square); 12 mg/kg (empty square); 14 mg/kg (filled circle); 16 mg/kg (empty circle); 18 mg/kg (filled triangle); 20 mg/kg (empty triangle); and saline (filled lozenge). (A) Change in

tumor volume was followed over time. Average tumor volumes are expressed as a percentage of the average initial tumor volume of each group at day 14, post PC-3 cell inoculation. On day 39, a statistically significant difference was found between the 10 mg/kg treatment group and the 20 mg/kg (p=0.0006) and saline (p=0.0001) groups. All docetaxel were statistically significantly different from saline. (B) In vivo toxicity as assessed by decrease in mean body weight. Body weight loss of > 20% is considered severe enough to warrant termination of the animals. Only animals administered the 20 mg/kg dose showed an average weight loss of more than 20% of initial weight at the end of the study. n = 10, mean value  $\pm$  SEM is shown with error bars. (C-E): (C) In vivo combination study in PC-3 bearing nude mice. (A) Change in tumor volume was followed over time for animals treated with the oral control (filled triangle, ethanol:propylene glycol:water (2:7:1)), saline (empty triangle), Rh2 (120 mg/kg QD x 5 per week; empty square), aPPD (70 mg/kg QD x 5 per week; filled square), docetaxel (10mg/kg Q7D x 4, x), Rh2+docetaxel (Rh2 – 120 mg/kg QD x 5 per week; docetaxel – 10mg/kg Q7D x 4; empty circle), and aPPD+docetaxel (aPPD - 70 mg/kg QD x 5 per week; docetaxel - 10mg/kg Q7D x 4; filled circle). Average tumor volumes are expressed as a percentage of the average initial tumor volume of each group at day 14, post PC-3 cells inoculation. On day 39, a statistically significant difference was found between Rh2 and the controls (p=0.0071 (oral control) and p=0.0007 (saline)), aPPD and the controls (p=0.0215 (oral control) and p=0.0057(saline)), and docetaxel and the controls (p=0.0001 (oral control) and p=0.0001 (saline)). Docetaxel was also statistically significantly different from Rh2 (p=0.0007) and aPPD (p=0.0003). Rh2+docetaxel and aPPD+docetaxel were both statistically significantly different from Rh2, aPPD, oral control, and saline. A statistically significant difference was also found between Rh2 and aPPD (p=0.0412) and between Rh2+docetaxel and aPPD+docetaxel groups. n = 8 for Rh2, aPPD,

docetaxel, Rh2+docetaxel, and aPPD+docetaxel. n = 7 for the oral control and saline. Mean value  $\pm$  SEM is shown with error bars. (D) % initial tumor volume comparison of the three docetaxel groups: docetaxel alone, Rh2+docetaxel, and aPPD+docetaxel. Tumor regression was achieved only by Rh2+docetaxel and aPPD+docetaxel. The dotted line indicates tumor mass at the start of the study. (E) *In vivo* toxicity as assessed by decrease in mean body weight. No animals showed any signs of toxicity other then weight loss in these studies. Docetaxel, Rh2+docetaxel, and aPPD+docetaxel showed weight loss of less than 20% of initial weight. Mean value  $\pm$  SEM is shown with error bars. \* signifies statistically significant difference from the control.

#### Figure 4.5.

(A) Representative tissue microarray spots for PC-3 tumors: immunostained using a TUNEL assay by enzymatically labeling the free 3'-OH terminal generated on DNA fragments of 180 to 200 bp. Using this method, apoptotic cells could be identified in areas of viable tissue, as indicated by the arrows. (B) Apoptotic Index summarized from ApopTag<sup>®</sup> staining of tissue microarrays. Four cores of tissue were extracted per tumor and one tumor per animal. n (total number of cores) = 28 for the control and saline and 32 for Rh2 and docetaxel. On day 39, docetaxel was statistically significantly different from Rh2+docetaxel (p=0.0074) but not from aPPD+docetaxel (p=0.1156). Apoptotic indices of all groups were statistically different from the control. (C) Summarized Ki-67 labeling of tissue microarrays. Mean scores were determined as a percentage of the total number of cores) = 28 for the cortes of tissue microarrays. Mean scores were determined as docetaxel. Mean value ± SEM is shown with error bars. \* signifies statistically significant difference from the control. Doc: docetaxel









С

D



# Figure 4.3



B









# Figure 4.5

0

A





### 5. CONCLUDING CHAPTER

The work presented here follows the integrative, hierarchical approach of drug discovery, providing significant understanding of Rh2 and aPPD at the molecular, cellular, tissue, and in vivo levels. At a molecular level, we have demonstrated, for the first time that Rh2 and aPPD both significantly inhibited cell proliferation via Ki-67 inhibition and not following an increase in cellular induction of apoptosis. At a cellular level, we have assessed, for the first time, the characteristics of the in vitro drug-drug interactions between Rh2 or aPPD and docetaxel, using the Median Effect Principle and the Constant Ratio combination design, recognized as the most efficient type of combination design (Chou & Talalay, 1984). At the in vivo level, we have significantly contributed to the oral formulation and administration of these ginseng metabolites. First we reported the solubility and stability of Rh2 and aPPD in ethanol, for the first time. We have also presented a novel oral gavage formulation, well-tolerated in nude mice, as indicated by the animal percent weight loss and secondary measurements of kidney and liver toxicity. This oral gavage was effective against PC-3 tumor xenografts and allowed for the absorption and biodistribution of Rh2 and aPPD as demonstrated by pharmacokinetic studies. Also for the first time, the in vivo combination of Rh2 or aPPD with docetaxel showed that when a lower dose of docetaxel was used (half the maximum tolerated dose), only its combinations with Rh2 or aPPD was effective in not only inhibiting tumor growth but also in inducing tumor reduction. Since the results of these studies have been extensively discussed in each manuscript, I have dedicated the rest of this section for the discussion to expand upon specific aspects of my research in prostate cancer and potential future directions of my work.

Firstly I will touch upon some of the *in vitro* models used for the purpose of my research. While researchers in the field of prostate cancer continue to use the PC-3, DU145, and LNCaP

prostate cancer cell lines, and in doing so, have contributed immeasurably to the understanding of carcinogenesis and cancer progression, notably to the fundamental understanding of growth regulation, cell differentiation, and cell structure and behavior, some intrinsic characteristics of these cell lines still remain controversial. Attempts at isolating and establishing immortalized cell lines as models for studying prostate cancer *in vitro* can be traced back to as early as 1917 (Burrows *et al*, 1917). Burrows et al and the overwhelming majority of subsequent investigators were not successful in this endeavour and recognized the insurmountable challenges at hand, which warranted prostate carcinoma the reputation of being one of the most difficult cell types from which to establish continuous cell lines (Van Bokhoven *et al*, 2003).

Exactly sixty years following the first attempts by Burrows et al., a report of DU145 cell line isolation and establishment was published in 1977 (Mickey *et al*, 1977; Stone *et al*, 1978). DU145 was extracted from the brain metastasis of a 69-year old Caucasian male. The first published report of the establishment of the PC-3 cell line appeared in 1978 (Kaighn *et al*, 1979). PC-3 cells were extracted from a lumbar vertebrae (bone) metastasis of a 62-year old Caucasian male. DU145 and PC-3 are both androgen-independent, do not secrete PSA, and do not express AR (Krueckl *et al*, 2004; Van Bokhoven *et al*, 2003). LNCaP was isolated from the left supraclavicular lymph node metastasis from a 50-year-old caucasian male and reported in 1980 (Horoszewicz *et al*, 1980; Horoszewicz *et al*, 1983). Unlike DU145 and PC-3, LNCaP is androgen-sensitive, secretes PSA, and expresses AR (Krueckl *et al*, 2004; Van Bokhoven *et al*, 2003).

Further attempts at isolating and establishing immortal prostate cancer cell lines have resulted mostly in failure and in some cases where success was found, the cell lines were later exposed for being derivatives of either DU145, PC-3, LNCaP, or the T24 bladder cancer cell line

(Chen, 1993; MacLeod et al, 1999; Pan et al, 2001; van Bokhoven et al, 2001a; Van Bokhoven et al, 2001b; Varella-Garcia et al, 2001).

Most investigators involved in the validation of prostatic carcinoma immortal or primary cell lines agree on two critical criteria: (i) the epithelial origin, as established by cytokeratin expression. (ii) The prostatic origin, as established by secretion of PSA, responsiveness to androgens, and expression of AR and DD3 genes (Bussemakers *et al*, 1999; Van Bokhoven *et al*, 2003; Webber *et al*, 1996b; Webber *et al*, 1997). DD3 is a prostate cancer-specific gene overexpressed in the majority of prostate cancers including distant metastases, expressed at a negligible level in nonmalignant prostate tissue, and not expressed in other normal or malignant tissues (Bussemakers *et al*, 1999; Schalken, 2005; Verhaegh *et al*, 2000). Androgens not only regulate prostatic epithelial cell secretion of PSA but also increase AR protein expression (Chen *et al*, 1992; Webber *et al*, 1996a).

Both the PC-3 and DU145 cell lines do not meet the second set of requirements. They are not responsive to androgen, do not secrete PSA and express negligible, if any, AR or DD3 genes. In addition, since the clinical model of progression to androgen independence suggests that the androgen independence stage corresponds to a significant increase in PSA secretion, it is difficult to reconcile and justify the established use of PC-3 cells to mimic this stage, albeit not secreting PSA. The two most common explanations in support of the prostatic origin of PC-3 and DU145 are:

(i) The heterogeneous nature of prostate cancer tumor population. Existence of both AR positive and AR negative malignant cells in prostate cancer tumors before androgen withdrawal therapy in human and after castration in rats have been reported (Sadi *et al*, 1991). Since it has been shown that a higher percentage of metastatic cells are found to be positive for AR than the

primary tumor (Brolin et al, 1992). It is thus believed that a fraction of cells in all prostate cancer cell lines express AR in early passages and that androgen independent cells become the dominant cell population, following a natural selection process, in medium deficient of androgens (Webber et al, 1996b). The counter argument of this explanation would be that this scenario, if valid, would also apply to the LNCaP cell line. Significantly, two more recently established cell lines also isolated from bone metastasis, the MDA PCa 2a and MDA PCa 2b, are characteristically AR positive, androgen independent but responsive, secrete PSA and express the DD3 gene (Navone et al, 1997; Van Bokhoven et al, 2003). In my opinion, when prostate cancer cells misplay a critical characteristic such as AR expression, investigators should refrain from using it since AR plays a central role in prostate cancer tumorigenesis and treatment. I would offer that the MDA PCa 2a and MDA PCa 2b cell lines would be best fitted to mimic the androgen-independent stage of prostate cancer. Reproducibility being one of the main principles of the scientific method, it is rather surprising that in spite of recent technological advances in the last 28 years, no investigator has been able to reproduce the successes that struck between 1977-1980, in isolating cell lines that can be uniquely identified as genetically and biologically similar to the PC-3 and DU145 cell lines, without deriving from them.

(ii) Histological evaluation. Some investigators concur that histological similarities between PC-3 and DU145 tumors grown in nude mice and parent tumors are compelling enough to confirm their prostatic origin (Kaighn *et al*, 1979; Webber *et al*, 1997). While I do not dispute the histological value of these cells, I consider the biological requirements just as valuable for a complete and multidimensional understanding of prostate cancer, especially considering that LNCaP cells meet both the histological and biological requirements. A strong case can also be made about LNCaP considering that when inoculated in nude mice, tumors are developed

preferentially in male mice compared to female mice, confirming their androgen responsiveness and prostatic origin (Gleave *et al*, 1992). It is also possible that PC-3 and DU145 may have been established from a rare case where the patient had metastatic carcinoma with very low PSA levels and minimal androgen responsiveness. In this case, it would be more advisable to researchers to investigate scenarios which occur in the majority of cases rather than in exceptional circumstances. I am of the opinion that using PC-3 or DU145 provides an incomplete understanding of prostate cancer, which may be misleading when extrapolated or generalized. I share the view of Van Bokhoven et al. who after cataloging and validating 17 genuine prostate carcinoma cell lines, offer that the heterogeneity of these cells should preclude easy categorization of carcinoma cell lines or their linkage with specific stages of prostate cancer (Van Bokhoven *et al*, 2003).

Validation issues pertaining to PC-3 and DU145 raised here are exacerbated by other problems inherent to the general use of immortalized cell line. Although immortalized cell lines offer the advantage of having an infinite lifespan, which makes it possible to use standardized cell models for research and that *in vitro* systems allow us to select and pinpoint specific mechanisms in a cell, overpassaging of cells engenders selectivity, decreased homogeneity and alteration of key cellular gene functions, in addition to increased potential of cross-contamination (as reviewed by Hughes *et al*, 2007). It has been shown that LNCaP cells with passage of approximately 80, display increased proliferative response to androgens and lower secretion of PSA, compared to cells at passage numbers between 24 and 32 (Esquenet *et al*, 1997). The worth, accuracy, pertinence, consistency, and reproducibility of data generated using these cell lines rest heavily on the type and quality of cell line used. I am of the opinion that the limitations discussed above contribute to contradictory findings in prostate cancer research (i.e.

presence/absence of AR in PC-3 and DU145 cells), ultimately sometimes contributing to confusion rather than progress.

Although the validity of the extrapolation of *in vitro* immortalized cell line investigations to the *in vivo* human situations in drug discovery is often questioned, its impact and influence in recent years can never be underestimated. Some researchers in the field of pharmacology believe that the traditional chemistry and pharmaceutics-based drug discovery approach has been progressively replaced by the discovery of "drugable genome targets" approach, involving molecular biology (Williams, 2005), with a substantial use of immortalized cell culture investigation. It is estimated that in 1994, only 11% of pharmacology fellowships funded by the National Institute of General Medical Sciences at the National Institute of Health (NIH) were awarded to animal research, in comparison to cell culture work (Jobe et al, 1994). It is believed that many pharmacology departments in the US did not have access to funding unless their grant applications contained a molecular biology component (Williams, 2005). It could be predicted that the same challenges would be present when a manuscript without a molecular biology component is submitted for publication in prominent journals. These trends prompted the renaming of some pharmacology departments to incorporate the word "molecular" in their titles (In Vivo Pharmacology Training Group, 2002). Some investigators have raised concerns about the target-centered drug discovery trend using largely in vitro approaches, including that in this process drug targets are increasingly viewed as static rather than dynamic entities, which they contend, is less reflective of the disease state (as reviewed by Edwards et al, 2000; Goldman, 2005). The new approach is also considered overly simplified, reductionist, and exclusionary. They point out that in the case of 7TM receptors, key accessory proteins are frequently absent in transfected cell systems. These proteins may significantly alter the receptor function and the

recognition characteristics of novel ligands. This example is believed to be one of the reasons why New Chemical Entities (NCEs) identified in engineered cell systems are required to be reassessed for activity in systems where the receptor/target occurs naturally (Kenakin, 1996; Maudsley *et al*, 2005).

In the past decade only, the target-centered approach of drug discovery has produced at least 518 and 1300 potential drug targets for protein kinases and phosphatases only, respectively (Manning *et al*, 2002). This is a remarkable achievement considering that the number of protein kinase drug targets is equivalent to the approximately 500 distinct drug targets established over centuries and catalogued in the current pharmacopoeia (Drews, 1996). Concerned drug discovery investigators acknowledge and appreciate this accomplishment and have no issue over the increase in their funding but deplore the fact that the funding process is conducted with the exclusion of more traditional integrative research approaches which include animal models. They believe that this exclusionary approach in funding is largely responsible for the current drought of new drugs (Duyk, 2003; Milne, 2003) and the transformation of the pharmaceutical industry to a less successful business compared to the 1970s to mid 1980s when numerous successful drugs were discovered, including the chemorherapeutics cisplatin and taxol (Goozner, 2004; Sneader, 1985).

Considering that immortalized prostate cancer cell lines currently in use are not representative of primary adenocarcinoma of the prostate and are largely susceptible of genetic and biological alterations and cross-contamination, in addition to the controversial characteristics associated with PC-3 and DU145, my suggestion would be that biomedical researchers should focus their efforts primarily in the development of efficient and successful ways to extract and grow primary cultures of malignant prostatic cells and their normal epithelial counterparts, for

comparison. Growing primary cultures has been rendered less challenging thanks to recent technological advances in that field (as reviewed by Peehl & Sellers, 2002).

Contrary to the impression that might be conveyed by my discussion on "target-centered" biomedical approach, I advocate greater use of in vitro research and would discourage the use of laboratory animals unless indispensable. Despite the invaluable contribution of laboratory animals in pre-clinical research, only 20% of drugs successful in pre-clinical trials are approved by the FDA (FDA, 2008). The very modest human predictability and reliability of animal models is mostly due to significant genetic differences between species. Even the Chimpanzee, our closest evolutionary relative, displays a difference in approximately 80% of protein expression despite a mere 1 to 2% nucleotide difference between our the two species (Glazko et al, 2005). In addition, many of the proteins expressed and characterized as being equivalent to those expressed in the human also share only very modest sequence homology between species and consequently have quite different substrate specificities and/or fundamental functionalities (Nelson, Pharmacogenetics, 1996). Rodents that are used routinely for toxicity studies are even further disparate from the human, genetically and phenotypically. It also has been shown that the immune system of rodents is greatly affected and altered by the handling, restraint and related stress of testing procedures, possibly distorting both disease progression and response to test compounds (Balcombe et al, 2004; as reviewed by Knight et al, 2006). Genetic and phenotypic differences between species often translate to significant differences in disease progression, absorption, tissue distribution, metabolism and excretion, toxicity, and efficacy (as review by Bailey, 2005; Knight, 2007). In addition, financial costs of maintaining and experimenting on animal are also considerable. It is estimated that the maintenance of one

laboratory Chimpanzee in captivity costs between \$300,000 U.S. to \$450,000 U.S. for a life span (Cohen, 2007b).

Legislations intended in prohibiting the use of Chimpanzees in invasive research and breeding moratoriums in the US (Cohen, 2007a; HSUS, 2008) and Europe (British Psychological APC, 1998; Society, 2002) have accentuated efforts in developing volunteer studies, in vitro and physicochemical techniques, and computer modeling intended for replacing animal procedures. A report entitled The Statistics of Scientific Procedures on Living Animal issued by the British Home Office concluded that the British industry in general has significantly reduced its use of animal testing, compared to academia where the practice has increased by 52% (The Stationery Office, 2005). Langley et al. report that the European Centre for the Validation of Alternative Methods (ECVAM), created in 1991, has successfully validated more than 18 full or partial animal testing replacement methods, eight of which have already gained regulatory acceptance in the industry (as reviewed by Langley et al, 2007). Three examples of animal testing replacement are often cited as significant achievements: (i) the rat skin and human skin model assays and the Corrositex model, used for testing chemical corrosivity, thus replacing severe in vivo tests on rabbits. (ii) The cell-based neutral red uptake assay for photo-irritancy has replaced inconvenient tests on mice. (iii) A method of assessing skin penetration of drugs and pesticides has replaced testing on rodents (as reviewed by Langley et al, 2007). Although encouraging, these modest accomplishments are far from capturing the complexity of in vivo organisms and of providing comparable of greater human predictability than animal models currently used, particularly those pertaining to cancer and carcinogenesis.

In summary, considering the cost and poor human predictability associated with animal models, in addition to ethical concerns, biomedical researchers should be encouraged to develop

*in vitro* models for the identification of drug targets and assessment of drug toxicity and efficacy. These models should be able to capture, to a significant extent, the complexity exhibited by living organisms and avoid being over simplistic and far removed from reality. Funding agencies need to be more progressive yet retain the ability to fund and encourage old approaches to drug discovery that have been proven successful and not discriminate against them, for the benefit of trendy but yet unproven new approaches.

# 5.1 Future directions

Since we have shown that *in vitro* combination of Rh2 or aPPD with docetaxel yields synergistic outcomes against PC-3 cells, it would be useful to determine and compare the cellular uptake of these agents alone and in combination. This investigation would involve two steps: (i) cellular uptake kinetics and (ii) inhibition of efflux transporters.

For cellular uptake kinetics studies, PC-3 cells would be treated with solutions of Rh2, aPPD, or docetaxel, alone and in combination and incubated at 37°C for 15, 30, 45, 1 h, 3 h, 6h, 12h, 24h, 48 h, and 72 h. At the end of the incubation period, the solution will be aspirated, cells washed, excised, and the concentration of the uptaken drugs determined by analytical HPLC and MS methods.

While it is known that P-gp efflux transporters are expressed at relatively high levels in PC-3 cells (Theyer *et al*, 1993), it is also established that docetaxel is a P-gp substrate and that one of the important mechanisms of docetaxel resistance is an overexpression of P-gp in cancer cells (Bissery *et al*, 1995; Shirakawa *et al*, 1999; van Ark-Otte *et al*, 1998). On the other hand, as reported earlier, Rh2 and aPPD have been shown to significantly enhance the cytotoxicity of mitoxantrone in human breast carcinoma MCF-7/MX cells which overexpress breast cancer

resistance protein (BCRP). Their effect was attributed to the inhibition of mitoxantrone efflux and enhanced mitoxantrone uptake (Jin *et al*, 2006). Thus one aim of the inhibition of efflux transporter experiments would be to investigate the ability of Rh2 and PPD in inhibiting P-gp efflux transporters in PC-3 cells. Cells will be treated and incubated with various concentrations of docetaxel in the absence or presence of Rh2 or aPPD for the optimum time period as determined by the uptake study. MS-209, an established P-gp inhibitor could potentially be used as the positive control compound. MS-209 is a quinolone derivate currently in clinical trials for breast and lung cancer treatments (Narasaki *et al*, 1997; Perez-Tomas, 2006; Robert & Jarry, 2003). At the end of the incubation period, the solution will be aspirated, cells washed, excised, and the concentration of the uptaken drugs determined by analytical HPLC and MS methods.

The multidrug resistance 1 gene (MDR1), which encodes the P-gp protein, is expressed in several tissues including the kidney, colon, liver, lung, brain, and the prostate (Fojo *et al*, 1987). Should the experiments presented above conclusively show that Rh2 and aPPD increase the cellular uptake of docetaxel, *in vivo* administration of Rh2 or aPPD in combination with docetaxel will be carried out as part of a pharmacokinetic experiment. The aim of this experiment would be to evaluate alteration in tissue absorption of docetaxel when coadministered with Rh2 and aPPD. Here, mice would be administered Rh2, aPPD, docetaxel+Rh2, docetaxel+aPPD, or docetaxel+ MS-209. Tissues would be excised at several time points, and the drugs extracted and quantitated using analytical HPLC and MS methods.

In summary, in combining the results from the experiments outlined above, we would demonstrate whether the cellular uptake of docetaxel by PC-3 cells *in vitro* and *in vivo* is enhanced via inhibition of P-gp transporters by Rh2 and aPPD and that this mechanism plays a significant role in the *in vivo* and *in vitro* synergy that we showed in our third manuscript.

## 5.2 Bibliography

APC (1998) Report of the Animal Procedures Committee for 1997 London, UK: Home Office.

Bailey J (2005) Non-human primates in medical research and drug development: a critical review. *Biogenic Amines* **19:** 235-255

Balcombe JP, Barnard ND, Sandusky C (2004) Laboratory routines cause animal stress. *Contemp Top Lab Anim Sci* **43**: 42-51

Bissery MC, Nohynek G, Sanderink GJ, Lavelle F (1995) Docetaxel (Taxotere): a review of preclinical and clinical experience. Part I: Preclinical experience. Anticancer Drugs 6: 339-55, 363-8

Brolin J, Skoog L, Ekman P (1992) Immunohistochemistry and biochemistry in detection of androgen, progesterone, and estrogen receptors in benign and malignant human prostatic tissue. *Prostate* **20**: 281-95

Burrows MT, Burns JE, Suzuki Y (1917) Studies on the growth of cells. The cultivation of bladder and prostate tumors outside the body. *Journal of Urology* 1: 3-15

Bussemakers MJ, van Bokhoven A, Verhaegh GW, Smit FP, Karthaus HF, Schalken JA, Debruyne FM, Ru N, Isaacs WB (1999) DD3: a new prostate-specific gene, highly overexpressed in prostate cancer. *Cancer Res* **59**: 5975-9

Chen HZ, Kirschenbaum A, Mandeli J, Hollander VP (1992) The effect of dihydrotestosterone and culture conditions on proliferation of the human prostatic cancer cell line LNCaP. *Steroids* 57: 269-75

Chen TR (1993) Chromosome identity of human prostate cancer cell lines, PC-3 and PPC-1. *Cytogenet Cell Genet* **62**: 183-4

Chou TC, Talalay P (1984) Quantitative analysis of dose-effect relationships: the combined effects of multiple drugs or enzyme inhibitors. *Adv Enzyme Regul* 22: 27-55

Cohen J (2007a) Animal studies. NIH to end chimp breeding for research. Science 316: 1265

Cohen J (2007b) Biomedical research. The endangered lab chimp. Science 315: 450-2

Drews J (1996) Genomic sciences and the medicine of tomorrow. Nat Biotechnol 14: 1516-8

Duyk G (2003) Attrition and translation. Science 302: 603-5

Edwards SW, Tan CM, Limbird LE (2000) Localization of G-protein-coupled receptors in health and disease. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 21: 304-8

Esquenet M, Swinnen JV, Heyns W, Verhoeven G (1997) LNCaP prostatic adenocarcinoma cells derived from low and high passage numbers display divergent responses not only to androgens but also to retinoids. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* **62**: 391-9

FDA (2008) ClinicalStudyResults.org Vol. 2008. FDA

Fojo AT, Ueda K, Slamon DJ, Poplack DG, Gottesman MM, Pastan I (1987) Expression of a multidrug-resistance gene in human tumors and tissues. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 84: 265-9

Glazko G, Veeramachaneni V, Nei M, Makalowski W (2005) Eighty percent of proteins are different between humans and chimpanzees. *Gene* **346**: 215-9

Gleave ME, Hsieh JT, von Eschenbach AC, Chung LW (1992) Prostate and bone fibroblasts induce human prostate cancer growth in vivo: implications for bidirectional tumor-stromal cell interaction in prostate carcinoma growth and metastasis. *J Urol* **147**: 1151-9

Goldman JM (2005) A unifying mutation in chronic myeloproliferative disorders. *N Engl J Med* **352:** 1744-6

Goozner M (2004) The \$800 million pill: the truth behind the cost of new drugs. Berkeley, California: University of California Press

Group IVPT (2002) The fall and rise of in vivo pharmacology. Trends Pharmacol Sci 23: 13-8

Horoszewicz JS, Leong SS, Chu TM, Wajsman ZL, Friedman M, Papsidero L, Kim U, Chai LS, Kakati S, Arya SK, Sandberg AA (1980) The LNCaP cell line--a new model for studies on human prostatic carcinoma. *Prog Clin Biol Res* **37**: 115-32

Horoszewicz JS, Leong SS, Kawinski E, Karr JP, Rosenthal H, Chu TM, Mirand EA, Murphy GP (1983) LNCaP model of human prostatic carcinoma. *Cancer Res* **43**: 1809-18

HSUS (2008) The Great Ape Protection Act (H.R. 5852) Vol. 2008.

Hughes P, Marshall D, Reid Y, Parkes H, Gelber C (2007) The costs of using unauthenticated, over-passaged cell lines: how much more data do we need? *Biotechniques* **43:** 575, 577-8, 581-2 passim

Jin J, Shahi S, Kang HK, Hendrik WVV, Fan T (2006) Metabolites of ginsenosides as novel BCRP inhibitors. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **345**: 1308-14

Jobe PC, Adams-Curtis LE, Burks TF, Fuller RW, Peck CC, Ruffolo RR, Snead OC, 3rd, Woosley RL (1994) The essential role of integrative biomedical sciences in protecting and contributing to the health and well-being of our nation. *Physiologist* **37**: 79-86

Kaighn ME, Narayan KS, Ohnuki Y, Lechner JF, Jones LW (1979) Establishment and characterization of a human prostatic carcinoma cell line (PC-3). *Invest Urol* 17: 16-23

Kenakin T (1996) The classification of seven transmembrane receptors in recombinant expression systems. *Pharmacol Rev* 48: 413-63

Knight A (2007) The poor contribution of chimpanzee experiments to biomedical progress. J Appl Anim Welf Sci 10: 281-308

Knight A, Bailey J, Balcombe J (2006) Animal carcinogenicity studies: 2. Obstacles to extrapolation of data to humans. *Altern Lab Anim* 34: 29-38

Krueckl SL, Sikes RA, Edlund NM, Bell RH, Hurtado-Coll A, Fazli L, Gleave ME, Cox ME (2004) Increased insulin-like growth factor I receptor expression and signaling are components of androgen-independent progression in a lineage-derived prostate cancer progression model. *Cancer Res* 64: 8620-9

Langley G, Evans T, Holgate ST, Jones A (2007) Replacing animal experiments: choices, chances and challenges. *Bioessays* **29:** 918-26

MacLeod RA, Dirks WG, Matsuo Y, Kaufmann M, Milch H, Drexler HG (1999) Widespread intraspecies cross-contamination of human tumor cell lines arising at source. *Int J Cancer* 83: 555-63

Manning G, Whyte DB, Martinez R, Hunter T, Sudarsanam S (2002) The protein kinase complement of the human genome. *Science* **298**: 1912-34

Maudsley S, Martin B, Luttrell LM (2005) The origins of diversity and specificity in g proteincoupled receptor signaling. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **314**: 485-94

Mickey DD, Stone KR, Wunderli H, Mickey GH, Vollmer RT, Paulson DF (1977) Heterotransplantation of a human prostatic adenocarcinoma cell line in nude mice. *Cancer Res* **37:** 4049-58

Milne GM (2003) Pharmaceutical Productivity-The Imperative for New Paradigms. In Annual Reports in medicinal Chemistry, Vol. 38.

Narasaki F, Oka M, Fukuda M, Nakano R, Ikeda K, Takatani H, Terashi K, Soda H, Yano O, Nakamura T, Doyle LA, Tsuruo T, Kohno S (1997) A novel quinoline derivative, MS-209, overcomes drug resistance of human lung cancer cells expressing the multidrug resistance-associated protein (MRP) gene. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* **40**: 425-32

Navone NM, Olive M, Ozen M, Davis R, Troncoso P, Tu SM, Johnston D, Pollack A, Pathak S, von Eschenbach AC, Logothetis CJ (1997) Establishment of two human prostate cancer cell lines derived from a single bone metastasis. *Clin Cancer Res* **3**: 2493-500

Office TS (2005) Statistics of Scientific Procedures on Living Animals London, UK: Home Office.

Pan Y, Lui WO, Nupponen N, Larsson C, Isola J, Visakorpi T, Bergerheim US, Kytola S (2001) 5q11, 8p11, and 10q22 are recurrent chromosomal breakpoints in prostate cancer cell lines. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* **30**: 187-95

Peehl DM, Sellers RG (2002) Epithelial cell culture: prostate. In Methods of Tissue Engineering. San Diego, California: Academic Press

Perez-Tomas R (2006) Multidrug resistance: retrospect and prospects in anti-cancer drug treatment. *Curr Med Chem* **13**: 1859-76

Robert J, Jarry C (2003) Multidrug resistance reversal agents. J Med Chem 46: 4805-17

Sadi MV, Walsh PC, Barrack ER (1991) Immunohistochemical study of androgen receptors in metastatic prostate cancer. Comparison of receptor content and response to hormonal therapy. *Cancer* 67: 3057-64

Schalken JA (2005) Validation of molecular targets in prostate cancer. BJU Int 96 Suppl 2: 23-9

Shirakawa K, Takara K, Tanigawara Y, Aoyama N, Kasuga M, Komada F, Sakaeda T, Okumura K (1999) Interaction of docetaxel ("Taxotere") with human P-glycoprotein. *Jpn J Cancer Res* **90**: 1380-6

Sneader W (1985) Drug discovery: the evolution of modern medicines. Chichester, U.K.: Wiley

Society TBP (2002) The Boyd Group Papers on the Use of Non-Human Primates in Research and Testing Leicester, UK: The British Psychological Society

Stone KR, Mickey DD, Wunderli H, Mickey GH, Paulson DF (1978) Isolation of a human prostate carcinoma cell line (DU 145). *Int J Cancer* **21**: 274-81

Theyer G, Schirmbock M, Thalhammer T, Sherwood ER, Baumgartner G, Hamilton G (1993) Role of the MDR-1-encoded multiple drug resistance phenotype in prostate cancer cell lines. J Urol 150: 1544-7

van Ark-Otte J, Samelis G, Rubio G, Lopez Saez JB, Pinedo HM, Giaccone G (1998) Effects of tubulin-inhibiting agents in human lung and breast cancer cell lines with different multidrug resistance phenotypes. *Oncol Rep* **5**: 249-55

van Bokhoven A, Varella-Garcia M, Korch C, Hessels D, Miller GJ (2001a) Widely used prostate carcinoma cell lines share common origins. *Prostate* **47**: 36-51

Van Bokhoven A, Varella-Garcia M, Korch C, Johannes WU, Smith EE, Miller HL, Nordeen SK, Miller GJ, Lucia MS (2003) Molecular characterization of human prostate carcinoma cell lines. *Prostate* **57:** 205-25

Van Bokhoven A, Varella-Garcia M, Korch C, Miller GJ (2001b) TSU-Pr1 and JCA-1 cells are derivatives of T24 bladder carcinoma cells and are not of prostatic origin. *Cancer Res* **61**: 6340-4

Varella-Garcia M, Boomer T, Miller GJ (2001) Karyotypic similarity identified by multiplex-FISH relates four prostate adenocarcinoma cell lines: PC-3, PPC-1, ALVA-31, and ALVA-41. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* **31:** 303-15

Verhaegh GW, van Bokhoven A, Smit F, Schalken JA, Bussemakers MJ (2000) Isolation and characterization of the promoter of the human prostate cancer-specific DD3 gene. *J Biol Chem* **275:** 37496-503

Webber MM, Bello D, Kleinman HK, Wartinger DD, Williams DE, Rhim JS (1996a) Prostate specific antigen and androgen receptor induction and characterization of an immortalized adult human prostatic epithelial cell line. *Carcinogenesis* **17**: 1641-6

Webber MM, Bello D, Quader S (1996b) Immortalized and tumorigenic adult human prostatic epithelial cell lines: characteristics and applications. Part I. Cell markers and immortalized nontumorigenic cell lines. *Prostate* **29**: 386-94

Webber MM, Bello D, Quader S (1997) Immortalized and tumorigenic adult human prostatic epithelial cell lines: characteristics and applications Part 2. Tumorigenic cell lines. *Prostate* **30**: 58-64

Williams M (2005) Systems and integrative biology as alternative guises for pharmacology: prime time for an iPharm concept? *Biochem Pharmacol* **70**: 1707-16
#### **APPENDIX A:** First Manuscript Chapter – Title page information

### Pre-clinical evaluation of Rh2 in PC-3 human xenograft model for prostate cancer *in vivo*: Formulation, Pharmacokinetics, Biodistribution and Efficacy

Alain G. Musende<sup>1,2</sup>, M.Sc.; Andy Eberding<sup>1</sup>, M.Sc.; Catherine A. Wood<sup>1</sup>, B.Sc.; Hans Adomat<sup>1</sup>, B.Sc.; Ladan Fazli<sup>1</sup>, M.D.; Antonio Hurtado-Coll<sup>1</sup>, M.D.; William Jia, Ph.D<sup>3,4</sup>.; Marcel B. Bally<sup>2,5,6</sup> Ph.D.; and Emma S. Tomlinson Guns<sup>1,6,7</sup>, Ph.D.

<sup>1</sup>The Prostate Centre at Vancouver General Hospital, 2660 Oak Street, Vancouver, B.C., Canada V6H 3Z6
<sup>2</sup>Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University of British Columbia, 2211
<sup>3</sup>Wesbrook Mall, Vancouver, B.C., Canada V6T 2B5
<sup>3</sup>Department of Surgery, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, 910 W. 10th Ave., Vancouver, B.C., Canada. V5Z 4E3
<sup>4</sup>Brain Research Center, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, 2211 Westbrook Mall, Vancouver, B.C., Canada. V6T 2B5
<sup>5</sup>Department of Advanced Therapeutics, British Columbia Cancer Agency, 675 West 10<sup>th</sup> Avenue, Vancouver, B.C., Canada V5Z 1L3
<sup>6</sup>Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of British Columbia, 2146 East Mall, Vancouver, BC, Canada V6T 1Z3
<sup>7</sup>Department of Urologic Sciences, University of British Columbia, 3300 - 950 W. 10th Ave., Vancouver, B.C., Canada V5Z 4E3

Reprint request should be addressed to:

Emma S. Tomlinson Guns The Prostate Centre Vancouver General Hospital 2660, Oak Street Vancouver, B.C. V6H 3Z6 E-mail: emma.guns@vch.ca

This research was supported by grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (MBB) and Health Canada (EG).

Competing inter	est statement:	The authors declare that they have no competing financial interests	
Running title:	Pharmacokinetics and Efficacy of Rh2		
Key words:	Ginsenoside R efficacy	Ginsenoside Rh2, prostate cancer, pharmacokinetics, biodistribution, efficacy	

### **APPENDIX B:** Second manuscript chapter – Title page information

# A novel oral dosage formulation of the ginsenoside aglycone aPPD exhibits therapeutic activity against a hormone insensitive model of prostate cancer

Alain G. Musende<sup>1,2</sup>, Andy Eberding<sup>1</sup>, Catherine Wood<sup>1</sup>, Hans Adomat<sup>1</sup>, Ladan Fazli<sup>1</sup>, Antonio Hurtado-Coll<sup>1</sup>, William Jia<sup>3,4</sup>, Marcel B. Bally<sup>2,5,6</sup>, and Emma Tomlinson Guns<sup>1,6,7</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>The Prostate Centre at Vancouver General Hospital, 2660 Oak Street, Vancouver, B.C., Canada V6H 3Z6
<sup>2</sup>Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University of British Columbia, 2211
<sup>3</sup>Wesbrook Mall, Vancouver, B.C., Canada V6T 2B5
<sup>3</sup>Department of Surgery, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, 910 W. 10th Ave., Vancouver, B.C., Canada. V5Z 4E3
<sup>4</sup>Brain Research Center, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, 2211 Westbrook Mall, Vancouver, B.C., Canada. V6T 2B5
<sup>5</sup>Department of Advanced Therapeutics, British Columbia Cancer Agency, 675 West 10<sup>th</sup> Avenue, Vancouver, B.C., Canada V5Z 1L3
<sup>6</sup>Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of British Columbia, 2146 East Mall, Vancouver, BC, Canada V6T 1Z3
<sup>7</sup>Department of Urologic Sciences, University of British Columbia, 3300 - 950 W. 10th Ave., Vancouver, B.C., Canada. V5Z 4E3

Reprint request should be addressed to:

Emma S. Tomlinson Guns The Prostate Centre Vancouver General Hospital 2660, Oak Street Vancouver, B.C. V6H 3Z6 E-mail: emma.guns@vch.ca

This research was supported by grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (MBB) and Health Canada (EG).

**Runninghead:** Efficacy of aPPD against the PC-3 prostate model

Key words: Ginsenoside, prostate cancer, pharmacokinetics, biodistribution, efficacy

### **APPENDIX C:** Third manuscript chapter – Title page information

## Rh2 or its aglycone aPPD in Combination Therapy with docetaxel

# Alain G. Musende<sup>1,2</sup>, Andy Eberding<sup>1</sup>, Ladan Fazli<sup>1</sup>, Antonio Hurtado-Coll<sup>1</sup>, William Jia<sup>3,4</sup>, Euan Ramsay<sup>5</sup>, Marcel B. Bally<sup>2,5,6</sup>, and Emma Tomlinson Guns<sup>1,6,7</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>The Prostate Centre at Vancouver General Hospital, 2660 Oak Street, Vancouver, B.C., Canada V6H 3Z6
<sup>2</sup>Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University of British Columbia, 2211
<sup>3</sup>Wesbrook Mall, Vancouver, B.C., Canada V6T 2B5
<sup>3</sup>Department of Surgery, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, 910
W. 10th Ave., Vancouver, B.C., Canada. V5Z 4E3
<sup>4</sup>Brain Research Center, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, 2211 Westbrook Mall, Vancouver, B.C., Canada. V6T 2B5
<sup>5</sup>Department of Advanced Therapeutics, British Columbia Cancer Agency, 675 West 10<sup>th</sup> Avenue, Vancouver, B.C., Canada V5Z 1L3
<sup>6</sup>Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of British Columbia, 3300 - 950 W. 10th Ave., Vancouver, B.C., Canada. V5Z 4E3

Reprint request should be addressed to:

Emma S. Tomlinson Guns The Prostate Centre Vancouver General Hospital 2660, Oak Street Vancouver, B.C. V6H 3Z6 E-mail: <u>emma.guns@vch.ca</u>

This research was supported by grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (MBB) and Health Canada (EG).

Competing interests statement:	The authors declare that they have no competing financial
	interests

**Running title:** Combination of Rh2 and aPPD with docetaxel

**APPENDIX D:** (I) *In vitro* drug combination studies analyzed using the combination index (CI) method in H460 non-small-cell lung cancer cell line. Rh2+Docetaxel and aPPD+Docetaxel were combined according to a constant ratio design. Dotted line at CI = 1 indicates additive effect. CI < 1 and CI > 1 indicate synergism and antagonism respectively. n = 3. (II and III) Drug Reduction Index (DRI) expressed as % reduction in IC<sub>50</sub> for Rh2 and aPPD in combination with docetaxel, compared to their individual IC<sub>50</sub>s. n = 3.

I





III



**APPENDIX E:** In vivo docetaxel dose response study in H460 non-small-cell lung cancer cell bearing nude mice administered intravenously via the lateral tail vein using a Q7D x 4 dose schedule: 10 mg/kg (filled diamond); 15 mg/kg (filled square); 20 mg/kg (filled triangle); and saline (filled circle). The mice were monitored daily for changes in weight and other signs of acute toxicity. (I) Change in tumor volume was followed over time. Average tumor volumes are expressed as a percentage of the average initial tumor volume of each group at day 14, post H460 cell inoculation. The control group mice reached a tumor volume of 1000 mm<sup>3</sup> by day 20, warranting termination of the animals. Volumes were calculated using  $V = (LxWxH)/(\pi/6)$ . Mean value ± SEM is shown with error bars. (II) *In vivo* toxicity as assessed by decrease in mean body weight. Body weight loss of > 20% is considered severe enough to warrant termination of the animals. No animal showed an average weight loss of more than 20% of initial weight at the end of the study. \* signifies statistically significant difference from the control. Mean value ± SEM is shown with error bars. n = 10.

A

B



**APPENDIX F:** In vivo efficacy of Rh2 in H460 non-small-cell lung cancer cell bearing nude mice. Changes in tumor volume were followed over time for animals treated with the oral gavage vehicle control (ethanol:propylene glycol:water (2:7:1), filled square), saline (empty square), Rh2 (120 mg/kg QD x 5, filled triangle), aPPD (70 mg/kg QD x 5, empty triangle) and docetaxel (20mg/kg Q4D x 4, filled circle). Average tumor volumes are expressed as a percentage of the average initial tumor volume of each group at day 14, post H460 cell inoculation. Volumes were calculated using V = (LxWxH)/( $\pi/6$ ). Mean value ± SEM is shown with error bars. n = 10





